

Some pages of this thesis may have been removed for copyright restrictions.

If you have discovered material in Aston Research Explorer which is unlawful e.g. breaches copyright, (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please read our <u>Takedown policy</u> and contact the service immediately (openaccess@aston.ac.uk)

An investigation of primary human cell sources and clinical scaffolds for articular cartilage repair

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Nupur Kohli

Aston University

September 2015

©Nupur Kohli, 2015

Nupur Kohli asserts her moral rights to be identified as the author of this thesis.

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation

from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without

appropriate permission or acknowledgement.

An investigation of primary human cell sources and clinical scaffolds for articular cartilage repair

Nupur Kohli

Doctor of Philosophy, 2015

Thesis Summary

Damage to articular cartilage of the knee can be debilitating because it lacks the capacity to repair itself and can progress to degenerative disorders such as osteoarthritis. The current gold standard for treating cartilage defects is autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI). However, one of the major limitations of ACI is the use of chondrocytes, which dedifferentiate when grown *in vitro* and lose their phenotype. It is not clear whether the dedifferentiated chondrocytes can fully redifferentiate upon *in vivo* transplantation.

Studies have suggested that undifferentiated mesenchymal stem or stromal cells (MSCs) from bone marrow (BM) and adipose tissue (AT) can undergo chondrogenic differentiation. Therefore, the main aim of this thesis was to examine BM and AT as a cell source for chondrogenesis using clinical scaffolds. Initially, freshly isolated cells were compared with culture expanded MSCs from BM and AT in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and Hyalofast[™]. MSCs were shown to grow better in the three scaffolds compared to freshly isolated cells. BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® were shown to have increased deposition of cartilage specific extracellular matrix (ECM) compared to AT MSCs.

Further, this thesis has sought to examine whether CD271 selected MSCs from AT were more chondrogenic than MSCs selected on the basis of plastic adherence (PA). It was shown that CD271⁺MSCs may have superior chondrogenic properties *in vitro* and *in vivo* in terms of ECM deposition. The repair tissue seen after CD271⁺MSC transplantation combined with Alpha Chondro Shield® was also less vascularised than that seen after transplantation with PA MSCs in the same scaffold, suggesting anti-angiogenic activity. Since articular cartilage is an avascular tissue, CD271⁺MSCs may be a better suited cell type compared to the PA MSCs. Hence, this study has increased the current understanding of how different cell-scaffold combinations may best be used to promote articular cartilage repair.

Key words: Bone marrow; adipose tissue; mesenchymal stem cells; CD271.

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my late baby brother, Lakshay Kohli. For your memories will forever live in our hearts and your smile will never be forgotten.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Eustace Johnson for all his help and advice throughout my PhD. I have learnt many valuable lessons under his supervision. I would also like to thank Mr. Martyn Snow, for funding this project and for his advice throughout my PhD. In addition, I would like to express my gratitude to our Japanese collaborators especially, Professor Hisatoshi Baba, late Professor Kenzo Uchida, Dr. Takumi Sakamoto and Dr. Tsuyoshi Miyazaki for all their advice and support to conduct animal experiments.

On a personal note, I would like to thank my dearest family, without whose support I would have never been where I am today. I especially would like to thank my Muma and Papa, for being such wonderful parents to me and for having an immense belief in me. Without your sincere love and support, I would have not come this far. I will forever be thankful to you.

I would like to thank my friends, Jono, Htoo, Ibtesam, Navin, Kerry, Nai, Connie, Sam and Wilson for all the laughs we have had together in the office. I especially would like to thank my best friend Justé, for being an excellent flat mate and friend and for always being such a good listener.

Last, but not the least, I would like to thank my beloved fiancé, Merlin, for being patient with me throughout the writing period and for being my source of inspiration. Thank you for your unwavering support and your belief in me that I can achieve so much.

Thank you all.

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	15 -
1.1 Definition, function and types of joints	16 -
1.2 Structure and function of the synovial knee joint	18 -
1.3 Cartilage	21 -
 1.3.1 Articular cartilage development 1.3.2 Articular cartilage composition and structure Composition of the articular cartilage	- 21 - - 25 - - 25 - - 25 - - 31 -
1.4 Articular cartilage defects	34 -
1.5 Cartilage repair strategies	37 -
1.5.1 Arthroscopic procedures Debridement and lavage Microfracture Autografts	39 - 39 - 39 - 39 - 40 -
1.6.1 Colls for cartilage tissue angineering	- 41 -
Chondrocytes- Autologous chondrocyte implantation Mesenchymal stem cells Freshly isolated versus culture expanded cells	
1.6.2 Signals for chondrogenesis	58 -
1.6.3 Scaffolds for cartilage repair Natural scaffolds Synthetic scaffolds Clinically available scaffolds used for cartilage repair	63 - 64 - 65 - 67
1.7 Current perspective	70 -
1.8 Aims and objectives	71 -
Chapter 2: Materials and methods	72 -
2.1 Routine cell culture.2.1.1 Isolation and culture of primary bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells (BM MSCs)	73 - stem 73 -
2.1.2 Isolation and culture of primary adipose-tissue derived mesenchymal cells (AT MSCs)	l stem 74 - 75
2.1.4 Mycoplasma testing of primary cells	73 -
 2.2 Phenotypic characterisation of culture expanded mesenchymal stem cells 2.2.1 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry 2.2.2 Tri-lineage differentiation of primary stromal cells 2.2.3 Assessment of MSC differentiation potential 	79 - 79 - 79 - 81 -
2.3 <i>In vitro</i> experimental procedures	83 -

2.3.1 Cell seeding into 3-D scaffolds	83 -
2.3.2. Cell viability assay	83 -
2.3.3 Cell viability scoring	84 -
2.3.4 Confocal microscopy	84 -
2.3.5 Chondrogenesis of MSC-seeded scaffolds	85 -
2.3.6 Histological processing, paraffin embedding and sectioning of cell	-seeded
scaffolds	86 -
2.3.7 Haematoxylin and eosin staining of paraffin embedded sections of	cell-
seeded scaffolds	86 -
2.3.8 Toluidine blue staining of paraffin embedded sections of cell-seed	ed
scaffolds	87 -
2.3.9 Collagen type II immunohistochemistry	87 -
2.3.10 Dimethylmethyline blue (DMMB) assay for proteoglycans	88 -
2.3.11. Selective isolation of MSCs using CD271 as a marker	88 -
2.3.12 Scanning electron microscopy	91 -
2.4 In vivo experimental procedures	92 -
2.4.1 Animal study design	92 -
2.4.2 Femoral osteochondral defect model	92 -
2.4.3 Preparation of scaffolds for cell seeding	95 -
2.4.4 Cell seeding and transplantation	95 -
2.4.5 Animal sacrifice and perfusion	97 -
2.4.6 Macroscopic scoring	97 -
2.4.7 Histology	101 -
2.4.8 Histological scoring	101 -
2.4.9 Immunohistochemistry for human mitochondrial antigen staining.	104 -
2.5 Statistical analysis	105 -

Chapter 3: An in vitro investigation of the incorporation, growth and chondrogenesis of freshly isolated versus culture expanded cells from human bone marrow and adipose tissue in clinically used scaffolds- 106 -

3.1 Background and aims 107 -
3.2. Phenotypic characterisation of BM MSCs 109 -
3.3 The incorporation and viability of culture expanded BM MSCs versus freshly isolated BM
MNCs in the three clinically relevant scaffolds 113 -
3.4 Phenotypic characterisation of AT MSCs 118 -
3.5 A comparison of the incorporation and viability of culture expanded AT MSCs versus
freshly isolated AT SVF cells in the three clinically relevant scaffolds 122 -
3.6 Chondrogenesis of culture expanded MSCs in the three clinically relevant scaffolds 127 -
3.6.1 BM MSCs 127 -
3.6.2 AT MSCs 136 -
3.7 Discussion 144 -

Chapter 4: An in vitro investigation of the chondrogenic differentiation potential	
of adipose tissue derived CD271 selected MSCs versus standard plastic adherent	
MSCs in clinically used scaffolds 1	52 -
4.1 Background and aims1	53 -

4.2 The morphology and growth of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs under chondrogenic (+CM)
and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 155 -
4.3 The viability of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro
Shield® under +CM and -CM conditions 160 -
4.4 Histology of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®
under +CM and -CM conditions 163 -
4.5 Glycosaminoglycan (GAG) production by PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded within
Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM and -CM conditions 169 -
4.6 Discussion 171 -

Chapter 5: An in vivo investigation of the chondrogenic differentiation potential of adipose tissue derived CD271 selected MSCs versus standard plastic adherent MSCs in clinically used scaffolds - 173 -

5.1 Background and aims - 174 -
5.2 Incorporation of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro
Shield® prior to transplantation - 175 -
5.3 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage renair: gross
morphology at 3 weeks nost-transplantation - 177 -
5.4 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: overall
histological outcomes at 3 weeks post-transplantation - 182 -
5 4 1 H&E staining - 182 -
5.4.2 Toluidine blue staining
5.4.3 Collagen type II immunostaining
5 4 4 Overall histological scores - 183 -
5.5 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: detailed
histological outcomes at 3 weeks post-transplantation
5.5.1 Cell morphology 188 -
5.5.2 Matrix staining 188 -
5.5.3 Surface regularity 189 -
5.5.4 Thickness 189 -
5.5.5 Integration of the repair tissue with the host adjacent cartilage 189 -
5.5.6 Vascularisation within the defect 190 -
5.5.7 Foreign body giant cells 190 -
5.6 Human mitochondrial staining at 3 weeks post-transplantation 196 -
5.7 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: gross
morphology at 6 weeks post-transplantation 199 -
5.8 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: overall
histological outcomes at 6 weeks post-transplantation 204 -
5.8.1 H&E staining 204 -
5.8.2 Toluidine blue staining 204 -
5.8.3 Collagen type II immunostaining 205 -
5.8.4 Histological scoring of the repair tissue 205 -
5.9 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: detailed
histological outcomes at 6 weeks post-transplantation 210 -
5.9.1 Cell morphology 210 -
5.9.2 Matrix staining 210 -
5.9.3 Surface regularity 210 -

5.9.4 Thickness	211 -
5.9.5 Integration of the repair tissue with the host adjacent cartilage	211 -
5.9.6 Vascularisation within the defect	211 -
5.9.7 Foreign body giant cell reaction	212 -
5.10 Human mitochondrial staining	215 -
5.11 Discussion	218 -

Chapter 6: Discussion	225 -
6.1 To expand or not to expand autologous cell sources for cartilage repair?	227 -
6.2 To use BM or AT as a cell source?	228 -
6.3 To use Chondro-Gide® versus Alpha Chondro Shield® versus Hyalofast [™] as a	scaffold
for chondrogenesis? - from an in vitro perspective	229 -
6.4 To optimise AT as a cell source by selectively isolating a prospective more homo	geneous
cell population?	231 -
6.5 To use Chondro-Gide® versus Alpha Chondro Shield® as a scaffold for cartilage	e repair? –
from an <i>in vivo</i> perspective	234 -
6.7 Limitations of the study	236 -
6.8 Summary	238 -
6.9 Concluding remarks	240 -

References	 241	-
Appendix I	 268	5 -

List of abbreviations

2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
ACAN	Aggrecan
ACI	Autologous chondrocyte implantation
ACI-C	Autologous chondrocyte implantation – collagen membrane
ACI-P	Autologous chondrocyte implantation-periosteal flaps
ADAS	Adipose derived adult stem cells
ADAMSTS5	Disintegrin, metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs-5
AdMSC	Adipose mesenchymal stem cells
ADSC	Adipose derived stromal cells
AM	Acetomethyl
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASCs	Adipose-derived stem cells
ASCs	Adipose-derived stem/stromal cells
AT	Adipose tissue
AT MSCs	Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem or stromal cells
AT SVF	Adipose tissue stromal vascular fraction
BM MNCs	Bone marrow mono-nucleated cells
BM MSCs	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem or stromal cells
BM	Bone marrow
BMAC	Bone marrow aspirate concentrate
BMP	Bone mornhogenetic protein
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAM	Cell adhesion molecule
CCL 2	Chamoking liggerd 2
CELLE	Colony forming unit fibroblast
CM	Chondrogenie medie
	Contagen
	Cartilage offgomeric matrix protein
DAD	Drammobenziume
DEA	Dexamethasone
DMEM	Duibecco's modified eagle's medium
DMMB	Dimethyl methylene blue
DMSO	Dimetnyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonuclei acid
ECM	Extra cellular matric
EDTA	Ethylendiamine tetra-acetic acid
EMA	European Medical Association
FBGC	Foreign body giant cell
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
Gdf5	Growth and differentiation factor 5
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin
HA	Hyaluronic acid
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HMA	Human mitochondrial antigen
HMDS	Hexamethyldisilizane
ICRS	International cartilage repair society
IFATs	International Fat Applied Technology Society

IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IHH	Indian hedgehog
IL	Interleukin
IPA	Isopropyl alcohol
ISCT	International Society for Cellular Therapy
ITS	Insulin transferrin selenium
LNGFR	Low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor
LREC	Local research ethical committee
MACI	Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation
MACS	Magnetic associated cell sorting
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells
Mtan1	Matrilin-1
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor
OA	Osteoarthritis
P/S	Penicillin/streptomycin
P75NTR	Neurotrophin receptor
PA MSCs	Plastic adherent mesenchymal stem or stromal cells
PCL	Polycaprolactone
PCM	Peri-cellular matrix
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDLG	Poly-DL-lactide-co-glycolide
PGA	Polyglycolic acid
PI	Propidium iodide
PLA	Processed lipoaspirate
PLGA	Poly-DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid
PLLA	Poly-L-lactic acid
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ST MSCs	Synovial tissue-derived mesenchymal stem or stromal cells
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Sox-9	Sex determining region-Y-box 9
SVF	Stromal vascular fraction
TGF-α	Transforming growth factor- alpha
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor- beta
Tgfbr2	Transforming growth factor- beta type II receptor
T _H 1	T helper cells 1
T _H 2	T helper cells 2
TIMP-1	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TSG-6	Tumor necrosis factor-inducible gene 6
UV	Ultraviolet

List of tables

Table 1.1 Scaffolds used for clinical applications - 69 -
Table 2.1 Parameters utilized for macroscopic scoring of the repair tissue at 3 weeks and 6 weeks post-transplantation - 99 -
Table 2.2 Modified Wakitani scoring system for histological assessment of repair tissue 103 -
Table 3.1 Immunoreactivity of BM MSCs for each CD marker 112 -
Table 3.2 Immunoreactivity of AT MSCs for each CD marker. - 121 -
Table 5.1 Macroscopic scores for the individual parameters of cartilage repair at 3 weeks post-transplantation - 181 -
Table 5.2 Histological scores of the individual parameters at 3 weeks post-transplantation 191 -
Table 5.3 Macroscopic scores for the individual parameters of cartilage repair at 6 weeks post-transplantation - 203 -
Table 5.4 Histological scores of the individual parameters at 6 weeks post-transplantation 213 -

List of figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1 Structural classification of joints	17 -
Figure 1.2 Sagittal section of synovial knee joint	20 -
Figure 1.3 Development of cartilage	24 -
Figure 1.4 Extracellular matrix molecules and zonal organisation of articular cartilage	33 -
Figure 1.5 A schematic representatio n of articular cartilage defects	35 -
Figure 1.6 Cartilage defect treatment algorithm.	38 -
Figure 1.7 The three key factors required for cartilage tissue engineering: cells, scaffolds a	nd
signals	42 -
Figure 1.8 Autologous chondrocyte implantation	44 -
Figure 1.9 A schematic representation of the sequence of events during MSC chondrogenesis.	62 -

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1 A schematic representation of the isolation of CD271 ⁺ MSCs and PA MSCs	- 90 -
Figure 2.2 A schematic representation of the in vivo study design	- 94 -
Figure 2.3 A schematic representation of MSCs transplantation for full-thickness osteochondra	1
defects	- 96 -
Figure 2.4 Representative examples for macroscopic scoring of the defects	100 -

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1 Tri-lineage differentiation potential of BM MSCs 110 -
Figure 3.2 Flow cytometry for CD-cell surface antigen characterisation of BM MSCs 111 -
Figure 3.3 Growth and viability of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast TM over 28 days in culture 114 -
Figure 3.4 The number of viable BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast™ over 28 days in culture 115 -
Figure 3.5 Growth and viability of BM MNCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast™ over 28 days in culture 116 -
Figure 3.6 The number of viable BM MNCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast TM over 28 days in culture 117 -
Figure 3.7 Tri-lineage differentiation potential of AT MSCs 119 -
Figure 3.8 Flow cytometry for CD-cell surface antigen characterisation of AT MSCs 120 -
Figure 3.9 The viability of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast TM over 28 days in culture 123 -
Figure 3.10 The number of viable AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast TM over 28 days in culture 124 -
Figure 3.11 The viability of AT SVF cells in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
Hyalofast TM over 28 days in culture 125 -
Figure 3.12 The number of viable AT SVF cells in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield®
and Hyalofast [™] over 28 days in culture 126 -
Figure 3.13 The viability of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and
$Hyalofast^{{\tt TM}}\ under\ chondrogenic\ (+CM)\ and\ non-chondrogenic\ (-CM)\ conditions\ 128\ -$

Figure 3.14 The incorporation and distribution of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic conditions (-CM). - 131 -Figure 3.15 GAG deposition by BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions...... - 132 -Figure 3.16 GAG secretion by BM MSCs within Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and (-CM) conditions...... - 133 -Figure 3.17 Collagen type II immunolocalisation in BM MSCs seeded Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield[®] under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic conditions (-CM). - 135 -Figure 3.18 The viability of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions...... - 138 -Figure 3.19 The incorporation and distribution of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic conditions (-CM). - 139 -Figure 3.20 GAG deposition by AT MSC in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions...... - 140 -Figure 3.21 GAG secretion by AT MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and Hyalofast[™] under chondrogenic (+CM) and (-CM) conditions...... - 141 -Figure 3.22Collagen type II immunolocalisation in AT MSCs seeded in Chondro-Gide®, and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. - 143 -

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1 The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (- CM) conditions 156 -
Figure 4.2 The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 157 -
Figure 4.3 The morphology of PAMSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 158 -
Figure 4.4 The morphology of PAMSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 159 -
Figure 4.5 The viability of PAMSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic
(+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 161 -
Figure 4.6 The viability of PAMSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 162 -
Figure 4.7 The incorporation and distribution of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-
Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 164 -
Figure 4.8 The incorporation and distribution of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Alpha Chondro
Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic(-CM) conditions 165 -
Figure 4.9 GAG deposition by PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions 166 -
Figure 4.10 GAG deposition by PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under
chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) con ditions 167 -
Figure 4.11 GAG secretion by PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide® and
Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions- 168 -
Figure 4.12 GAG deposition and collagen type II immunolocalisation in PA MSCs and
CD271 ⁺ MSCs pellets under chondrogenic (+CM) conditions 170 -

Chapter 5

Figure 5.1 The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271 ⁺ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha
Chondro Shield® after 30 minutes of incubation prior to transplantation 176 -
Figure 5.2 Gross morphology of the defects at 3 weeks post-transplantation 179 -
Figure 5.3 Macroscopic scores for cartilage repair at 3 weeks post-transplantation 180 -
Figure 5.4 Histology of rat knee tissue sections at 3 weeks post-transplantation
Figure 5.5 GAG deposition in the defects 185 -
Figure 5.6 Collagen type II immunolocalisation in the defects at 3 weeks post-transplantation 186 -
Figure 5.7 Histological scoring at 3 weeks post transplantation 187 -
Figure 5.8 Representative he repair tissue at 3 week post-transplantation
Figure 5.9 Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the difference in the
defect fill or thickness of the repair tissue 193 -
Figure 5.10 Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the difference in the
defect fill or thickness of the repair tissue 194 -
Figure 5.11 Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the differences in
FBGC reaction in the repair tissue 195 -
Figure 5.12 Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of
the defects at 3 week post-transplantation with Chondro-Gide® 197 -
Figure 5.13 Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of
the defects at 3 week post-transplantation with Alpha Chondro Shield® 198 -
Figure 5.14 Gross morphology of the defects at 6 weeks post transplantation 201 -
Figure 5.15 Macroscopic scores for cartilage repair at 6 weeks post-t ransplantation 202 -
Figure 5.16 Histology of rat knee tissue sections at 6 weeks post transplantation 206 -
Figure 5.17 GAG deposition in the defects at 6 weeks post-transplantation 207 -
Figure 5.18 Collagen type II immunolocalisation in the defects at 6 weeks post-transplantation - 208 -
Figure 5.19 Histological scoring of the repair tissue at 6 week post-transplantation 209 -
Figure 5.20 Representative images to show the restoration of subchondral bone within the repair
tissues of the defects at 6 week post transplantation 214 -
Figure 5.21 Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of
the defects at 6 week post-transplantation with Chondro-Gide® 216 -
Figure 5.22 Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of
the defects at 6 week post-transplantation with Alpha Chondro Shield® 217 -

Chapter 6

Figure 6.1 A Summary of the major findings 23	39	-
---	----	---

<u>Chapter 1:</u> Introduction

1.1 Definition, function and types of joints

A joint is the location where two bones meet. Joints are the essential organs of the locomotion system in that they provide mechanical support and stability to body segments. Structurally, the joints are classified into three different types based on the materials binding the bones together and the presence or absence of a cavity. These are: fibrous, cartilaginous and synovial joints (Figure 1.1). Functionally, the joints are classified into synarthroses, amphiarthroses and diarthroses joints, based on the extent of movement. Fibrous joints are held together by collagen fibres and are mostly synarthrotic, i.e. where the bones have very limited or no movement (the term "synarthroses" comes from Greek for fixed or immovable joints). An example of synarthroses or the fibrous joints are the junctions of bones in between the skull. Cartilaginous joints are the joints in which bones are connected by cartilage. Cartilaginous joints are amphiarthrotic as they allow greater movement between the bony surfaces than fibrous joints, e.g. those found between the two pubic bones or joints between two vertebral bodies of the spine. Both fibrous and cartilaginous joints lack a joint cavity. The synovial joints are diarthrodial joints, simply meaning "freely movable joints" and are very different from fibrous and cartilaginous joints in that they permit extensive motion of the opposing bones. Along with the knee, other examples of diarthrodial joints are those of the shoulder, hip, elbow and the ankle. These are the only joints that contain a fluid filled joint cavity (Mow and Huiskes 2004). There are many different types of synovial joints depending on the shape of the articulating surfaces and the range of motion; these are ball-socket joints, condyloid joints, hinge joints, saddle joints, gliding joints and pivot joints (Ateshian and Eckstein 2004). In the following sections of this thesis, the knee synovial hinge joint will be described in more details.



Figure 1.1. Structural classification of joints. (a) A fibrous joint between the junction of bones in the skull, (b) a cartilaginous joint between two vertebral bodies of the spine, (c) a synovial joint of the knee. Image derived from cnx.org¹

1.2 Structure and function of the synovial knee joint

The knee is one of the largest joints in the human body formed between three bones, the thigh bone or femur, the shin bone or tibia and the patella. Another bone called the fibula sits just behind the tibia and only contacts this bone. The distal end of the femur looks like two convex processes known as condyles which meet the concave processes on the proximal end of the tibia. This joint is also called the tibiofemoral joint as it's the joint formed between the tibia and the femur. Anterior to the tibiofemoral joint is the patella where its smooth posterior surface faces the femur and forms the patellofemoral joint. The ends of the bones that come together to form the synovial joint are covered by a layer of connective tissue called articular or hyaline cartilage (Khan et al., 2007). The term hyaline, meaning "glass-like" represents the smooth appearance of the articular cartilage that helps in reducing friction during joint movement. In between the femur and tibia is a thick pad of fibrocartilage called the meniscus that acts as a shock absorber and helps to provide stability during joint movement. Like with all synovial joints, the knee joint is also encapsulated within a joint capsule consisting of a fibrous outer layer and a thin layer of synovial membrane that lines the joint capsule. The synovial membrane produces synovial fluid that fills the space in the joint cavity and acts as a lubricant to reduce friction. The synovial fluid, articular cartilage and the supporting bones form the diarthrodial joints that function together to provide smooth gliding almost friction free movements (Archer et al., 2003). In addition, the knee joint is encapsulated by collateral and cruciate ligaments. Collateral ligaments are extracapsular and restrict the sideways motion of the knee, whereas cruciate ligaments are intracapsular as they connect the femur and the tibia at the centre within the joint capsule and limit rotation and forward and backward motion of the tibia. Along with the collateral and cruciate ligaments, several other important structures provide stability to the knee and help cushion and protect the joint during movement. These include small pockets of synovial fluid, known as bursae, that surround the joint to reduce friction from the movement of tendons present in the joint, as well as the infrapatellar fat pads that act as shock absorbers and help cushioning the knee from external impact (Figure 1.2) (Mow *et al.*, 2004).

The knee is a hinge joint and therefore it functions to provide the flexion and extension of the lower leg relative to the thigh. The anatomy of the bones and ligaments and the alignment of different structures of the knee joint limit the knee's range of motion; however, the joint does allow for approximately 120 degrees of flexion. The knee hinge joint also allows for limited medial and lateral rotation when the knee is flexed, which distinguishes knee hinge joints from other hinge joints found in the body. The movements at the knee joint are vital for many day-to-day activities like walking, running, sitting and standing. The joint also ensures, during these movements, that the loads and bending moments acting along the long bones remain within acceptable physiological limits. Although these joints undergo an enormous range of loading conditions, the cartilage layer undergoes little wear and tear under normal situations. The knee joint functions effectively under the very high loads and for up to seven or eight decades. This movement and loading must demand effective lubrication to minimize friction and breakdown of articular cartilage. Wear of articular cartilage of the knee by biochemical or biomechanical means can lead to arthritis. Therefore, articular cartilage is one of the essential components in the effective functioning of human knee joint. (Mow et al., 2004).



Figure 1.2. Sagittal section of synovial knee joint. Anatomical structures of the synovial hinge joint formed between the two long bones of the knee and the accessory structures including bursa, fat pad and the ligaments. Image taken from $cnx.org^2$

1.3 Cartilage

Cartilage is a highly specialized connective tissue that is composed of a single cell type called a chondrocyte which occupies only 5% of the tissue volume (Freyria & Mallein-Gerin 2012). The sparsely populated chondrocytes are embedded within a dense hydrated extracellular matrix (ECM). Depending on the biochemical composition and the molecular integrity of the ECM, there are three major type of cartilaginous tissues i.e., hyaline cartilage, elastic cartilage and fibrocartilage. The surface of the synovial joints is covered with a special type of hyaline cartilage called the articular cartilage (Mow *et al.*, 1992; Poole *et al.*, 2001; Becerra *et al.*, 2010). Apart from the synovial joints, hyaline cartilage is also found in the larynx, the trachea, the nasal septum and the sternal end of the rib cage. The cartilage found in the ears, epiglottis and the eustachian tube is more flexible due the presence of elastic fibres and hence referred to as elastic cartilage. It generally appears pale white in colour and opaque in texture. Fibrocartilage on the other hand, contains layers of thick collagen fibres in its ECM and therefore, appears to be fibrous and relatively rough. They are found in two major sites in the human body, which are the annulus fibrosus in the intervertebral discs of the spine and the meniscus of the knee (Mow *et al.*, 2004).

1.3.1 Articular cartilage development

The developmental stages of cartilage and other synovial joint structures are tightly synchronized (Archer *et al.*, 2003; Khan *et al.*, 2007). The cartilaginous skeleton arises from mesenchyme and is first recognised at about five weeks of gestational age (Glenister 1976). In the primitive mesenchyme, cells appear stellate, however during cartilage and joint development they condense and become rounded and their cytoplasm to nuclear ratio decreases. This condensation process is controlled by various factors including cell-adhesion molecules (CAMs) e.g., cadherins and N-CAMs and membrane receptors, such as CD44 (Archer *et al.*, 2003). This cell-condensation process results in the formation of pre-cartilage blastemata in which the blastema cells start secreting matrix molecules. As long as this

intercellular space/ matrix remains sufficiently pliable, the blastema continues to expand by the interstitial growth of cellular divisions. The cells at the periphery condense to form a bilaminar perichondrium whose outer layer forms a fibrous tissue while the inner layer contains the chondroblasts that are responsible for the appositional growth of the developing cartilage anlage (Glenister 1976; Koyama et al., 2008). The chondroblasts undergo further divisions and form chondrocytes that secrete ECM molecules intrinsic to the cartilage type and express cartilage specific genes. Then, in a remodelling phase, chondrocytes undergo hypertrophy and express angiogenic factors that encourage vascularisation. Here, the midshaft or the diaphysis of the long bones develops in a process called endochondral ossification at the primary ossification centre. The cartilaginous epiphysis appears at the ends of diaphysis just before or after birth. Postnatally, chondrocytes in the epiphysis undergo hypertrophy and the matrix next to the hypertrophic chondrocytes gets invaded by vessels of the cartilage canals and forms the secondary ossification centre. With the further growth of the secondary ossification centre, the surrounding epiphyseal cartilage gets thinner (Blumer et al., 2008; Caldwell & Wang 2015). Traditionally, it was believed that articular cartilage represents a remnant of epiphyseal cartilage that does not undergo endochondral ossification (Archer et al., 1994). However, that idea was constantly challenged and studies now suggest that a special cell population called interzone cells may be responsible for the formation of different joint structures (Archer et al., 2003; De Bari et al., 2010). In the developing cartilage anlagen of the long bones, at the prospective joint site, the cells lose their rounded shapes and become elongated and express growth and differentiation factor 5 or Gdf5. This region of elongated cells sandwiched by cartilage anlagen is called interzone which separates into two outer layers and an inner intermediate layer (Archer et al., 2003; Khan et al., 2007; Iwamoto et al., 2013). The cells flanking the interzone dorsally and ventrally activate the expression of TGF β type II receptor (T_{gfbr2}), while the anlagen-bound chondrocytes in the intermediate layer start expressing Matrillin-1 (Matn1) (Hyde et al., 2007; Decker et al., 2014). The chondrocytes in the flanking outer interzone region lose collagen type II and up-regulate the expression of hypertrophyic markers such as collagen type X and initiate the expression of matrix

degradative enzymes. Subsequently, this region turns into bone marrow cavity with the supply of blood vessels and bone forming osteoblasts (Decker *et al.*, 2014). Cells from the intermediate layer of the interzone appear later in the cartilage epiphysis. The *Gdf5* positive, *Matn1* positive cells give rise to non-articular chondrocytes e.g., growth plate chondrocytes while the *Gdf5* positive, *Matn1* negative cells adjacent to the cartilage anlagen differentiate into articular chondrocytes (Hyde *et al.*, 2007; Decker *et al.*, 2014). A schematic representation of this process is provided in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. Development of cartilage. A schematic representation of the stages of development of cartilage. Following mesenchymal condensation, an interzone is formed, which consists of *Gdf5* positive cells. The interzone then divides into three layers, two outer layers and an inner intermediate layer during early stages of embryogenesis. Cells within the intermediate layer that are *Gdf5,Matn1* negative form articular cartilage and cells that are *Gdf5,Matn1* positive form other joint structures such as synovial lining and ligaments. Cells in the outer layer undergo hypertrophy and form bone. Abbreviations: *Gdf5,* growth and differentiation factor 5; *Matn1*, Matrilin-1. Image adpated from De Bari *et al.*, 2010 and Caldwell *et al.*, 2015.

1.3.2 Articular cartilage composition and structure

The articular cartilage lines the end of the long bones of the knee. It is a tissue with low friction and high capacity to bear load and therefore, is essential to permitting smooth movement of one bone against another (Athanasiou *et al.*, 2010). It is composed of chondrocytes that are embedded within an extracellular matrix which is aneural, avascular and alymphatic in nature. Chondrocytes receive their nutrition by diffusion through the matrix and are highly specialised in synthesizing and maintaining the ECM infrastructure (Buckwalter & Mankin 1997; Becerra *et al.*, 2010).

Composition of the articular cartilage

The articular cartilage is composed of highly specialised macromolecules and proteins that allow the tissue to functionally fulfil the mechanical demands of the articulating joints. The composition of cartilage changes as the tissue develops; however, a mature cartilage is primarily composed of a fluid phase of water and electrolytes and a solid phase of collagens, proteoglycans, non-collagenous proteins and the chondrocytes. Water constitutes about 68-85% of the wet weight of the cartilage. Water allows for a low friction gliding surface and acts as a medium for lubrication in addition to permitting load-dependent deformation. Collagens account for 10-20% of the wet weight of the tissue and proteoglycans account for 5-20% of the wet weight of cartilage (Buckwalter & Mankin 1997; Pearle *et al.*, 2005; Becerra *et al.*, 2010). The unique mechanical properties of the cartilage are attributed to the interactions of collagen and proteoglycans within a charged fluid environment (Athanasiou *et al.*, 2010). This section of the thesis will describe the biochemical composition of the articular cartilage and the importance that the structural integrity of this tissue has in its function as a mechanical surface.

Water

Approximately 30% of the water is found in the intrafibrillar space of collagen and its amounts are modulated by the diameters of the collagen fibres and the swelling pressure generated by the surrounding proteoglycans. A small percentage resides in the intracellular space and remainder is contained in the molecular pore space of the ECM and acts as the primary carrier for transporting nutrients and waste with the tissue. Inorganic ions including sodium, calcium, potassium and chloride are present in the extracellular tissue fluid (Linn and Sokoloff 1965; O'Hara *et al.*, 1990; Maroudas *et al.*, 1991). Water permeating the tissue also plays an important mechanical role. Through interactions with the proteoglycans present, water provides articular cartilage with tremendous compressive resistance. The interstitial fluid can be extruded from the tissue by applying a pressure gradient across the tissue or by the constant compressive loads the articular cartilage is exposed to. As the fluid flows through the small pores of the ECM, it causes high frictional resistance and it is this frictional resistance coupled with the pressurization of water within the ECM that gives the articular cartilage the ability to withstand high compressive loads (Williams *et al.*, 2007).

Collagens

Collagen is the most abundant protein in humans. Its critical role is to maintain structural integrity and to provide mechanical stability to various tissues. More than 20 different collagens have been identified so far consisting of at least 38 genetically distinct polypeptide chains (Thomas *et al.*, 1994; Ricard-Blum 2011). Structurally, collagens form right-handed triple helices comprising of three polypeptide α chains (Ramachandran and Kartha 1954). The nomenclature for the collagens includes Roman numerals to indicate the genetic type with the α -chain composition. The three α chains can be homotrimers (identical) or heterotrimers (non-identical). An example of a homotrimeric chain is seen in collagen type II which makes 90-95% of the collagens found in articular cartilage, in addition to the small amounts of heterotrimeric chains of collagen type V, VI, IX and XI (Ricard-Blum 2011). The α chains of collagens contain amino acid repeat motifs of Glycine-X-Y where X is often proline and Y is

often hydroxyproline. The number of repeats varies among different collagen types and this has been the reason that they have been categorized into different families. The majority of collagens in articular cartilage belong to the class of fibril-forming collagens, which include type II, type V and type XI collagen. Fibrillar collagens contain one major triple-helical domain, whereas collagen type IX, which belongs to a group called FACIT (Fibril-Associated Collagens with Interrupted Triple helices), contains several triple helical domains (Mow and Huiskes 2004). The collagen fibrils of one particular collagen subtype are frequently crosslinked with other collagens in cartilage. For e.g., collagen type II is the main collagen, however, it is frequently cross-linked to collagen IX and XI. Collagen type XI is found mostly within the fibrils and covalently cross-linked to collagen type II. Collagen type IX also extends into the matrix from the surface of type II fibrils and may interact with type IX molecules. These interactions may help in stabilising the collagen fibril meshwork (Eyre 2002). In articular cartilage, the primary function of collagens is to provide tensile strength and stiffness to the tissue. Collagen networks in the ECM of cartilage also functions to entrap large proteoglycans and consequently restrain their swelling pressure and provide compression stiffness (Mow and Huiskes 2004).

Proteoglycans

Proteoglycans represent the second largest group of macromolecules in the ECM of articular cartilage. They are produced by chondrocytes and secreted into the ECM. Proteoglycans are large complex molecules composed of a core protein with one or more covalently attached glycosaminoglycan side chains (GAGs). The GAG chains are made up of negatively charged sulphate and carboxyl groups and extend out from the protein core while they remain separated from each other due to charge repulsion. The density of the fixed negatively charged sulphate and carboxyl groups is called the fixed charge density. These negatively charged groups attract cations and consequently result in a build of an osmotic gradient that draws water into the matrix and supports tissue hydration (Roughley 2006). The swelling pressure resulting from osmotic gradient created by the fixed charged density is called the Donnan osmotic pressure (Donnan 1924).

One of the major proteoglycans in articular cartilage is the large aggregating proteoglycan, aggrecan (Knudson & Knudson 2001). It constitutes as much as 80% to 90% of the proteoglycans present in articular cartilage. In addition to aggrecan, versican is another proteoglycan that belongs to the large aggregating proteoglycan family because of their ability to form large aggregates. Aggrecan is composed of a core protein to which attaches sulphated GAG chains of chondroitin sulphate and keratan sulphate. As many as 50 keratan sulphates and 100 chondroitin sulphates can attach to the core protein forming 90% of the molecular mass of the aggrecan molecule (Aspberg 2012). In articular cartilage, numerous aggrecan monomers non-covalently attach to hyaluronan in the presence of a link protein which stabilise this bond. Hyaluronan, also known as hyaluronic acid (HA) is a non-sulphated GAG and functions to interact with aggrecan and link protein to form macromolecular aggregates that are entrapped within the collagen networks (Hardingham 1981). HA also functions to link the ECM and chondrocytes through interaction with the HA cell surface receptor CD44, forming a direct link between the cells and their surrounding ECM. These aggregating proteoglycans reside in the interfibrillar space of the cartilage ECM (Heinegård 2009).

Non-Collagenous matrix proteins

Articular cartilage contains many non-collagenous proteins such as small leucine-rich proteoglycans (SLRPs), matrilins and cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP), which are important for organizing and maintaining macromolecular structure of the ECM (Heinegård 2009). The SLRPs are an important set of molecules in the ECM and belong to the large family of leucine-rich proteins with multiple adjacent domains carrying a leucine-rich motif (Schaefer & Jozzo 2008). They can be classified into different sub-families based on their gene structure, the number of leucine-rich repeats and the type of GAG chain substituent. One class of SLRPs is represented by decorin and biglycan, both of which contain an 8 exon gene structure and dermatan sulphate chains. Another class of SLRPs represented by fibromodulin and lumican have a 3 exon gene structure and keratan sulphate side chains. The functions of SLRPs depend on their core protein and GAG chain (Roughley 2006). Their core protein allows them to interact with collagens during fibril formation and also help in cross-linking with other ECM molecules such as matrilins. Matrilins are multimeric proteins with three or four subunits, which have high affinity interactions with biglycan and decorin that in turn bind to collagen type VI beaded filament. Matrilin is interspersed between collagen type VI via SLRPs and collagen type II thereby interconnecting various entities of the ECM (Wagener et al., 2005). Matrilin also binds to triple helical collagen domains of collagen type IX and another non-collagenous matrix protein called COMP. COMP is one of the five family members of the thrombospondin glycoproteins (Adams & Lawler 2004). COMP has five identical subunits that have the capacity to bind to five collagen molecules at the same time. This helps in bringing collagen molecules in close proximity to facilitate fibril formation. It also binds to collagen type IX and matrilin and in the adult cartilage primarily plays a role in stabilising the collagen network (Heinegård 2009).

Chondrocytes

Chondrocytes are the resident cells of the articular cartilage and play a specialized role in the development and maintenance of the ECM. Their shape, number and size vary and depend on the anatomical regions of the articular cartilage. Chondrocyte physiology and its role in ECM turnover depend on a number of environmental factors such as matrix composition, growth factors and cytokines, and biophysical factors generated by the mechanical loading of the joint (reviewed by Freyria & Mallein-Gerin 2012). These specialised cells have limited potential for replication, a contributing factor for their limited intrinsic healing capacity and their survival depends on optimum chemical and mechanical environment (Wilusz et al., 2014). Because cartilage is avascular, the immediate pericellular microenvironment of the chondrocytes plays an important role in regulating cell activity. Within the ECM, the chondrocytes are surrounded either as single cells or in groups by a narrow matrix called the pericellular matrix (PCM) that together with the enclosed cell is referred to as a chondron. A detailed understanding of the PCM function is currently unclear but it has been reported that PCM plays a role as a transducer of both biomechanical and biochemical signals for the chondrocytes (Guilak et al., 2006). The chondrocyte primary cilium (single cytoplasmic organelle found in virtually all eukaryotic cells) extends into the PCM of the chondron and interacts with matrix molecules such as fibrillar collagen type II and non-fibrillar collagen type VI (McGlashan et al., 2008). The PCM contains many of the same matrix molecular components as the ECM, however there is a distinct variation in the structure and composition of the PCM. A typical feature of the PCM is the lack of fibrillar collagens and the abundance of collagen type VI expression around the chondrocyte which co-localises with a large heparan sulphate proteoglycan called perlecan. Collagen type VI and perlecan have important functional roles in the maintenance of biochemical and biomechanical characteristics of the PCM. PCM is also rich other matrix components including fibronectin, aggrecan, HA, decorin, collagen type IX as well as cell membrane-associated molecule anchorin CII (Guilak et al., 2006; Wilusz et al., 2014). A normal matrix turnover is maintained through a balance between anabolic and catabolic factors secreted by chondrocytes. As chondrocytes are surrounded by PCM, all matrix components secreted by chondrocytes must pass through the PCM. As growth factors and matrix protein pass through the PCM, they may be modified in their structure and action. It has been reported that matrilin-3 becomes pro-anabolic from anti-anabolic once it enters PCM (Vincourt et al., 2012). In addition, changes in the PCM structure may have an effect on the response of enclosed chondrocytes to physical or chemical mediators. Therefore, PCM may have an important role in modulating the biochemical and biomechanical environment of chondrocytes (Guilak et al., 2006). The matrix surrounding the PCM is the territorial matrix. Territorial region surrounds the PCM of single chondrocytes and in some parts the matrix of two or more chondrocytes. The fine collagen fibrils in this region form a basket-like network around the cells, which may have a protective role for the chondrocytes against mechanical stress during loading and deformation of the tissue. The interterritorial region makes up most of the volume of the articular cartilage ECM where the largest diameter of collagen fibrils and an abundant amount of proteoglycans is seen. This region consist of randomly oriented bundles of large collagen fibrils, arranged parallel to the superficial zone surface, obliquely angled in the middle zone and perpendicular to the joint surface in the deep zone (Buckwalter & Mankin 1997; Becerra et al., 2010)

Zonal structure of articular cartilage

The ECM of articular cartilage consists of a dense stable network of collagen fibres embedded within a high concentration of a viscoelastic network of proteoglycans. The composition of the cartilage ECM varies with depth with regards to chondrocyte shape and size, differences in collagen fibre and proteoglycan network and also the water content (Figure 1.4). These differences are categorised into four layers or zones i.e. the superficial layer, the middle layer, the deep layer and the tide mark (Buckwalter *et al.*, 1988; Bhosale & Richardson 2008). Although the different zones have distinct morphological features, the borders in between the zones cannot be easily identified. However, studies have shown that the zonal organisation has functional importance (Becerra *et al.*, 2010).

The superficial zone is the thinnest zone (10% - 20% of total cartilage thickness), with the highest content of collagen and low levels of proteoglycans, although decorin and biglycan are found in higher concentrations (Fox et al., 2009). This zone consists typically of two layers, a thin outer layer of fine fibrils with no chondrocytes and a layer of flattened ellipsoid shaped chondrocytes with little PCM that are oriented parallel to the joint surface. Chondrocytes here synthesize and secrete lubricin, an important joint lubricant responsible for providing a gliding surface to the articular cartilage (Flannery et al., 2009). This zone is exposed to the highest tensile and compressive stresses. The parallel arrangement of collagen fibrils helps to resist shear forces generated during the joint movement. The zone next to superficial zone is the middle zone, which comprises 40% to 60% of total cartilage thickness. Collagen fibrils in this zone are less tightly packed with random orientation and have large diameters. Chondrocytes in this zone are spheroidal in shape and synthesize matrix that has high proteoglycan (aggrecan) content and low collagen and water content as compared to the superficial zone. In the deep zone (about 30% of the cartilage thickness), collagen fibres appear to be woven together into bundles and organise themselves perpendicular to the joint surface (Grogan et al. 2013). These bundles cross the tidemark (the border between calcified and non-calcified cartilage) to secure the attachment of cartilage onto the bone ends (Havelka et al. 1984). This zone contains spheroidal shaped chondrocytes with extensive PCM that align themselves in columns perpendicular to the joint surface and produce highest concentration of proteoglycans. The deepest zone is the calcified cartilage zone, which is the zone that separates the softer cartilage from the subchondral bone. The cells of this zone have a smaller volume compared to the other zones and are surrounded by calcified cartilage (Buckwalter et al. 1994; Fox et al. 2009).



Figure 1.4. Extracellular matrix molecules and zonal organisation of articular cartilage. (A) Major constituents of the ECM of articular cartilage showing fibrils of collagen type II, aggrecan molecule , hyaluronic acid backbone and the chondrocytes; (B) zonal arrangement of chondrocytes; and (C) zonal arrangement of collagen fibers. Images adapted from Izadifar *et al.*, 2012 and Buckwalter *et al.*, 1994.

<u>1.4 Articular cartilage defects</u>

Degradation of articular cartilage can arise as a result of trauma, disease or continual mechanical loading. There are two broad categories of acute cartilage injuries: 1) direct mechanical trauma with a loss of matrix molecules without damage to the chondrocytes or the collagen meshwork; 2) blunt or penetrating trauma resulting in the mechanical destruction of chondrocytes and matrix (Bhosale & Richardson 2008; Memon & Quinlan 2012). However, these two categories can overlap as progressive loss of ECM macromolecules can cause mechanical disruption of the cartilage surface and that can further result in factors causing ECM degeneration. Acute injuries or trauma to the knee joint can cause focal damage to the cartilage, including fissures, chondral flaps or tears, and loss of a segment of articular cartilage. Because of the avascular nature of the tissue and the low number of cells present, the response to the injury is limited (Buckwalter 1998).

Depending on the depth of the defect, articular cartilage defects are classified as chondral or osteochondral. Chondral defects as the name suggest are the defects involving cartilage only, whereas osteochondral defects are the defects involving cartilage and the underlying subchondral bone. Chondral defects are further categorized as full-thickness where they extend all the way to the subchondral bone but do not penetrate it or partial thickness defects, which involves cartilage only (Redman *et al.*, 2005; Bhosale & Richardson 2008) (Figure 1.5). There are grading systems in place such as those devised by Outerbridge, ICRS and Bauer–Jackson to precisely define the defect and to approach them with suitable treatment options (Falah *et al.*, 2010). The grading system devised by Outerbridge is simple and clinically useful system to accurately describe the defects based on their location, size, shape, description of the wall and the depth of the defect (Outerbridge 1964).



Figure 1.5. A schematic representation of articular cartilage defects. (A) Chondral defects can be classified as full-thickness where the defect extends down to the subchondral bone without penetrating it, or partial thickness where the damage is only reserved to cartilage; (B) Osteochondral defects damage the cartilage and penetrate the subchondral bone. Image adapted from Bhosale & Richardson, 2008.
The response to an injury of the articular cartilage depends upon numerous factors: the type of the injury, the severity of the injury, the condition of cartilage and joint as a whole at the time of the injury as well as the age of the patient (Buckwalter 1998). Immediately following a trauma, there is a structural damage to the joint tissue, which may lead to disruption in the collagen network and suppression of proteoglycan synthesis (DiMicco et al. 2004). Cartilage being a mechanosensitive tissue, senses the damage in the ECM by signalling the activation of chondrocyte surface receptors such as integrins, calcium ion channel and primary cilium (Vincent 2013). Articular chondrocytes and ECM work together to respond to an injury. The injury response of articular cartilage can be both catabolic and anabolic. The catabolic activity of chondrocytes includes the release of aggrecan-degrading enzyme disintegrin, metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs-5 (ADAMTS-5) and the collagenase matrix metalloproteinase-13 (MMP-13), which is specific to collagen type II (Burleigh et al. 2012). Various inflammatory mediators are also activated in injured cartilage such as interleukin (IL)-1 alpha (α), IL-6 and chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2). When the PCM is breached, various growth factors sequestered within the PCM are released for e.g. fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), connective tissue growth factor, insulin-like growth factor (IGF) and members of the TGF- β superfamily (Vincent 2013). These growth factors participate in the catabolic and anabolic activities of chondrocytes. For e.g., FGF-2 through its interaction with fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR)-1, enhances ADAMTS-5 and MMP-13 activity (Ellman et al. 2013). This results in degradation of the damaged tissue and apoptosis mediated chondrocyte death (Kramer et al. 2011). In contrast, there is also evidence of an increase in the anabolic factors shortly after injury. These include chondroprotective genes such as tumor necrosis factor-inducible gene 6 protein (TSG-6), hyaluronan-binding anti-inflammatory molecule, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) and activin A - a transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β) family member (Burleigh et al. 2012). Also, FGF-18 with FGFR-3 enhances chondrocyte viability and ECM formation (Ellman et al., 2013). During the healing of articular cartilage, the growth factors, cytokines and chemokines released by chondrocytes may cause a disruption in the balance between the catabolic and anabolic factors. Therefore, chondrocyte homeostatis is important for the quality of healing cartilage.(Kramer *et al.*, 2011)

<u>1.5 Cartilage repair strategies</u>

Nearly three centuries ago, Hunter reported that "Ulcerated cartilage is a troublesome thing. . . once destroyed it is not repaired" (Hunter 1743). Efforts towards repairing damaged cartilage for the last few hundred years have been the major focus for scientists and clinicians in the field of cartilage regenerative medicine. Conventional treatment strategies include various medications, which give only temporary relief of symptoms rather than cure, and clinicians have sought various surgical procedures (Browne and Branch 2000). The repair techniques are mostly aimed at reducing pain in addition to restoring functionality to the tissue. The success of different treatment strategies depends on the long term performance of the knee joint along with the restoration of the damage with native-like cartilage tissue in terms of its composition and mechanical properties (Detterline et al., 2005). To determine which repair approach to take, there are evidence based algorithms (Figure 1.6) depending on factors such as age, defect size and medical history (Cole et al., 2009). These algorithms help to precisely define the defect and to approach them with suitable treatment options (Makris et al., 2014). Current clinical treatments include arthroscopic repair procedures and cell and tissue transplantation procedures (reviewed by Matsiko et al., 2013). These are described in the following sections of this thesis.



Figure 1.6. Cartilage defect treatment algorithm. Assessment is based on the size and the location of the lesion as well as the demand of the patient i.e. whether a more active (high demand) or sedentary (low deman) lifestyle is desired. *First line treatment options. Image adapted from Makris *et al.*, 2014.

1.5.1 Arthroscopic procedures

Arthroscopy is a minimally invasive procedure in which an endoscope is inserted into the joint through a small incision for examination and treatment of cartilage injuries.

Debridement and lavage

Arthroscopic debridement and lavage is an approach whereby loose cartilage fragments that arise following an injury are removed from the joint surface (debridement) followed by an irrigation of the joint (lavage). It is mostly used for patients with less than 2 cm² defect sizes and is generally reserved for lower demand (patients with sedentary life style) older patients with limited symptoms (review by Detterline *et al.*, 2005). This procedure is believed to alleviate joint pain through an unknown mechanism, however it does not induce a repair response and it was reported that the reduction in the joint pain observed in the patients following this procedure could be no more than a placebo effect after surgery (Moseley *et al.*, 2003).

Microfracture

Microfracture is a reparative procedure for patients with small to moderate sized chondral lesions (1 to 5 cm²). The procedure is done arthroscopically and involves drilling 0.5-1 mm diameter holes in the subchondral bone to create bleeding within the defect, allowing cells from the bone marrow (BM) to enter the cartilage and promote healing of the defect (Steadman *et al.*, 1997; Gill and Macgillivray 2001; Steadman *et al.*, 2003). To achieve optimal results with this procedure continuous passive motion with limited weight bearing is required post-operatively (Detterline *et al.*, 2005). Clinical data at follow-ups has revealed that this procedure results in the formation of fibrocartilage that is biochemically and biomechanically inferior to hyaline articular cartilage (Mithoefer *et al.*, 2009; Saris *et al.*, 2009). In addition, due to the penetration of subchondral bone, intralesional osteophytes have been reported in 20-50% of the cases (Mithoefer *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, special indications

(shown in Figure 1.6) based on size, depth and location of the lesion, have been proposed for performing microfracture procedure (Makris *et al.*, 2014).

<u>Autografts</u>

Treatment strategies including soft tissue grafts and osteochondral autograft transplantations have been employed clinically for intermediate to high demand patients (patients who require an active lifestyle) due to the failure of arthroscopic procedures. The soft tissue grafts can be employed in two techniques i.e., chondrocyte autograft transfer (OAT) or mosaicplasty (Memon & Quinlan 2012). In OAT, osteochondral autografts are harvested from the nonweight bearing area of the joint and placed in the prepared cylindrical defect. These autografts are round cylinders of full-thickness cartilage attached or plugged to its underlying bone. This procedure is used mainly for small to medium sized (0.5 to 3 cm^2) defects as the amount of transplanting material is limited. This lead to the development of mosaicplasty in which multiple smaller sized osteochondral plugs are harvested for transplantation into the defect. Histological analysis of repair tissue following such grafting has revealed satisfactory clinical results with survival of transplanted hyaline cartilage as well as formation of fibrocartilage (Hangody et al., 2008; Chow et al., 2004). However there are some major limitations of this procedure including donor-site morbidity, the technical difficulty of donor-tissue grafting and the risk of joint incongruity in the case of multiple plugs (Huang et al., 2004; Detterline et al., 2005; Hangody et al., 2008).

1.6 Tissue engineering based strategies for cartilage repair

Currently, the standard surgical treatment for advance-stage degenerative joint pathology is total knee replacement. Early surgical interventions for cartilage defects as mentioned in the previous section of this thesis, whilst prevent further joint deterioration, they are not long-term clinical solutions (Makris *et al.*, 2014). This highlights a need for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine approaches to repair articular cartilage. Tissue engineering is an interdisciplinary field that adopts the principles of engineering and life sciences to biocompatible substitutes to restore and maintain tissue function (Langer & Vacanti 1993). Tissue engineering strategies are focused on three key aspects, which are the choice of cells, the cell carriers or scaffolds and the provision of the right signals (Figure 1.7). The cells are the key to the development and synthesis of native-like tissue. The cell-carriers or scaffolds provide a substrate for the cells to attach to and lay down matrix and potentially provide biological cues for encouraging cell differentiation. The signals help in directing differentiation of cells and assist in tissue synthesis (Matsiko *et al.*, 2013). These are described in more details in the following sections of the thesis.



Figure 1.7. The three key factors required for cartilage tissue engineering: cells, scaffolds and signals. Cells, scaffolds and signals are the key elements for cartilage tissue engineering. For this purpose, many different combinations of cells, scaffolds and signals have been investigated. An example of each of the key elements is shown here. Abbreviations: TGF- β , transforming growth factor- beta; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; PGA, poly glycolic acid; PLGA, Poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid.

1.6.1 Cells for cartilage tissue engineering

Various different cell sources have been examined such as chondrocytes and adult stem cells, and in combination with scaffolds and growth factors for cartilage tissue engineering (Makris *et al.,* 2014), however a simplistic first approach for cartilage repair was to use just cell-transplants as described below.

Chondrocytes- Autologous chondrocyte implantation

Chondrocytes were used in a first-generation cell therapy procedure called autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI). ACI is a two-step procedure (Figure 1.8) where during the first step a biopsy of cartilage is taken arthroscopically from the non-weight bearing area of the joint and enzymatically digested to isolate chondrocytes. The chondrocytes are then expanded in cell number by culturing the cells in vitro for two-three weeks to generate subsequent numbers for cell transplantation. The second step of the procedure involves an open arthrotomy to expose the defect, which is debrided to ensure the vertical circumferential walls of the defect have normal articular cartilage. A periosteal patch is harvested from the ipsilateral tibial shaft to act as a cover for the defect. The patch is sewn to the cartilage surface around the debrided defect and fixed with fibrin glue. The cultured chondrocytes are then injected under the sealed periosteal flap. This procedure was first used clinically in human patients by Brittberg and co-workers in 1987 (Brittberg et al., 1994). They published the results of their first 23 patients with a mean follow-up of 39 months where good to excellent results were reported for 70% of the cases. Biopsies of the repair tissue were taken 12 months post-operation and 11 out of 15 had hyaline-like appearance. Since then a number of studies have reported that the resulting repair tissue from the ACI procedure is more durable and biomechanically similar to native tissue with better long-term outcomes than the other cartilage restoration procedures, like microfracture and mosaicplasty (Peterson et al., 2010; Bentley et al., 2012; Minas et al., 2014). The ACI procedure is mainly reserved for intermediate to high demand patients (aged 20-50 years) who were previously unsuccessful with arthroscopic procedures. It is used for larger sized defects (2 to 10 cm²) involving both femoral condyles and the patella (Detterline et al., 2005).



Figure 1.8. Autologous chondrocyte implantation. A biopsy of healthy cartilage from a non-weight bearing area of the knee joint is digested enzymatically to isolate chondrocytes which are then culture expanded and injected back into the defect with the help of a periosteal flap harvested from tibia. Image adpated from Brittberg *et al.*,1994.

Generations of autologous chondrocyte implantation procedures

A range of complications are associated with the use of periosteal flaps in ACI procedures. Nearly 40% of the cases have reported symptomatic hypertrophy of the periosteal flap at one year follow-up (Gooding et al., 2006). In addition, studies have reported the major complications of the procedure to be graft failure and delamination, tissue hypertrophy, chondromalacia, formation of a loose body and arthrofibrosis (Driesang and Hunziker 2000; Niemeyer et al., 2008; Harris et al., 2011). In the light of addressing these limitations, the traditional technique of ACI has undergone a series of major advances and developments including the use of alternative membranes to seal the cartilage defect. In 2004, Haddo and coworkers (Haddo et al., 2004), reported on a small study of 31 patients treated with ACI using a porcine collagen type I/III membrane called Chondro-Gide® (Giestlich Biomaterials) instead of a periosteal flap. This study reported graft hypertrophy in only one case at 1 year follow up (Haddo et al., 2004). In 2006, these results were reproduced on a larger scale by Gooding et al, where they reported on 68 patients treated by ACI in which the defects were covered Chondro-Gide® (ACI-C) and compared it with defects covered with periosteal flaps (ACI-P). They reported that greater than 36.4% of the ACI-P cases showed signs of graft hypertrophy compared to none of the ACI-C cases and suggested the use of collagen membrane in future for the success of the technique (Gooding et al., 2006). One year later, Steinwachs and Kreuz reported on 63 patients treated by ACI-C. Patients were evaluated at six, 18 and 36 months after surgery and showed significant improvement at all evaluation time-points. Not even a single case presented with symptomatic graft hypertrophy. Therefore, they also concluded that graft hypertrophy can be avoided by using a collagen membrane instead of periosteal flap (Steinwachs and Kreuz 2007). Despite the success of ACI-C, an open surgical procedure with sutures was still required. Furthermore, the traditional ACI-C or ACI-P techniques required the injection of chondrocytes underneath the periosteal or collagen membrane, which still risks an uneven distribution within the defect and leakage of chondrocytes (reviewed by Hunziker et al., 2015). These factors lead to the development of a third generation approach called matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI), combining chondrocytes and a matrix/scaffold e.g., Chondro-Gide® (Brittberg 2010). The rationale for this approach was that the scaffold will provide a structure that would facilitate chondrocyte adhesion and expansion whilst maintaining their chondrocytic phenotype. In this procedure, the chondrocytes are seeded directly onto the porous side of Chondro-Gide® rather than being injected underneath the membrane like in the second generation ACI. Chondrocytes are pre-seeded onto Chondro-Gide® and following debridement and sizing of the defect, the cell-seeded membrane is then fixed onto the defect with the help of fibrin glue. Reported benefits of this technique are that there is no periosteal flap harvesting, no sutures are used and there is good stability of the implant. In a two-year clinical and histological follow-up study, it was reported that MACI was associated with pain relief, restoration of knee function and generated hyaline-like cartilage (D'Anchise et al., 2005). Behrens et al., in 2006 reported five-year follow up data after a MACI treatment and concluded that MACI was a suitable treatment for local cartilage defects of the knee joint (Behrens et al., 2006). Zheng et al., in 2007 also reported similar results of hyaline-like cartilage formation in 75% of biopsies from a group of 11 patients at 6 months follow-up following MACI (Zheng et al., 2007). In a review by Brittberg on the MACI procedure, it was suggested that MACI is a safe and clinically effective procedure for the treatment of moderate to large symptomatic cartilage defects. The data reviewed is also suggestive of hyaline-like tissue repair with this procedure (Brittberg 2010).

In spite of the successful clinical outcomes of ACI, ACI-C and MACI, a major disadvantage of these techniques is that the surgical intervention requires a two-step procedure which requires long-term patient planning and costly cell-culture expansion. Not only this, the quantity of tissue that can be harvested as a biopsy to isolate chondrocytes is limited due to the risk of creating new cartilage defects (reviewed by Hunziker *et al.*, 2015). Although a small biopsy is taken, studies have reported that it could heighten the risk for osteoarthritis (OA) (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Hjelle *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, chondrocytes lose their chondrogenic phenotype during the *in vitro* culture expansion step in a process termed as

chondrogenic dedifferentiation. This causes several changes in the synthesis pattern implying a shift from production of type II collagen to type I collagen, a typical marker of fibroblast like cells such as tendon and skin (Benya *et al.*, 1978; Benya and Shaffer 1982). Consequently, the need for alternative cell sources for cartilage repair has been widely investigated and the following sections will explore the potential cell types for this application.

Mesenchymal stem cells

As stated above, one of the main hurdles for successful ACI is obtaining vital and differentiated chondrocytes. Due to the pre-requisite expansion of chondrocytes in culture, they are forced to give up their round shape and attain a fibroblast-like morphology with a loss of their chondrogenic potential (von der Mark *et al.*, 1977; Benya & Shaffer 1982). Although some studies have shown that chondrocytes can re-differentiate *in vitro* with (Barbero *et al.*, 2003) and without (Anderer and Libera 2002) the addition of growth factors, the need for an alternative cell source with stable chondrogenic potential becomes necessary. An undifferentiated progenitor cell that possesses chondrogenic differentiation potential would be ideal for cartilage tissue engineering. Here, multipotent mesenchymal stem or stromal cells (MSCs) present themselves as a promising cell source (Caplan 1991; Caplan & Goldberg 1999).

MSCs are a heterogeneous subset of stromal cells that can be isolated from various tissues. The presence of regenerative cells in BM was first hypothesized by Cohnheim who believed that these regenerative cells were involved in wound healing throughout the body (Cohnheim 1867). In the 1960s and 1970s, Friedenstein *et al.*, pioneered the methods of isolation of BM-derived stromal cell by adherence to tissue culture plastic and reported their colony forming capacity, i.e. an ability to form colonies of fibroblasts or CFU-F (colony forming unit-fibroblast) after cell mitosis on the culture dishes, and their role in bone formation (Friedenstein *et al.*, 1966; Friedenstein *et al.*, 1970; Friedenstein *et al.*, 1976). Since then numerous groups have further investigated the potential of MSCs in regenerative medicine. Following their successful identification in the BM, human MSCs were isolated from various other tissues, including adipose tissue, umbilical cord and peripheral blood (reviewed by Hass *et al.*, 2011). *In vitro* and preclinical animal studies suggest that MSCs can provide an alternative to autologous chondrocytes for the regeneration of cartilage, as they

and can be culture expanded *in vitro* to provide increased cell numbers for transplant therapies (Mitchell and Shepard 1976; Caplan and Goldberg 1999; Pittenger 1999).

A stem cell is an unspecialized progenitor cell that can self-renew or multiply whilst maintaining its potential to differentiate into other cells with specialised functions. These cells reside in tissue niches from where they can be recruited to replenish specific tissue cells that have died (Caplan and Dennis 2006). Stem cells are found in the embryo known as embryonic stem cells, as well as in adults known as adult stem cells. Embryonic stem cells are pluripotent in that they have the potential to form cells of all the three germ-layers, i.e. endoderm, ectoderm and mesoderm (Doss *et al.*, 2004). Adult stem cells, on the other hand, are tissue specific as they have limited differentiation potential and produce only a set of specialised cells of a particular tissue (Pittenger 1999).

The term MSCs was coined by Arnold Caplan in 1991 where he described how these MSCs divide and their progeny becomes committed to a particular, distinctive phenotypic pathway (Caplan 1991). In 1999, Pittenger and co-workers demonstrated their ability to differentiate down the three mesodermal lineages of osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes (Pittenger 1999). Since then, MSCs have been extensively studied as an alternative cell source for tissue engineering. Whilst Caplan popularised the term MSCs, some researchers refrained the reference to a stem cell identity when publishing pre-clinical or clinical results in the late 1990s (Horwitz & Keating 2000). In 2000, at the meeting of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), many leading investigators concluded that convincing data to support the 'stemness' of the unfractionated plastic adherent cells was lacking. Thereafter, Horwitz et al, published a position statement to address the inconsistency between nomenclature and the biologic properties of these cells (Horwitz et al., 2005). They suggested that the multipotent plastic adherent cells derived from mesenchymal tissues should be termed mesenchymal stromal cells, regardless of the tissue origin. The term stem cell should be used to describe a subset of cells showing distinct characteristics, including (1) adherence to tissue culture plastic; (2) multipotent differentiation potential and (3) their ability to self-renew. Nonetheless, the terminology has persisted and the acronym MSC is used to describe the mesenchymal stem or stromal cells that are isolated from mesenchymal tissues and have the multipotent differentiation capacity (Horwitz *et al.*, 2005).

MSCs are known to secrete an array of trophic factors such as cytokines and growth factors which influence cellular activity from cell survival, growth and differentiation to immunological response. They express mitogenic proteins such as transforming growth factoralpha (TGF- α), TGF- β , hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and FGF (Haynesworth *et al.*, 1996). It has been hypothesized that the expression of and reaction to these cytokines and growth factors is dependent on an individual's genotype giving credence to the philosophy of personalized medicine (Murphy *et al.*, 2013). Studies have also shown that MSCs can modulate immune responses *in vitro* by secreting factors that inhibit interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-2, IL-12, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) secretion (Beyth *et al.*, 2005; Iyer and Rojas 2008; Pittenger 2008). In an inflamed environment, MSCs are shown to have anti-inflammatory effects by restoring the T helper cells $1(T_H1)/T_H2$ balance through inhibiting INF- γ secretion and increasing IL-4 and IL-10 (Aggarwal and Pittenger 2005). These properties of MSCs offer a great advantage for their utilization in regenerative medicine and could have a considerable impact on the future of tissue engineering interventions (Shi *et al.*, 2010).

Mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow

Amongst the various tissue sources, BM derived MSCs are the most extensively studied and investigated both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Since the work of Johnstone *et al.*, Pittenger *et al.*, and Barry *et al*, it is well-known that BM MSCs can undergo chondrogenesis *in vitro* through the induction of a cocktail of growth factors (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998; Pittenger 1999; Barry *et al.*, 2001). MSCs derived from the BM in humans are mainly isolated from the iliac crest. They are an attractive source for cartilage tissue engineering due to their ability to expand to high numbers *in vitro* as well as their potential towards chondrogenic differentiation (Boeuf & Richter 2010). However, the current term defining MSCs does not represent a homogeneous

population of cells. MSCs are a heterogeneous population of cells and their frequency of CFU-F is approximately 1 per 10,000- 100,000 mononuclear cells in BM (Friedenstein *et al.*, 1976). This number varies from donor to donor and declines with age. A newly born child has approximately 1 MSC per 10,000 cells, a teen approximately 1 in 100,000 and a 50 year old adult, 1 in 400,000 BM mononuclear cells (Caplan 2007). Due to the heterogeneity in mononuclear cell populations,the ISCT had listed three main criteria for cells to be regarded as MSCs, these are; their ability to adhere to plastic, their ability to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes and their expression of CD73, CD90 and CD105 (Dominici *et al.*, 2006).

Proof-of-concept for the use of BM MSCs for cartilage repair has been shown in various animal models of chondral and osteochondral defects and has showed improved repair of the defects when compared with the no MSC control groups (Wakitani et al., 1994; Im et al., 2001; Guo et al., 2004; Koga et al., 2008). Moreover, BM cells have already been employed in clinical trials where the cells have either been directly used as mononuclear cell concentrates (Wakitani et al., 2002; Gigante et al., 2011; Gobbi et al., 2011; Skowroński et al., 2013) or the MSCs have been culture expanded and pre-seeded on to cell-carriers or scaffolds to contain the cells with subsequent transplantation into the defects (Adachi et al., 2005; Haleem et al., 2010; Kasemkijwattana et al., 2011). Most of these cases reported on clinical outcomes at follow-ups and where histological assessment was made, a mixture of hyaline-like and fibrocartilaginous repair tissue has been observed. In 2007, Kuroda et al, treated a 31 year old judo player suffering from a full-thickness cartilage defect with autologous BM MSCs embedded within a collagen gel. At seven months follow-up, histology of the repair tissue revealed hyaline-like tissue and the patient reported significant improvement in clinical symptoms (Kuroda et al., 2007). In a study of 72 patients, BM MSCs were compared to first generation ACI procedure and the results have been reported to show that BM MSCs are as effective as chondrocytes, although the use of BM MSCs is costeffective with no damage to the normal articular cartilage (Nejadnik et al., 2010). Despite the success of clinical outcomes, BM MSCs are not fully-established for their use as candidatecell types for cell-based cartilage repair treatments. The painful iliac crest biopsies accompanied with donor site morbidity as well as the limited number of MSCs in the BM are some of the hurdles in their successful therapeutic application (reviewed by Ahmed and Hincke 2014). In addition, it has also been shown that the chondrogenic differentiation potential of rat MSCs decline with age (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). This may have a major impact on the therapeutic capacity of autologous MSCs as a majority of orthopaedic pathologies present in older individuals in humans.

Mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue

Over the last decade, it has been recognised that fat, apart from being an energy reservoir is also a rich source of multipotent stem cells (Baer & Geiger 2012). Similar to BM, adipose tissue (AT) is also derived from embryonic mesenchyme and consists of a stroma that can be easily harvested (Ugarte et al., 2003). The initial method to isolate adipose MSCs was first described by Rodbell and co-workers in the 1960s where they minced rat fat pads, digested the minced tissue with collagenase and centrifuged the digest to separate mature adipocytes from the pelleted stromal vascular fraction (SVF). The SVF is a heterogeneous population of cells including blood cells, fibroblasts, pericytes, endothelial cells as well as pre-adipocytes and adipocyte progenitors (Rodbell 1966). Subsequently, this method was modified for the isolation of human AT mesenchymal stem or stromal cells (AT MSCs) (reviewed by Bunnell et al., 2008). Initially, the AT was minced manually, however with the advent of the liposuction technique, this procedure has been simplified. During this procedure, the AT is infused with a saline solution via a cannula and the tissue is harvested with the saline solution under suction (Illouz 1983). In 2001, Zuk and co-workers described a putative population of multipotent stem cells that they termed processed lipoaspirate cells or PLA cells due to their derivation from processed lipoaspirate tissue obtained through cosmetic surgery (Zuk et al., 2001). These cells were shown to be capable of differentiating into adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondrocytes upon induction with specific growth factors (Zuk et al., 2002). Nonetheless, a multipotent adherent stromal cell population can be generated from liposuction tissue as well as from the SVF of manually minced AT (Schreml *et al.*, 2009).

There has been some confusion with regards to the nomenclature of the plastic adherent cell population from collagenase digested AT. Various terms have been used to describe the same population of cells including adipose-derived stem/stromal cells (ASCs), adipose derived adult stem cells (ADAS), adipose derived stromal cells (ADSC), adipose stromal cells (ASC), adipose mesenchymal stem cells (AdMSC) and processed lipoaspirate (PLA) cells (Bunnell et al., 2008). Due to the variation in the terms used to describe the same population of cells, the International Fat Applied Technology Society (IFATs) reached a consensus to adopt the term "adipose-derived stem cells" (ASCs) to identify the plasticadherent multipotent cell population (Gimble et al., 2007). As per the ISCT, the term stem should be used for cells that meet a certain criteria including, adherence to plastic, ability to differentiate into different cell type and the ability to self-renew long term *in vivo*. Despite the absence of data confirming the last characteristic, the IFATs conference adopted the term ASC, or Adipose-derived Stem Cell, to describe plastic-adherent, cultured multipotent stromal cells isolated from the SVF (Bourin et al., 2013). Throughout this thesis, the acronym AT MSCs will be used to describe mesenchymal stem or stromal cells isolated from AT. Furthermore, the ISCT recently proposed criteria to define AT MSCs similar to BM MSCs in that, they should be plastic adherent and should differentiate down the three mesodermal lineages as well as display CD profile negative for haematopoietic markers (CD11b and CD45) and positive for stromal cell markers such as CD13, CD73 and CD90 (Bourin et al., 2013).

The application of AT MSCs for tissue engineering purposes has a number of advantages compared to BM MSCs in that AT contains a large number of multipotent cells, a necessary pre-requisite for cell-based therapies. It has been shown that the multipotent stromal cells in the SVF of AT constitutes up to 3% of the mononuclear cells, which is 2,500 fold higher than the frequency of MSCs in the BM (Fraser *et al.*, 2008). Other studies have also

reported on similar findings regarding the higher numbers of MSCs obtained from AT compared with BM. Approximately 6 million mononuclear cells are present per millilitre (ml) of BM aspirate, of which only 0.001- 0.01% are MSCs. In contrast, in a gram of AT, approximately 0.5-2 million mononuclear cells are present, of which 1 to 10 % are MSCs (Ugarte *et al.*, 2003; Aust *et al.*, 2004; Zhu *et al.*, 2008). The percentage varies from donor to donor, the age of the donors and on the tissue harvesting procedure (Oedayrajsingh-Varma *et al.*, 2006; Choudhery *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the adipose depots can be found ubiquitously in human body and are easily accessible with minimally invasive procedures. Liposuction is a safe and well-tolerated procedure yielding large quantities of tissue. It is also cheaper and less-invasive than BM aspiration for MSC isolation. In addition, AT harvested during cosmetic surgeries or other procedures is generally regarded as a medical waste product, hence representing a readily available source for stem cell isolation for tissue engineering purposes (Bunnell *et al.*, 2008).

Various animal studies have provided the proof-of-concept for the potential of AT MSCs for cartilage repair *in vivo*. Studies in rabbits of full-thickness osteochondral defects have shown promising results when transplanted with AT MSCs compared to the control groups (Nathan *et al.*, 2003; Masuoka *et al.*, 2006; Dragoo *et al.*, 2007). Some studies have reported the inferior chondrogenic potential of AT MSCs when compared with BM MSCs (Koga *et al.*, 2008; Im and Lee 2010; Li *et al.*, 2011). Nonetheless, according to the most recent systematic review performed by Perdisa *et al.*, all 28 preclinical animal studies investigating the potential of AT MSCs for cartilage repair have reported that AT MSCs have a regenerative effect on cartilage repair (Perdisa *et al.*, 2015). A few human case reports have also been published for the use of AT MSCs in degenerative joint pathologies including chondromalacia patellae and OA. Most of the human trial studies have used the intra-articular injection of freshly isolated SVF cells in combination with growth factors such as platelet rich plasma (PRP) and hyaluronic acid (HA). Follow ups from three to 30 months have reported significant improvement in functional outcomes as well as pain relief (Pak 2011; Koh and

Choi 2012; Pak *et al.*, 2013; Bui *et al.*, 2014; Koh *et al.*, 2014). The site of AT harvest for these studies has either been subcutaneous AT from the abdominal area or the buttocks or the infrapatellar fat pad in the knee joints. Infrapatellar fat pad is also a promising source of multipotent cells, particularly advantageous for orthopaedic applications (Khan *et al.*, 2008). These AT MSCs have shown potential for cartilage tissue engineering due to their chondrogenic differentiation potential, ease of harvest during knee surgeries and limited morbidity to patients (Dragoo *et al.*, 2003; Buckley *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, it has been shown that intra-articular injection of AT MSCs isolated from infrapatellar fat pad results in pain relief and an improvement in knee functions in patients suffering from knee OA (Koh and Choi 2012; Koh *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, only a single study of 18 patients has been published to date, to test the safety and efficacy of culture expanded autologous AT MSCs for knee OA. Patients were injected with low-dose $(1.0 \times 10^7 \text{ cells})$, mid-dose (5.0×10^7) , or high-dose (1.0×10^8) of AT MSCs. The results at 6 months follow-up showed improved function and pain of the knee joint with histology of the repair tissue revealing hyaline-like tissue in patients receiving high dose of AT MSCs (Jo *et al.*, 2014).

Other sources of mesenchymal stem cells

With the increasing evidence of MSCs found in various tissues, the question arises as to which cell source is the most advantageous for cartilage repair? Whilst a single ideal cell source has not yet been defined, a few noteworthy studies point towards the use of BM MSCs compared to AT MSCs (Im *et al.*, 2005; Jakobsen *et al.*, 2010; Strioga *et al.*, 2012). In addition, MSCs from synovial tissue (ST MSCs) have also been reported to have multipotent progenitor cells that have considerable potential to synthesize cartilage matrix *in vitro* (De Bari *et al.*, 2001). They express MSC surface markers and have the ability to maintain linear growth over 30 population doublings (reviewed in Fan *et al.*, 2009). A study comparing the different cell sources *in vitro* including, synovium, BM, AT, periosteum and muscle tissue have demonstrated the superiority of ST MSCs regarding their proliferation and chondrogenic differentiation (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2007). Another study in rabbits reported that transplanted

autologous BM and ST MSCs gave rise to a significantly higher *in vivo* chondrogenic response than AT MSCs and muscle-derived MSCs (Koga *et al.*, 2008). The reason for enhanced chondrogenic potential of ST MSCs over other MSCs is not fully understood; however, it has been shown that synovium tissue may be a tissue-specific stem cell niche for cartilage repair since the healing response of the meniscus and articular cartilage tissue may be largely attributed to the synovium (Hunziker and Rosenberg 1996). There is also growing evidence that a population of progenitor cells exists within the articular cartilage. These progenitor cells play a role in supporting appositional cartilage growth from the surface. Although, the need to harvest large amounts of tissue i.e cartilage or synovium to obtain sufficient cell number is a major drawback of these cell sources (Dowthwaite *et al.*, 2004).

Freshly isolated versus culture expanded cells

Despite the successful clinical outcomes using chondrocytes or MSCs, these techniques are limited in their clinical use due to the need for two operations. In addition, the success of MSCs for cartilage repair relies not only on the intrinsic capability of the cells but also on the interaction between a cell and its surrounding microenvironment. It is also well established that MSCs secrete bioactive factors that are immunomodulatory and have regenerative capacity (Somoza et al., 2014). As per this paradigm, it was proposed that MSC selection and culture expansion may not be necessary, allowing the development of a one-step procedure (Giannini et al., 2009). Furthermore, the in vitro culture and expansion of MSCs could be associated with the risk of trans-differentiation or reprogramming of the cells as well as the possibility of infection, contamination and spontaneous transformation (Song & Tuan 2004; Herberts et al., 2011; Neri et al., 2013). These considerations prompted the use of autologous BM aspirate concentrate (BMAC) for the treatment of chondral defects. The rationale for this approach was that the concentrated BM would not only contain MSCs but also other precursor and accessory cells as a source of regenerative tissue (Cavallo et al., 2013). In 2009, Giannini et al were the first to use such an approach for the treatment of talar osteochondral lesions (Giannini et al., 2009). They concentrated the BM aspirate using a commercially available system and combined it with collagen powder or hyaluronic acid membrane and platelet gel. No control group was used in this study. The results at a mean follow up of 29 months showed functional improvement with both scaffolds and the histology of the biopsy revealed hyalinelike cartilage. They concluded that although longer term follow-up is needed to ensure the validity of the repair over-time, the one-step arthroscopic technique is advantageous when compared with previous techniques (Giannini et al., 2009). An animal study of full-thickness chondral defects in minipigs compared culture expanded BM MSCs with freshly isolated mono-nuclear cells (MNCs). The result at 8 weeks showed no significant difference between the repair tissue of the two cell-treated groups which led them to conclude that MNCs may be more economical and convenient for cartilage repair in clinical applications as they obviate the need for culture expansion (Zhang et al., 2011). At the same time, Gobbi et al, published clinical results of 15 patients suffering from chronic large full-thickness cartilage lesions (Gobbi et al., 2011). In this study, the BM aspirate was concentrated and using batroxobin enzyme was transformed into a sticky clot. The clot was pasted into the defect and covered with collagen-based membrane and fixed in place with fibrin glue. At 6, 12 and 24 months follow-up, patients showed significant improvement in functional scores and histology revealed hyaline-like cartilage (Gobbi et al., 2011). Although the technique of BMAC is utilized in these clinical studies, only a limited in vitro data on chondrogenesis is currently available to support its use in clinical practice (Kasten et al., 2008; Cavallo et al., 2013).

The use of freshly isolated cells from the SVF of AT (AT SVF) cells is more established than that of the MNCs from BM. Most of the clinical studies reported have tested the uncultured freshly isolated MSCs from the SVF in combination with PRP for knee OA and reported an improvement in clinical outcomes (reviewed by Perdisa *et al.*, 2015). The concept of using AT SVF cells was already tested *in vitro* and showed promising results confirming the ability of AT SVF cells to adhere to a poly (L-lactic-co-epsilon-caprolactone) scaffolds in a short time, and their capacity to undergo chondrogenic differentiation (Jurgens *et al.*, 2009; Jurgens *et al.*, 2011). The safety and feasibility of this technique was further tested for the treatment of osteochondral defects *in vivo*. Here, the authors compared freshly isolated SVF cells with culture expanded AT MSCs seeded on collagen I/III scaffolds and showed that after 1 month and 4 months post-transplantation in goat models of osteochondral defects, similar regeneration was found between freshly isolated and culture expanded cells (Jurgens *et al.*, 2013).

Pre-culture selective isolation of mesenchymal stem cells

Human MSCs from different tissue sources constitute a heterogeneous population of cells comprising sub-populations each having its own particular phenotype and functional characteristics. These sub-populations presenting different cell surface markers may parallel their stage of differentiation, their location within the tissue niche and their ultimate functional fate (Somoza et al., 2014). Therefore, current research in the field of cartilage tissue engineering is also focussing on identifying markers to select sub-populations from the pool of MSCs that may have higher chondrogenic potential compared to the uncultured heterogeneous population (Battula et al., 2009; Arufe et al., 2010). Pre-culture identification markers would ensure higher purity of chondrogenic MSCs than that obtained from plastic adherence and could potentially be used in a one-step procedure for cartilage repair. It has been shown that cells isolated using CD44, CD105 and CD29 as markers have greater chondrogenic potential over other MSC populations (Rada et al., 2011). In addition, it was also shown that isolating MSCs that are positive for the CD271 marker express higher levels of collagen type II and aggrecan compared with CD73 and CD106 positive MSCs (Arufe et al., 2010). A recent in vivo study confirmed these in vitro findings for the potential of CD271 positive cells to show therapeutic superiority over cells selected by plastic adherence alone (Mifune et al., 2012). CD271 has been increasingly used as specific marker for the characterization and purification of human BM MSCs (Flores-Torales et al., 2010). It is also known as the low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor (LNGFR), nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR), or neurotrophin receptor (p75 NTR). In 2002, Quirici and co-workers reported that anti-CD271 antibody is specific for a population of multipotent cells and suggested the use of this marker for selective isolation of MSCs from BM (Quirici et al., 2002). Work by Jones et al has since confirmed these findings and have demonstrated consistently that CD271 antigen (followed by CD146, CD106, D7-FIB, CD13 and CD166) is the most selective marker for the enrichment of multipotent progenitor cells from BM (Jones et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2006; Jones and McGonagle 2008). Numerous other groups have also published similar results supporting the idea of CD271 as a marker to selectively isolate MSCs from BM (Bühring et al., 2007; Flores-Torales et al., 2010; Kuçi et al., 2010). Despite the availability of CD271 as a marker of MSCs from BM, which could potentially be used in a one-step treatment for orthopaedic pathologies, a major limitation for its use in autologous therapies is that both the number of MSCs and their differentiation potential decreases with age (Stolzing et al., 2008). AT may be better suited for this purpose. AT MSCs were first isolated using P75NTR/ CD271 antibody in mice (Yamamoto et al., 2007). Following this Quirici et al, isolated CD271 positive MSCs from AT in a similar way as had been done from BM. They reported that CD271 positive MSCs from AT showed higher clonogenic and differentiation potential compared to MSCs isolated with plastic adherence alone (Quirici et al., 2010). Furthermore, researchers investigated the relationship between age and the CD271⁺ cell yield and they found that the highest cell yield was seen in donors that were 30 to 40 years old; in addition, although the number of CD271⁺ MSCs decline with age, the ability to obtain these cells was maintained through all age ranges with a yield higher than that reported from BM. Therefore, the authors proposed the use of CD271 positive MSCs as the primary choice for autologous cell-based therapies in older patients (Duran et al., 2013). These findings prompted researchers to isolate CD271 positive MSCs from other sources including synovium, umbilical cord and placenta (reviewed by Álvarez-Viejo 2015). However to date, only one pre-clinical animal study has been published to show the potential of CD271 positive MSCs for cartilage repair (Mifune et al., 2012). This highlights the need for further *in vivo* investigation into the use of CD271 as a marker for cellbased therapies.

1.6.2 Signals for chondrogenesis

Present knowledge and success of in vitro differentiation of MSCs is based on the understanding of the mechanism of cartilage formation and its regulation in vivo. Chondrogenesis in the limb bud is initiated by sonic hedgehog signalling, which induces bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) to induce MSCs towards chondrogenesis (Lefebvre & Smits 2005). One of the earliest markers expressed in the mesenchymal condensations is sex determining region-Y-box 9 (Sox 9). Sox9 is one of the key transcription factors in chondrocyte differentiation (Lefebvre et al., 1998). Two other Sox family members, L-Sox5 and Sox6 are co-expressed with Sox9 and their activity is required for Sox9-mediated differentiation of MSCs into chondroblasts. These Sox family members maintain the chondrocyte phenotype in the mature cartilage by controlling the expression of various cartilage-specific genes including collagens (Col2a1, Col9a1 and Col11a1) and aggrecan (Acan) (Huang et al., 2001). In addition, the ECM plays a crucial role in determining the fate of mesenchymal cells as well as the development of chondrocytes. The expression of cartilage specific genes is under strict control and ECM helps in the regulation of signalling pathways for co-ordination of cartilage formation (Bi *et al.*, 2005). The members of TGF- β superfamily play a key role in directing MSCs towards chondrogenic pathway (Kingsley 1994). ECM integrates several signalling pathways including the fibroblast growth factor (FGF), BMP and the indian hedgehog (IHH) pathway (Bi et al., 2005) (Figure 1.9).

It has been proposed that for *in vitro* chondrogenic differentiation, the following is required (1) MSCs should be grown in a three-dimensional (3D) culture format, (2) culture conditions should consist of serum-free nutrient medium, (3) induction with a member of TGF- β superfamily (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998; Tanaka *et al.*, 2004). The 3D culture system for MSC chondrogenesis is typically a micromass pellet culture which was first described by Johnstone *et al* (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998). The micromass pellets cause cell condensation and allow cell-cell interactions thereby recapitulating pre-chondrogenic condensations during embryonic development (Barry *et al.*, 2001). In response to these specific conditions, the cells lose their fibroblast morphology and undergo a sequence of cellular and molecular events resulting in a series of morphological alterations. At first, the spindle shaped MSCs aggregate and form junctional complexes. A week into the induction period, the cell pellets comprise three layers: the superficial layer of elongated, fibroblast-like cells, the middle zone with apoptotic cells and the deep zone consisting of chondrocyte-like cells. During the early stages of chondrogenesis, progressive alterations in the sulphation patterns of chondroitin-6-sulphate are also observed in that its ratio becomes four-fold higher than chondroitin-4-sulphate. Similar shifts in the ratio of chondroitin sulphates are also observed during maturation of human articular cartilage (Bayliss 1990). After two weeks, the middle zone is no longer present and after three weeks the elongated cells in the superficial layer also disappears and the chondrocyte-like cells in the deep zone are surrounded by ECM (Sekiya et al., 2002). During the early stages of chondrogenesis, ECM molecules like cadherins, versican, fibromodulins and COMP are expressed, whereas the intermediate stage is defined by the synthesis of aggrecan, decorin and biglycan and subsequently type II collagen and chondroadherin (Barry et al., 2001; Koga et al., 2008). Members of TGF-ß superfamily especially TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3 have the ability to induce this response. Numerous reports have described the role of Smads, in particular the Smad3-mediated TGF- β signalling for chondrogenesis. Smad3 induces Sox9 transcriptional activity and stimulates TGF-B1 signalling and together with Smad2, Smad4 and Sox9 forms a transcriptional complex to activate the expression of Col2a1 gene for the synthesis of collagen type II (Li et al., 2006; Furumatsu et al., 2009).

In addition to the response to biological signals, mechanical stimuli may also play an important role in directing MSC chondrogenesis since native articular cartilage tissue is subject to various mechanical stimuli, such as hydrostatic pressure, as well as compressive and shear straint. For this purpose, bioreactors have been designed in which mechanical stimuli and fluid flow can be applied in a controlled setting to assess chondrogenesis of cell-seeded scaffolds (Chung *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 1.9. A schematic representation of the sequence of events during MSC chondrogenesis. The main transcriptional and growth factors involved from the condensation step to the terminal differentiation step are shown. Abbreviations: TGF- β , transforming growth factor-beta; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; FGF, fibroblast-like growth factor; IGF, insulin-like growth factor, VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; Shh, sonic hedgehog; Ihh, indian hedgehog; PTHrP, parathyroid hormone-related protein; Wnt, wingless family; Runx2, Runt-related transcription factor 2; TCF- transcription factor; LEF- Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor. Image adpated from Vinatier *et al.*, 2009.

1.6.3 Scaffolds for cartilage repair

It is well known that *in vivo* cells reside, proliferate and differentiate within a 3D environment. Chondrocytes in the native tissue are embedded within an abundant ECM comprising of collagens and proteoglycans. As stated above, when cultured in a two-dimensional (2D) environment *in vitro*, these chondrocytes lose their phenotype and dedifferentiate (Benya and Shaffer 1982). However, this process is reversible as dedifferentiated chondrocytes can recover their differentiated phenotype when grown in 3D environments (Bonaventure *et al.*, 1994). These observations confirm that a 3D environment is a pre-requisite for the success of cartilage tissue engineering approaches. 3D environments have therefore been used in the form of scaffolds to support chondrocyte growth and stabilize their phenotype in culture. Micromass pellets also provide a 3D environment for MSCs to aggregate and mimic mesenchymal condensation observed during the developmental stages of chondrogenesis (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998; Barry *et al.*, 2001).

For functional tissue engineering, the scaffold used to provide a 3D environment should fulfil three main requirements: (1) it should be biocompatible and bioresorbable, with a degradation rate that ideally matches regeneration of new tissue; (2) it should have interconnected network to allow nutrient diffusion; (3) it should allow for cell attachment, proliferation and differentiation. In addition, the architectural structure of the scaffold can have an effect on the mechanical properties of the scaffold, cell-seeding and diffusion of nutrients. The biomaterial that the scaffold is made from is vital to the success of tissue engineering as it can either facilitate or impede cell attachment, proliferation and synthesis of the new tissue. These biomaterials can be classified as natural, synthetic and composites. Natural biomaterials are found naturally in living organisms and can be extracted and utilized as functional biomaterials. Synthetic biomaterials are created artificially using chemical processes and therefore have the advantage of customization of two or more biomaterials that may have special characteristics intrinsic to each constitute material (Athanasiou *et al.*, 2010). The following sections of this introduction will describe natural and synthetic scaffolds in more details.

Natural scaffolds

Natural biomaterials are relatively well established for their use in biological applications because they elicit little or no immune response and are believed to facilitate cell adhesion due to the presence of natural ligands that support cellular interactions. Various natural scaffolds used in cartilage tissue engineering are derived from components of the ECM. Their structure can vary from a hydrogel (i.e. colloidal gel-like form containing water as the dispersion media) to fibrous and porous constructs. Collagens and hyaluronic acid-based materials are some of the most widely used natural biomaterials in addition to alginate, agarose, fibrin glue and chitosan. ECM polypeptides and polysaccharides are most widely used as they are biodegradable and produce non-toxic agents upon degradation (Athanasiou *et al.*, 2010).

Collagens

Collagen type I is the traditionally used collagen-based scaffold in tissue engineering and studies have shown that this scaffold can facilitate cartilaginous tissue formations under the influence of mechanical compression (Hunter *et al.*, 2002) or when cross-liked with GAGs (Van Susante *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2004). However, collagen type II is the predominant collagen found in the ECM of articular cartilage and some studies have proven its superiority in making cartilaginous tissue compared to collagen type I (Mueller *et al.*, 1999; Bosnakovski *et al.*, 2006). For clinical application, collagen type I/type III membranes have been used for MACI including MACI® (Verigen, Lever- kusen, Germany), Maix® (Matricel, Hezoenrath, Germany) and Chondro-Gide® (Geistlich Biomaterials, Wolhusen, Switzerland)(Cherubino *et al.*, 2003). A collagen type I gel called Atelocollagen® (Koken Co. Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) has been utilized for culture and *in vivo* implantation of human autologous chondrocytes (Ochi *et al.*, 2002) and of BM MSCs (Kuroda *et al.*, 2007). The utilization of these collagen-based gels and matrices has shown promising results clinically.

Hyaluronic acid (HA)

HA or hyaluronan is a non-sulphated GAG found in the ECM of articular cartilage. This polysaccharide has been used to create biocompatible scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. It can be cross-linked to form a porous matrix or it could be used as an injectable gel. It has been commercially fabricated into a matrix called HYAFF II® (Fidia Advanced Biopolymers, Italy) which has been used mainly for osteochondral application (Solchaga et al., 1999). This matrix is a derivative of HA formed by esterification of carboxyl groups of glucuronic acid with benzyl alcohol and the scaffold has been shown to support cellular growth, proliferation and chondrogenic differentiation in vitro (Campoccia et al., 1998). For in vivo application, HYAFF II® was seeded with autologous chondrocytes and this tissueengineered graft for the treatment of full-thickness cartilage defects was referred to as Hyalograft C® (Grigolo et al., 2001; Marcacci et al., 2005). In a recent systematic review of clinical trials with Hyalograft C®, it was reported that the quality of the repair tissue was predominantly of a hyaline-like in nature (Wylie et al., 2015). Despite the success of this scaffold for the treatment of chondral and osteochondral defects, the European Medical Association (EMA) expressed concerns regarding its manufacturing and the company withdrew their EU application for further approval (McGowan and Stiegman 2012).

Synthetic scaffolds

Synthetic scaffolds have been produced commercially and can be customized according to their physical and chemical properties. One of the major advantages of these scaffolds are that they are pathogen-free and can therefore have low potential for immunological rejection. They can be tightly controlled for their mechanical strength and degradation profile as per the demand of the tissue they are designed to repair or regenerate. Poly-glycolides, poly-lactides, and their co-polymers are extensively used for designing synthetic scaffolds. They can be conformed into porous matrices, non-woven meshes, or felts which allow flexibility to shape and architecture. The most commonly used synthetic materials in cartilage tissue engineering include polycaprolactone (PCL), poly L-lactic acid (PLLA), poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid)

(PLGA) and polyglycolic acid (PGA) (reviewed by Matsiko et al., 2013). PCL scaffolds have been used to investigate the *in vitro* chondrogenic potential of MSCs and the results indicated chondrogenic gene expression and matrix deposition (Kim et al., 2010). PGA based porous felt has been evaluated in vitro and in vivo for repair of cartilage defects (Endres et al., 2012). It has shown successful results when transplanted with autologous chondrocytes in a porcine model of chondral defects (Liu et al., 2002). ECM production has been consistently observed using PGA scaffolds, which, along with predictable degradation rates, makes PGA attractive for cartilage tissue engineering purposes (Freed et al., 1994; Freed et al., 1993; Kreuz et al., 2013). PLA is another polymer used extensively in the medical field and along with PGA, has been approved by the FDA for application in humans. PLA generally degrades slower than PGA with a total degradation time ranging from twelve months to over two years (Middleton and Tipton 2000). PLGA is a copolymer composed of PGA and PLA monomers. It has been used to assess chondrogenesis of MSCs in vitro (Zheng et al., 2011) and in vivo (Han et al., 2008) and has shown successful cartilage regeneration. The controllable degradation rate of these polymeric scaffolds is advantageous for cartilage tissue engineering purposes, however a major drawback of the synthetic materials is that their degradation products are highly concentrated acids that can lead to localised inflammation and apoptosis in vivo (reviewed by Hutmacher 2001). A synthetic bilayered product licensed as TRUFIT CB® is composed of poly-(DL-lactide-co-glycolide or PDLG) and calcium sulphate and is commercially available for chondral and osteochondral tissue repair applications (Carmont et al., 2009)

The microarchitecture of these biomaterials is a key factor in determining the adhesion and proliferation of cells as well as the retention of newly synthesized matrix. Porosity and pore size can have a major impact on cell infiltration and matrix production. The pores need to be large enough to permit cell migration, but also small enough to provide sufficient surface area for cell adhesion (Zeltinger *et al.*, 2001). The mechanical properties of the scaffold play a significant role in the regeneration of neo-cartilage. These biomaterials must be able to support cell growth whilst possessing adequate durability to remain uncompromised by normal joint functioning until sufficient new tissue regenerates. To truly mimic articular cartilage, scaffolds must be able to withstand high compressive loads (Matsiko *et al.*, 2013). It has been previously shown that the mechanical properties of a biomaterial can have an effect on the differentiation of MSCs where scaffolds with stiff compressive modulus encouraged osteogenic differentiation and softer more compliant scaffolds supported chondrogenic differentiation (Murphy *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, for the success of tissue engineered constructs to regenerate cartilage, they should be retained at the implantation site. Not only this, constructs should allow for the integration of the regenerated tissue with the native tissue (Risbud and Sittinger 2002).

Despite the various different natural and synthetic scaffolds developed for the restoration of damaged cartilage, their clinical use is limited due to either a lack of preclinical animal studies or their risk of disease transmission and immune reaction. As a result, collagen- and HA-based matrices are the most popular natural biomaterials in clinical use nowadays, as they offer a substrate naturally found in native cartilage tissue (Iwasa *et al.*, 2009; Wylie *et al.*, 2015).

Clinically available scaffolds used for cartilage repair

Several different biomaterials have been utilized clinically for restoration of chondral defects including NeoCart (Histiogen- ics Corporation, Waltham, MA), CaReS-1S (ArthroKinetics, Esslingen, Germany), Hyalograft C (Fidia Farmaceutia, Italy), Cartipatch (TBF Tissue Engineering, Bron, France), BST-CarGel (Bio- syntech, Quebec, Canada), Bioseed-C (BioTissue Technologies, Freiburg, Germany), Chondro-Gide® (Geistlich Biomaterials, Wolhusen, Switzerland), MACI® (Genzyme, Cambridge MA), and Novocart (TETEC AG, Reutlingen, Germany) (Getgood *et al.*, 2009; Brittberg 2010). Table 1.1 represents some of the current scaffolds used for clinical trials for cartilage repair. In this study, three clinical grade scaffolds have been investigated for their potential towards chondrogenesis, namely; Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM.

Chondro-Gide®

Chondro-Gide® is a bilayered structured scaffold consisting of collagen type I and collagen type III. The external layer is a compact surface with good mechanical strength and the internal layer is a porous surface that supports cell attachment and matrix synthesis. The compact surface acts as a barrier and prevents cell leakage. *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated the excellent capacity of this scaffold for cell attachment, maintenance of chondrocyte phenotype and encapsulation of the cells within the defect (Fuss *et al.*, 2000; Gigante *et al.*, 2007). This scaffold has also been clinically applied in MACI procedure for over a decade (reviewed by Iwasa *et al.*, 2009). As per a recent systematic review on the effects of matrices on cartilage repair, it was shown that Chondro-Gide® was one of the two most common membranes used with the ACI procedure. Clinical outcomes at follow-ups have shown significant improvement in functional scores as well as regeneration of a hyaline-like repair tissue or hyaline-like and fibrocartilage repair tissue (Wylie *et al.*, 2015).

Alpha Chondro Shield®

Alpha Chondro Shield[®] is a synthetic non-woven mesh of PGA. It is intended for use in microfracture procedures as an easy-to-use, off-the-shelf and cost-effective implant. So far, only one pre-clinical animal study has been performed using this scaffold in combination with HA in an ovine chondral defect model with promising outcomes revealing cartilaginous repair tissue 3 months after transplantation (Erggelet *et al.*, 2007).

*Hyalofast*TM

HyalofastTM (Fidia Advanced Bio- polymers, Abano Terme, Italy) is a non-woven HA-based mesh intended for use as a cell-free implant for the *in situ* entrapment of MSCs for the treatment of chondral and osteochondral lesions. So far only one clinical study has been published where this scaffold was filled with BM concentrate and covered with a layer of platelet-rich-fibrin in a one-step procedure. The authors reported overall good results in terms of the functional improvement, graft integration and defect fill at a 2 year follow-up (Buda *et al.*, 2010).

Product name	Biomaterial & cell type	Trials
NeoCart (Histiogenics Corporation, Waltham, MA)	Bovine-type I collagenChondrocytes	Phase II studies completeOngoing phase III study
CaReS-1S (ArthroKinetics, Esslingen, Germany)	 Rat-tail type I collagen Cell free 	 Animal trials Case study of 15 humans No comparative human trials to date
Hyalograft C (Fidia Advanced Biopolymers, Abano Terme, Italy)	Hyaluronic acid (HA)Chondrocytes	 Multiple comparative studies with microfracture showing improved results at 5 years
Cartipatch (Tissue Bank of France)	Agarose-alginateChondrocytes	 Phase II multicentre study showed significant improvements Ongoing phase III trials comparing mosaicplasty and microfracture
BST- CarGel (Biosyntech, Quebec, Canada)	 Chitosan-glycerol phosphate buffer Cell free 	 Phase II clinical trials show improved scores for pain, stiffness and function
Bioseed C (BioTissue Technologies GmbH)	 Fibrin glue – co- polymer Chondrocytes 	 Phase III trials comparing with ACI showed improved outcome scores Caution in that ACI-only group had larger defect and longer follow-up
BioCart II (ProChon BioTech Ltd., Ness Ziona, Israel)	fibrinogen and HAChondrocytes	 Phase II clinical trial versus microfracture on-going
Chondro-Gide® (Geistlich Biomaterials, Wolhusen, Switzerland)	 Collagen type I/III Chondrocytes (MACI) and cell-free (AMIC) 	 Positive clinical improvement and MRI improvement when used as adjunct to microfracture.

Table 1.1. Scaffolds used for clinical applications. A variety of scaffolds have been developed for the restoration of cartilage defects. This table provides a description of the commercially available scaffolds, their composition, cell type they are implied to use with and the on-going or completed clinical trials. Table adapted from Ryan and Flanigan, 2013.

1.7 Current perspective

Articular cartilage is an avascular, load bearing connective tissue, which has limited intrinsic healing capacity. Chondral or osteochondral defects and OA represents major clinical challenges. As per the ICRS, there are numerous emerging therapies for restoring damaged cartilage and some of these have become available in the last five years. The microfracture procedure, ACI and osteochondral autografting procedures have the capacity to stimulate cartilage repair and restoration, but the results are highly variable. In addition, clinical outcomes may be greatly influenced by patient-specific and defect-specific factors (Harris et al., 2010). Tissue engineering approaches with chondrocytes and MSCs are now considered to be promising for the repair of articular cartilage lesions. There is a significant need for novel methods and procedures that can provide sufficient cell numbers, either using chondrocyte or MSCs, which are capable of effective cartilage repair. The wide availability of MSCs from different sources makes their use for cartilage repair an attractive option (reviewed by Mobasheri et al., 2014). Although tissue engineering approaches for cartilage repair using MSCs appear promising, the question of which cell source is the most suitable source still remains. Future efforts in cartilage tissue engineering should focus on addressing the question of which cell type and which scaffold is most suited for cartilage repair.

1.8 Aims and objectives

The overriding aim of this thesis was to investigate cell sources for cartilage repair using commercially available and clinically applicable cell scaffolds. In particular, the thesis examined the chondrogenic differentiation potential of primary human MSC populations from BM and AT in three clinical scaffolds, namely Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM. It has also examined the chondrogenic and cartilage repair potential of plastic adherent versus CD271 selected MSCs.

In order to address the overriding aim, the following objectives were determined:

- To examine *in vitro* the incorporation, growth and chondrogenic differentiation potential of culture expanded MSCs versus freshly isolated cells from BM and AT. This study has been presented in Chapter 3.
- To further examine *in vitro* the chondrogenic differentiation potential of AT MSCs selected using CD271 as a marker compared to MSCs selected on the basis of plastic adherence alone. This study has been presented in Chapter 4.
- To test *in vivo* the potential of CD271 positive AT MSCs versus AT MSCs selected on the basic of plastic adherence for cartilage repair. This study has presented in Chapter 5.

The findings of these studies have been discussed in Chapter 6.
<u>Chapter 2:</u> <u>Materials and methods</u>

2.1 Routine cell culture

2.1.1 Isolation and culture of primary bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM MSCs)

Bone marrow aspirates were kindly provided by Mr. Martyn Snow at the Royal Orthopaedic hospital, Birmingham. Following local research ethical committee (LREC) approval (LREC number 12/EE/0136 and 06/Q2601/9) and informed consent, BM was harvested from the posterior superior iliac crest of patients having a knee-reparative surgery. BM-MSCs were isolated from BM aspirates by density gradient centrifugation (Ficoll-PaqueTM Plus). Briefly, 2-5 ml of aspirate was mixed with 5ml phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (PAA, Yeovil, Somerset, UK), and was gently layered onto 5 ml of Ficoll-Paque[™] Plus (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) in 15 ml tubes (SLS, East Riding of Yorkshire, UK) and centrifuged at 900g for 20 minutes. After this time a "buffy coat" containing mononucleated cells would appear, which was harvested with sterile plastic pasteur pipettes and washed in standard culture media, i.e., Dulbecco's Modified Eagel's Medium (DMEM)/F-12, supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum, 1% (v/v) penicillin (50U/ml) and 1% (v/v) streptomycin (50µg/ml) (All from PAA, Yeovil, Somerset, UK), followed by centrifuging at 750g for 10 minutes. The resulting pellet was re-suspended in standard culture media when a viable cell count was performed by trypan blue exclusion [See section 2.1.3(b)]. These freshly isolated cells were referred to as BM mononucleated cells (BM MNCs). BM MNCs were either used directly for experiments (see section 2.3.1) or were plated out at a density of 2×10^7 cells per 75cm² flask in 20 ml of standard media and incubated at 37 °C in humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. After 24 hours the non-adherent cells were washed off gently with PBS and the adherent cells referred to as BM MSCs were subsequently culture expanded until they reached ~70% confluence. At 70% confluency the cells were passaged and sub-cultured as described below in section 2.1.3 (a).

2.1.2 Isolation and culture of primary adipose-tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells (AT <u>MSCs</u>)

Following ethical approval and informed consent (LREC number 12/EE/0136), AT MSCs were harvested from the excised infrapatellar fat pad of the knee joints of patients having a knee replacement surgery. The stromal cells were isolated from the AT as previously described (Bunnell et al., 2008). Briefly, the tissue sample was minced and treated with 0.075% collagenase type I (Sigma, Dorset, UK) for 30 minutes to one hour at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. After collagenase digestion, DMEM with 20% (v/v) FCS and 1% (v/v) penicillin (50 U/ml) and 1% (v/v) streptomycin (50 µg/ml) was added to neutralise collagenase activity and the digest was centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 10 minutes. Next, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed in DMEM containing 20% (v/v) FCS and 1% (v/v) penicillin (50 U/ml) and 1% (v/v) streptomycin (50 µg/ml) followed by centrifugation at 1200 rpm for 10 minutes. The re-suspended cell pellet was filtered through 70mm cell strainers. These cells were referred to as freshly isolated AT stromal vascular fraction (AT SVF) cells. The AT SVF cells were either used directly for experiments (see section 2.3.1) or were cultured in standard culture media at 37 °C and 5% CO2. After 24-48 hours the non-adherent cells were washed off and the adherent cells referred to as AT MSCs were subsequently culture expanded until they reached ~70% confluence. At 70% confluency the cells were passaged and sub-cultured as described below in section 2.1.3 (a).

2.1.3 (a) Passaging monolayer of cells

Monolayer of cells in tissue culture flasks were washed with PBS and incubated with 0.25% (w/v) trypsin-ethylendiamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) (PAA) for 5-10 minutes at 37°C. After cell detachment, trypsin activity was neutralised by adding an equal volume of standard culture media. This cell suspension was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1000 rpm to form a cell pellet. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was re-suspended in standard culture media. Following this a viable cell count was performed using trypan blue exclusion [see section 2.1.3(b)]. The cells were then seeded into fresh tissue culture flasks at $5x10^3$ cells/cm² or used at the desired seeding density for different experimental procedures.

2.1.3 (b) Viable cell counting by trypan blue exclusion

Trypan blue selectively stains dead cells or membrane damaged cells due to its unique property of not passing through intact cell membranes of live cells (Altman *et al.*, 1993). A 20 μ l sample of cell suspension was mixed with 20 μ l of trypan blue dye in an eppendorf tube. After this, 20 μ l of the cell sample and dye mix was loaded onto a standard improved Neubauer Haemocytometer (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, Leicester, UK). Using an X10 objective, trypan blue negative cells were counted as viable cells and trypan blue positive cells were counted as non-viable cells. The numbers of both viable and non-viable cells within an area corresponding to a volume of one square of the haemocytometer i.e. 1 x 10⁴ cells/ml were counted to give a ratio of viable to non-viable cells. The concentration of viable cells per ml in the original cell suspension was calculated by multiplying the viable cell count by 2.

2.1.3 (c) Cryopreservation of cells

Cells were harvested by trypsinisation and the cell pellet after centrifugation was re-suspended in cold 10% (v/v) dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO- Sigma) in FCS. Cryovials containing 1-2 ml per vial were then placed in a designated cryofreezing container called Mr Frosty (Genta Medical, York, UK) that contains isopropyl alcohol (IPA) which is stored at -80° C. This container allows slow freezing at the rate of -1°C/minute, the optimal rate for cell preservation. The cryovials were then stored in -80°C freezers or liquid nitrogen for long-term storage.

2.1.3 (d) Thawing of cells

Cells were recovered from -80°C storage by rapidly thawing the cryovials under a running hot tap water. 1 ml of cold standard culture media was then added to the thawed cell suspension drop wise over a minute and the resultant diluted cell suspension was transferred to a 15 ml centrifuge tube. After this, 5 ml of cold standard culture media was added drop wise over a period of 5 minutes. The cell suspension was left to stand for 5 minutes after which, a further 4 ml of cold standard culture media was added slowly over a period of one minute. The cells were subsequently pelleted by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 1,000 rpm. The pellets were resuspended in warm standard culture media, counted and then cultured at a seeding density of 5×10^3 viable cells/cm² in 37°C at 5% CO₂.

2.1.4 Mycoplasma testing of primary cells

Mycoplasma are a large group of intracellular micro-organisms that can contaminate cell cultures, and affect experimental data. They lack a cell wall and therefore are unaffected by β lactam antibiotics such as penicillin used in cell culture media, as these antibiotics target bacterial cell wall synthesis. These bacteria have the ability to induce remarkable changes in cell behaviour with regards to their growth and metabolism and can also cause chromosomal aberrations and deprivation of cell culture growth (Chernov et al., 2014). In response to this potential problem, cell cultures were screened for contamination with mycoplasma whenever a primary cell sample was acquired and then routinely during subsequent culture expansion of primary cells every 3-6 months. The EZ-PCR mycoplasma test kit protocol (Geneflow, Lichfield, Staffordshire, UK) was used as per manufacturer's instructions to screen cell cultures. For each culture tested, 0.5-1.0 ml of cell culture supernatant was transferred into a 2ml micro-centrifuge tube and cellular debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 250 g for 1 minute. The supernatant was transferred into a fresh micro-centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 15,000 g for 10 minutes to sediment any mycoplasma. The supernatant was carefully decanted and the pellet was re-suspended with 50 μ l of the Buffer Solution and mixed thoroughly with a micro-pipet and heated to 95°C for 3 minutes. The reaction mix was prepared by combining 35 μ l of H₂O, 10 μ l of reaction mix and 5 μ l of test sample in sterile PCR tubes. A positive template control was also prepared by adding 1 μ l of positive template in place of the 5 μ l sample. All tubes were placed into a DNA thermal cycler and the following parameters were set to amplify the DNA: 30 seconds at 94°C, then 35 cycles of; 30 seconds at 94°C then 120 seconds at 60°C then 60 seconds at 72°C, followed by 30 seconds at 94°C, 120 seconds at 60°C and finally 5 minutes at 72°C. The amplified products were analysed using gel electrophoresis by loading 15 μ l of the amplified PCR product and running the samples in a 2% (w/v) agarose gel at 100 volts for 1 hour, alongside a known DNA ladder of 100-1013 base pairs (HyperLadder[™] 100bp, Bioline, London, UK). The gel was then visualised under UV light and digitised images were taken using Syngene imaging software (Syngene, Cambridge, UK). The positive control for mycoplasma infection gave a visible band at 270bp. Mycoplasma positive cultures were omitted from further experimentations and have not been included in any analysis presented in this thesis.

2.2 Phenotypic characterisation of culture expanded mesenchymal stem cells

2.2.1 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry

The isolated stromal cells from BM and AT were characterised as per the guidelines proposed by the ISCT (Dominici *et al.*, 2006). The stromal cells at passage II-III were harvested by trypsinisation and suspended in PBS containing 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were then initially blocked with 10% normal human immunoglobulin (Ig) (Grifols, Cambridge, UK) prior to incubation at 4 °C with one of the following phycoerythrin (PE) conjugated mouse monoclonal anti-human antibodies: CD34, CD45, CD105 (Immunotools, Friesoythe, Germany), CD73 or CD90 (BD Biociences, UK). Non-specific fluorescence was determined by incubating cells with isotype-matched control phycoerythrinconjugated antibodies IgG2a and IgG1 (Immunotools). Immunoreactivity for each CD marker was assessed by flow cytometry using a Beckman Coulter FC500 flow cytometer and data were analysed using Kaluza® Flow Analysis Software (Beckman Coulter, High Wycombe, UK)

2.2.2 Tri-lineage differentiation of primary stromal cells

2.2.2 (a) Osteogenic differentiation

Passage II-IV MSCs were cultured in a 24-well plate and allowed to reach 70-80% confluency. The cells were then maintained under osteogenic conditions, consisting of standard culture medium supplemented with 10 nM dexamethasone (DEX), 10 mM β -glycerophosphate and 50 μ M ascorbic 2-phosphate (all from Sigma), as previously described (Bajada *et al.*, 2009) for 28 days at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Control cultures were maintained in standard culture media with carriers alone which were methanol as a control for DEX, sterile cell culture water for β -glycerophosphate and ascorbic 2-phosphate. The media was completely replaced every 2–3 days in either osteogenic or control conditions. Differentiation along the osteogenic lineage was evaluated by increased amount of alkaline phosphatase activity in differentiated cells compared to undifferentiated cells [See section 2.2.3(a)]

2.2.2 (b) Adipogenic differentiation

Passage II-IV MSCs were cultured in a 24-well plate and allowed to reach 70-80% confluence. The cells were then maintained under adipogenic conditions, consisting of standard culture medium supplemented with; 1 μ M DEX, 0.5 mM 3-isobutyl-methylxanthine (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% insulin, transferrin and selenium (ITS-X 100 pre-mix; PAA) and 100 μ M indomethacin (Sigma-Aldrich), for 28 days at 37°C and 5% CO₂ as previously described (Bajada *et al.*, 2009). Control cells were maintained in complete media with carriers alone which were methanol for DEX and IBMX, and DMSO for indomethacin. Both adipogenic and control medium were completely replaced every 2–3 days. Differentiation along the adipogenic lineage was evaluated by cellular accumulation of neutral lipid vacuoles by staining with Oil Red O [see section 2.2.3(b)]

2.2.2 (c) Chondrogenic differentiation

A cell suspension of 25×10^4 cells was prepared per 1ml of standard culture medium. 1ml of the cell suspension was transferred into a 1.5 ml eppendorf and pelleted by centrifugation at 500g for 5 minutes (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998). The standard culture medium was then replaced with chondrogenic induction medium consisting of DMEM/High glucose supplemented with 100nM DEX, 37.5μ g/ml ascorbate-2-phosphate, ITS-X and 10 ng/ml transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) (PeproTech Ltd., London, UK), and antibiotics. The control cultures were treated with DMEM/High glucose media with carriers alone which were methanol for DEX, sterile water for ascorbate-2-phosphate and 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) solution for TGF- β 1. Pellets were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 28 days. Both chondrogenic and control medium was replaced every 2-3 days, after which the differentiation status of the pellets was examined histologically by fixing the pellets, embedding and staining sections with toluidine blue histological stain [see section 2.2.3 (c)].

2.2.3 (a) Alkaline phosphatase activity for osteoblastic differentiation

Alkaline phosphatase is an extracellular enzyme which is extensively used as a marker for osteoblastic differentiation. It was detected by alkaline phosphatase mediated hydrolysis of substituted naphthol ester substrate (Naphthol AS-MX phosphate- Sigma), which liberates a naphthol derivative that in turn reacts with a diazonium salt (Fast red TR) to produce an insoluble azo dye at the site of presence of the active enzyme (Jaiswal *et al.*, 1997). A staining solution was prepared immediately prior to staining as follows; 10 mg of Fast red TR was added to 8.4 mls of 0.1M Tris HCl buffer, then 1.6 mls of naphthol was added and filtered (Whatman No.1 filter paper, Maidstone, UK) just before use. Differentiated and control cultures were fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 1 minute and then washed with Tris-Buffered Saline and Tween 20 (TBS-T) twice for 1 minute at each wash. To each well of a 24 well plate, 500 µl of staining solution was added and then the plates were incubated at room temperature for 3-5 minutes. Alkaline phosphatase activity was indicated by the formation of dark pink cellular precipitates.

2.2.3 (b) Oil Red O staining of lipid vacuoles for adipogenic differentiation

Oil Red O is a dye that binds to lipids such as triglycerides and was used as a marker to assess adipogenic differentiation as described previously (Ramírez-Zacarías *et al.*, 1992). The Oil Red O staining solution was prepared by dissolving 60mg of Oil Red O powder (Sigma) to 20 mls of isopropanol and then mixing 6 mls of this stock solution with 4mls of distilled water. This solution was then filtered using Whatman filter paper No.1. Differentiated and control cultures were washed and fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 30 minutes at room temperature. To each well of a 24-well plate was added 500 µl of staining solution and the plates were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. After this time, any unbound dye was washed off and lipid accumulation was indicated by red staining of the intracellular lipid vacuoles.

2.2.3 (c) Toluidine blue staining of extra cellular matrix for chondrogenic differentiation

Toluidine blue is an acidophilic metachromatic dye that selectively stains negatively charged tissue components i.e, sulphates, carboxylates, and phosphate radicals. In cartilage, this cationic dye binds to negatively charged sulphates attached to glycosaminoglycan chains in the extracellular matrix and gives a purple colour (Sridharan and Shankar 2012). Pellets were harvested at week 4, fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 hours and then processed in graded strengths of alcohol and paraffin embedded and sectioned at 5 micron thickness. The sections were dewaxed three times in xylene for 4 minutes each and then rehydrated in graded strengths of ethanol i.e, 100%, 96% to 70% for 2 minutes in each and then rinsed in tap water for 1 minute. Then 0.4% staining solution of toluidine blue (Sigma) in 0.2 M sodium acetate buffer (pH 3.75 to 4.25) was added to the sections for 10 minutes. After 10 minutes, the slides were rinsed in tap water for 1 minute and then briefly (10 dips) rehydrated through a graded alcohol series followed by clearing in two changes of xylene for 5 minutes in each and then mounted in Pertex mounting media (Sigma).

2.3 In vitro experimental procedures

2.3.1 Cell seeding into 3-D scaffolds

In initial experiments to assess the incorporation and growth of different cell sources in different scaffolds, the freshly isolated cells from BM (BM MNCs) and AT (AT SVF) were used directly for cell seeding following isolation and without culture expansion. The culture expanded cells from BM (BM MSCs) and AT (AT MSCs) were used after II-IV passages in culture following trypsinisation as previously described [section 2.1.3 (a)]. All cell types were seeded at a density of 5×10^4 cells per $3 \times 3 \text{mm}^2$ piece of Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® or HyalofastTM in a volume of 30 µl. The cell-seeded scaffolds were left to incubate at 37° C and 5% CO₂ to allow cell attachment and then 1ml of standard culture media was added to each well. This was done in non-tissue culture coated plates to avoid cell adhesion to the well surface. All cell-seeded scaffolds were fed with standard culture media, three times a week for a period of four weeks, unless they were used for chondrogenic assessment where they were treated with chondrogenic versus control conditions.

2.3.2. Cell viability assay

At day 1, day 7, day 14 and day 28, the cell-seeded scaffolds were assessed for cell incorporation and viability using the live/dead cell double staining kit (Sigma-aldrich). The staining solution was prepared by mixing 10 μ l of calcein AM and 5 μ l of propidium iodide (PI) in 5 mls of PBS. Calcein-AM, is highly lipophilic and cell membrane permeable. The intracellular esterase activity of viable cells hydrolysis Calcein AM that generates calcein which emits a strong green fluorescence (λ ex 490 nm, λ em 515 nm). Alternatively, the nuclei staining dye PI cannot pass through a viable cell membrane and only intercalates with nucleic acid in the nucleus. When the cell membrane is damaged, it emits red fluorescence (λ ex 535 nm, λ em 617 nm). At each of the time points mentioned, the media was replaced with 1ml of the live/dead staining solution and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

in PBS. The live and dead cells were visualised by fluorescence imaging and confocal microscopy (see section 2.3.4).

2.3.3 Cell viability scoring

At each time point, the number of live and dead cells was counted by randomly selecting two different regions within each cell-seeded scaffold. Cells were counted throughout the depth of the scaffold taking in four fields of view from when the first cell was seen to when the last cell was seen. The count of number of cells within the four fields of view was performed for each of the two regions. The cell viability data is plotted as number of cells/mm². This was calculated by measuring the area of the field of view using x10 lens and then dividing the number of cells in that field of view by the area of that field of view to calculate the number of cells/mm². If x number of cells were counted in a single field of view, the number of cells/mm² were calculated as shown below:

Area of field of view = πr^2 , where r is the radius of the field of view calculated using a 10x lens.

Cells/mm² = $\frac{x}{\pi r^2}$

2.3.4 Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy was performed with the Leica SP5TCSII microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). All images were acquired using the 10X dipping objective. The Z-stacks were acquired at a resolution of 1024×1024 pixels firing at 200Hz with a 2 µm to 3.21 µm distance between each z-stack slice depending on the scaffold. Following acquisition of the z-stack, images were compressed into a maximum projection using the Leica imaging software (Leica Microsystems DM6000B – SP5TCS).

2.3.5 Chondrogenesis of MSC-seeded scaffolds

To induce chondrogenesis of MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM, the cell-seeded scaffolds were treated with inducers of chondrogenic differentiation, consisting of DMEM-High glucose supplemented with 100 nM DEX, 1 μ M ascorbic acid (Sigma), 1% ITS-X, 10 ng/ml TGF- β 1 (PeproTech). The control cultures were maintained in DMEM-High glucose with carriers alone. These were cultured for a period of 28 days at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Pellet cultures were used as a control for chondrogenesis. In all cases, media was replaced 2-3 times per week.

2.3.6 Histological processing, paraffin embedding and sectioning of cell-seeded scaffolds

Cell-seeded scaffolds were washed twice in PBS and then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (Sigma) for 24 hours. After 24 hours, formalin was discarded and replaced with PBS. The samples were then processed by the staff at Department of Musculoskeletal Pathology, Birmingham, UK. Following tissue processing, the scaffolds were embedded in paraffin in an automated tissue embedder. Briefly, the processed cell-seeded scaffold were placed in molten wax in a metal container and then the wax was allowed to set at 4°C and a paraffin wax block was generated. The blocks were then inserted into the block holder of a standard rotary microtome and 5 micron thin sections were taken and were left to air dry for 15 minutes before incubation of the slides at 65°C for 60 minutes. The sections on glass slides were then stained using different histological stains.

2.3.7 Haematoxylin and eosin staining of paraffin embedded sections of cell-seeded scaffolds

Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining of paraffin embedded sections was performed according to the standard operating protocol from the Department of Musculoskeletal Pathology, Birmingham, UK. Briefly, sample sections were dewaxed with xylene and rehydrated in serial dilutions (100%-70%) ethanol and then washed in tap water. Sections were then stained with Ehrlich's haematoxylin, washed in tap water and differentiated in 0.3% acid alcohol (0.3% hydrochloric acid in 70% ethanol). Following this, sections were washed in running tap water and counterstained with 1% eosin, washed again with running tap water and finally dehydrated. They were then "cleared" and a coverslip was mounted onto the sections with Pertex mounting media. The H&E stain indicates nuclei with dark blue colour and cytoplasm with varying shades of pink.

2.3.8 Toluidine blue staining of paraffin embedded sections of cell-seeded scaffolds

For staining of GAGs in the cartilage ECM, 5 um thick sections were cut and deparaffinized, rehydrated through a series of graded alcohols, and stained with 0.4% toluidine blue stain as previously described [see section 2.2.3 (c)]. Toluidine blue stains cartilage GAGs purple and cytoplasm and other connective tissue varying degrees of blue.

2.3.9 Collagen type II immunohistochemistry

Collagen type II immunolocalisation was used to identify articular cartilage extracellular matrix. Antigen retrieval was performed by incubating sections in 0.1% hyaluronidase and 0.2% trypsin in hyaluronidase buffer (comprising of 0.02 M phosphate buffer at pH 7, with 77 mM sodium chloride and 0.01% BSA: all from Sigma) for 60 minutes at 37°C in a humidified chamber. After antigen retrieval, the sections were washed three times in PBS and then incubated with a solution of 6.5 µg/ml of collagen type II antibody (Clone CIIC1; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, IA) for 60 minutes at room temperature. The primary antibody was rinsed off and washed three times in PBS. Visualisation of positive collagen type II immunostaining was performed using a commercial kit (Vecta Stain Elite ABC kit, Vector labs, Peterborough, UK). Briefly, sections were incubated with a biotinylated secondary anti-mouse IgG for 30 minutes at room temperature. The sections were then washed three times in PBS and endogenous peroxidise activity was blocked using 0.3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 30 minutes at room temperature. During this incubation step, the Vecta ABC reagent (Vector labs) was prepared and was allowed to stand for 30 minutes before use as per the manufacturer's instructions. After blocking the endogenous peroxidise activity, sections were washed three times in PBS and incubated with ABC reagent for 30 minutes at room temperature. Following this, DAB chromogen (Vector labs) was added for 6-8 minutes depending on the intensity of colour desired. Sections were then washed in PBS and dehydrated through a series of ethanol (70-100%), cleared with xylene and mounted in Pertex mounting media.

2.3.10 Dimethylmethyline blue (DMMB) assay for proteoglycans

The DMMB assay protocol was adapted from the method of Farndale *et al.*, 1986 as follows: (i) the DMMB dye solution was prepared by adding 3.04g of glycine, 2.37g of NaCl and 16 mg of 1,9 DMMB to 1 litre of deionized water; (ii) the pH was adjusted to 3.0 with hydrochloric acid and the dye solution was stored in a brown bottle; (iii) 50 μ l aliquots of culture medium harvested from the cell-seeded scaffolds at day 28 were added in triplicate to a 96 well plate; (iv) 200 μ l of the DMMB dye solution was added to the culture medium and the absorbance was assessed at 540 nm immediately. Chondroitin sulphate (CS) from shark cartilage (Sigma) was used to provide a standard curve of absorbance (0-40 μ g/ml, CS) from which the GAG content in the samples of culture medium were normalized to account for the background absorbance resultant from the presence of phenol red within the medium by dissolving the standards in DMEM medium.

2.3.11. Selective isolation of MSCs using CD271 as a marker

Following ethical approval and informed consent (LREC number 12/EE/0136), a total of 61.15 grams of subcutaneous AT and 300 ml of lipoaspirate was used from waste products of an abdominoplasty procedure. The AT was minced into small pieces and treated with 0.3 U/ml of collagenase (Sigma) for two hours at 37°C. The lipoaspirate sample was digested with 0.3 U/ml of collagenase for 30 minutes on a pre-warmed orbital shaker at a rotation of 250 rpm 37 °C. After collagenase digestion, the enzyme was neutralised by adding an equal volume of DMEM/20% (v/v) FCS and 1% (v/v) penicillin and streptomycin. The digested preparation was transferred to fresh sterile conical bottom tubes and spun at 600g for 10 minutes. The resulting cell pellet (i.e, the SVF) was re-suspended in 10 ml of standard culture media and was centrifuged again at 600g for 10 minutes. The resulting cell pellet was re-suspended in 5ml standard culture media and passed through a 40µm cell strainer and a cell count was

performed using trypan blue exclusion technique. If red blood cells were observed then the cell suspension was treated with one times dilution of erythrocyte lysis buffer (pre-made-Miltenyi) constituting 1.55M NH₄Cl, 100mM KHCO₃ and 1mM EDTA at pH7.3, for 10 minutes at room temperature. The single cell suspension was then used for magnetic associated cell sorting (MACS) to isolate CD271⁺MSCs. Half of the cell suspension was culture expanded as plastic adherent MSCs (PA MSCs) at a seeding density of 5×10^3 cells/cm² in tissue culture flasks and the rest was used for CD271⁺MSCs isolation using Miltenyi Biotec's CD271 MicroBead kit with the magnetic separators (Miltenyi, Surrey, UK), as per manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a cell suspension of up to 10^7 cells was transferred to fresh sterile 15 ml conical bottom tube and centrifuged at 300 g for 10 minutes. The cells were then re-suspended in 60 µl of PBS containing 0.5% BSA and 2mM EDTA at pH 7.2 (MACS buffer). Then 20 µl of FcR blocking reagent and 20 µl of CD271 MicroBeads were added to the suspension and incubated for 15 minutes in the refrigerator (2-8 $^{\circ}$ C). The unbound MicroBeads were then washed off by adding 1-2 ml of MACs buffer and centrifuged at 300 g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated completely following centrifugation and the cells were re-suspended in 500 µl of MACs buffer. Then a MACS column was prepared by placing the column in the magnetic field of a MACS separator and rinsing with 3 ml of MACS buffer. The cell suspension of 500 μ l was applied to the column and the flow-through was collected as the negative fraction. A further 3 ml of MACS buffer was passed through the column three times to collect unlabelled cells. Then, using a plunger, 5 ml of MACS buffer was flushed through the column and the flow-through was collected as the positive fraction referred to as CD271⁺MSCs. The recovery of CD271⁺MSCs (n=2) was $0.3\% \pm 0.14\%$.



Figure 2.1. A schematic representation of the isolation of CD271⁺MSCs and PA MSCs. Adipose tissue was minced and collagenase digested, after subsequent centrifugation and washing steps, the SVF cell pellet was used for either magnetic labelling with CD271 microbeads (to generate CD271 MSCs) or directly added to tissue culture flasks to select MSCs based on their ability to adhere to plastic (PA MSCs).

2.3.12 Scanning electron microscopy

SEM was performed in collaboration with the University of Fukui, Japan and the College of Medical and Dental Sciences, Birmingham, UK using their standard operating procedures. Briefly, the cell-seeded scaffolds were washed in PBS and then fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) for 2 hours. Following this, the samples were washed in 0.1M phosphate buffer and then treated with 1% osmium tetraoxide for 1 hour. The samples were then dehydrated through a graded series of ethanol solution from 50% to 75% to 90% to 95% and finally 100% for 10 minutes in each. This was followed by treating the samples with transition solvent, t-butyl alcohol for 30 minutes in order to allow freeze-drying in the same solvent or they were dried overnight in hexamethyldisilizane (HMDS). After the samples were freeze-dried, they were coated with gold palladium and then imaged using a JSM-6390 (JEOL, Tokyo, Japan) scanning electron microscope or a Zeiss EVO10 scanning electron microscope (Carl Zeiss, Cambridge, UK).

2.4 In vivo experimental procedures

The *in vivo* study was conducted as a collaborative project with Dr Kenzo Uchida and Prof. Hisatoshi Baba along with other members of the surgical team at the Department of Orthopaedic and Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan.

2.4.1 Animal study design

A total of 36 female athymic nude rats (F344/N Jcl rnu/rnu, CLEA Japan, Inc. Tokyo, Japan) age 6 to 10 weeks and weighing 150 to 170 grams were divided into five groups as; group A with PA MSCs (n=12), group B with CD271 MSCs (n=12), group C with scaffold alone control group (n=6), group D with fibrin glue alone control group (n=4), group E with no intervention (n=2). Bilateral osteochondral defects were created in the patellar groove of each animal and either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield® was used as a cell carrier or scaffold. At 3 weeks and 6 weeks post-transplantation, animals were sacrificed to examine the extent of wound repair macroscopically (section 2.4.6) and histologically (section 2.4.8). An overall representation of the animal study design is shown in Figure 2.3.

The rats were fed a standard maintenance diet and provided water freely. The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees of Fukui University, Department of Orthopaedics and Rehabilitation Medicine approved all animal procedures (Ethical Approval Number 25-053).

2.4.2 Femoral osteochondral defect model

The rats were anaesthetized by exposure to 3% isoflurane in O_2 gas in an anaesthetic chamber and during surgery were maintained at 1.5% isoflurane in O_2 gas delivered through the inhalation mask. After sterilising the knees using 70% ethanol, a medial parapatellar skin incision was made followed by dissecting through the muscle and then exposing the knee joint by lateral dislocation of the patella. A reproducible model of osteochondral articular cartilage defect of 2 mm diameter and 1 mm depth was created in the patellar groove of each femur using a 2mm diameter surgical drill. Although the plan was to create full-thickness chondral defects, on later histological inspection it was clear that the injury penetrated beyond the subchondral bone and into the trabecular spaces on several occasions. Therefore, the study has been designated as osteochondral defect to reflect this extent of injury.



Figure 2.2. A schematic representation of the *in vivo* study design. A total of 36 athymic female rats were divided into five groups. Bilateral osteochondral defects were created in the patellar groove of each animal. For animals in groups A and B, one knee received MSCs seeded on Chondro-Gide® as the cell-carrier and the other knee received MSCs seeded on Alpha Chondro Shield® as the cell-carrier. For animals in group C, both knees received scaffolds alone. For animals in groups D and E, both knees received fibrin glue only or had no intervention, respectively.

2.4.3 Preparation of scaffolds for cell seeding

2mm diameter disks of sterile Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® were cut out using a sterile 2mm diameter punch and a hammer. After the scaffolds pieces were cut, they were UV treated on both sides for 15 minutes each to further sterilise the pieces.

2.4.4 Cell seeding and transplantation

AT derived, PA MSCs and CD271⁺ MSCs were trypsinised at confluency as previously described in section 2.1.3(a). A viable cell count was performed using the trypan blue exclusion technique and $5x10^4$ viable cells were seeded in a volume of 10 µl of standard culture medium onto the 2 mm diameter disks of each of Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® and were left to promote cell adherence and incorporation at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes before transplantation. Scaffolds were imaged using SEM to examine the extent of cell attachment at this time using separate samples. The cell-seeded scaffolds were transplanted into the osteochondral defects created in the patellar groove of each rat knee joint and then fixed in place with fibrin glue, which was allowed to set for about 10-20 seconds (Figure 2.4). The patella was then relocated and the connective tissue was sutured followed by the suturing of the skin with nylon sutures. The inhalation mask was then removed and rats were transferred back to their cage and were allowed to move freely following recovery. The rats were inspected for any signs of infection or inflammation every day.



Figure 2.3. A schematic representation of MSCs transplantation for full-thickness osteochondral defects. Both scaffolds were cut into 2mm diameter sized disks and were sterilised using UV prior to cell-seeding. Culture expanded MSCs were trypsinised and seeded onto the disk shaped scaffolds using a simple pipetting technique in a volume of 10μ l. Subsequently the cell-seeded scaffolds were transplanted into the defects and fixed in place using fibrin glue.

2.4.5 Animal sacrifice and perfusion

At 3 weeks and 6 weeks post-transplantation, 18 animals (comprising of n=6 animals in PA MSCs; n=6 animals in CD271⁺MSCs; n=3 animals in scaffold alone control group; n=2 animals i.e., n=4 knees in fibrin glue alone control group and n=1 animal i.e., n=2 knees for no- intervention control group) were sacrificed by overdoes of 3% isoflurane. Once the animals had reached the surgical plane of anaesthesia, they were placed on the surgical tray and a toe pinch-response test was conducted to determine depth of anaesthesia and to ensure that the animals were unresponsive. A 5-6 cm medial incision was made in the middle of the rib cage and the skin was separated using the blunt scissors. Then a small lateral incision was made through the integument and abdominal wall just beneath the rib cage and the liver was carefully separated from the diaphragm. The diaphragm was carefully excised using blunt scissors along the entire length of the rib cage to expose the pleural cavity. The sternum was then lifted away, carefully trimming any tissue connecting to the heart and the major vessels of the heart were clearly viewed. A small incision was then made to the posterior end of the left ventricles using sharp scissors. A 15 gauge blunt needle was passed through the cut ventricle into the ascending aorta. A haemostat was used to clamp the heart and an incision was made in the right atrium to create an outlet of flow without damaging the descending aorta. At this point, the animal was ready to be perfused. This was done by attaching the outlet port of the tube containing 4% paraformaldehyde to the needle and opening the port to allow perfusion of paraformaldehyde through the animal's heart until the outlet flow from the atrium runs clear. Once the animal was fixed, the knees were surgically opened in a similar way as at the time of surgery.

2.4.6 Macroscopic scoring

All n=18 animals at each time point were assessed macroscopically as follows. After exposing the knee joint, the defect was observed and scored macroscopically using an established macroscopic scoring system for smaller animal models (Goebel *et al.*, 2012). Table 2.1 shows the parameters used for macroscopically scoring the extent of wound repair. The degree of

repair was scored from 0 points (for the best outcome) to 4 points (for the worst outcome) for each of the parameters examined. For total scores, the points were added and the degree of best repair was represented with the lowest score from a total score of 20 (Table 2.1). Figure 2.4 shows the representative example images for each of the parameters.

Newly developed macroscopic scoring system		
Parameter	Description	Points
Colour of the repair tissue	Hyaline or white	0
	Predominantly white (>50%)	1
	Predominantly translucent (>50%)	2
	Translucent	3
	No repair tissue	4
Presence of blood vessels in the repair tissue	No	0
	Less than 25% of the repair tissue	1
	25-50% of the repair tissue	2
	50-75% of the repair tissue	3
	More than 75% of the repair tissue	4
Surface of the repair tissue	Smooth, homogeneous	0
	Smooth, heterogeneous	1
	Fibrillated	2
	Incomplete new repair tissue	3
	No repair tissue	4
Filling of the defect	In level with adjacent cartilage	0
	>50% repair of defect depth or hypertrophy	1
	<50% repair of defect depth	2
	0% repair of defect depth	3
	Subchondral bone damage	4
Degeneration of adjacent articular cartilage	Normal	0
	Cracks and/or fibrillations in integration zone	1
	Diffuse osteoarthritic changes	2
	Extension of the defect into the adjacent cartilage	3
	Subchondral bone damage	4
Total points		20

Table 2.1. Parameters utilized for macroscopic scoring of the repair tissue at 3 weeks and 6 weeks post-transplantation. The degree of repair tissue was scored 0 points for the best outcome and 4 points for the worst outcome for each of the parameters assessed. On total the worst repair would get a score of 20 points and the best repair would get a score of 0 points. Parameters adapted from Goebel *et al.*, 2012.



Figure 2.4. Representative examples for macroscopic scoring of the defects.

The images display representative examples for the scores (bottom left) for each of the parameters assessed. Image adapted from Goebel *et al.*, 2012.

2.4.7 Histology

Out of the 18 animals sacrificed at each time point, 9 animals and one knee from no intervention control group were used for histological assessment. The study was designed to use the rest 9 animals and one knee for RNA isolation, which was unsuccessful. Therefore, the extent of defect repair was only assessed qualitatively using histological assessments. The number of n's presented in Chapter 5 of this thesis for histological scoring reflects the number of knees. For histological assessment at 3 weeks and 6 weeks, the n's were, n=3 in PA MSCs group for each of the scaffolds, n=3 in CD271⁺MSC group for each of the scaffolds, n=2 for each of the scaffolds in scaffold alone control group, n=2 for fibrin glue only, n=1 knee for no intervention control group.

The animal knees were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (Sigma) for 48 hours and then fixed in K-CX decalcifying solution (FALMA, Tokyo, Japan) for 24-48 hours at 4°C. K-CX is a rapid decalcification solution constituting mainly hydrochloric acid along with other chelating agents. Following this, the rat knees were washed overnight in running tap water and then processed and embedded in paraffin wax blocks ready for sectioning. Tissue sections were cut at 5 micron thickness in a standard rotary microtome and were then stained with H&E stain and toluidine blue histological stain and collagen type II immunolocalisation as described in sections 2.3.7, 2.3.8 and 2.3.9, respectively. The tissue sections were scored for the extent of cartilage repair using a modified Wakitani scoring system as described in the section below.

2.4.8 Histological scoring

A modified Wakitani scoring system was used to assess the extent and quality of cartilage repair (Wakitani *et al.*, 1994). The original scoring system was modified to add two more parameters, to examine the presence of blood vessels and foreign body giant cells (FBGCs). Hence, the scoring system comprised of seven different parameters to examine the histological quality of the repair tissue. For each of these parameters (presented in Table 2.2), the lowest

score represented the 'best' repair and a highest score represented the 'worst' repair .The overall scores were added and then compared between groups.

Modified Wakitani Scoring system		
Parameter	Description	Points
Cell morphology	Hyaline cartilage	0
	Mostly hyaline cartilage	1
	Mostly fibrocartilage	2
	Mostly non-cartilage	3
	Non-cartilage only	4
Matrix staining (metachromasia)		
	Normal (compared with host adjacent cartilage)	0
	Slightly reduced	1
	Markedly reduced	2
	No metachromatic stain	3
Surface regularity (total smooth area compared with entire area of cartilage defect)	Smooth (> 3/4)	0
	Moderate (> 1/2–3/4)	1
	Irregular (1/4–1/2)	2
	Severely irregular (< 1/4)	3
Thickness of cartilage (compared with that of surrounding cartilage)	> 2/3	0
	1/3-2/3	1
	< 1/3	2
Integration of donor with host adjacent cartilage	Both edges integrated	0
	One edge integrated	1
	Neither edge integrated	2
Blood vessels	0-5	0
	5-10	1
	10-20	2
	20-30	3
	>30	4
Foreign body giant cells		
	0	0
	0-5	1
	5-10	2
	>10	3
Total points		21

Table 2.2. Modified Wakitani scoring system for histological assessment of repair tissue. The best repair tissue was scored 0 points and the worst repair was scored either 2,3 or 4 depending on the parameter assessed (Wakitani *et al.*, 1994).

2.4.9 Immunohistochemistry for human mitochondrial antigen staining

The sections were stained with anti-human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) antibody (Clone 113-1: Abcam, Cambridge, UK) to assess the presence of human MSCs. The sections were first immersed in citric acid-based antigen retrieval solution (Vector Labs Ltd) at pH 6 and incubated at 60°C in a waterbath overnight (minimum 12 hours). Following this antigen retrieval step, the slides were washed in three changes of PBS and incubated for 20 minutes with 2.5% horse serum (Vector Labs Ltd) at room temperature to prevent non-specific binding. The sections were then incubated with the mouse anti-HMA antibody (1:400 dilution in PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature in a humidified chamber. Following this, any unbound antibody was washed off in three changes of PBS gently and the sections were incubated with biotinylated anti-mouse IgG for 30 minutes at room temperature. The sections were washed three times in PBS and endogenous peroxidise activity was blocked using 0.3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 30 minutes at room temperature. During this incubation step, the Vecta ABC regent (Vector Labs Ltd) was prepared and was allowed to stand for 30 minutes before use as per the manufacturer's instructions. After blocking the endogenous peroxidise activity, sections were washed in three times PBS and incubated with the ABC reagent for 30 minutes at room temperature. Following this, a DAB chromogen (Vector labs) was added for 6-8 minutes depending on the intensity of colour desired. Sections were then washed and dehydrated through series of ethanol (70-100%), cleared with xylene and mounted in Pertex. Chondrogenic pellet of human MSCs was used as a positive control. Negative control included chondrogenic pellet where the primary antibody was omitted.

2.5 Statistical analysis

For results presented in Chapter 3, data was generated from a minimum of n=2 independent donors for each BM and AT. For n=2 donors, e.g., live/dead scoring for BM and AT cells in scaffolds, data was pooled from internal replicates and has been presented as means \pm standard deviation of the mean (SD). For n=3 donors, e.g., CD profiling of BM and AT MSCs, data has been presented as means \pm SEM.

For results presented in Chapter 4, with the exception of SEM, data was generated from n=2 MSC donors. This was pooled from internal replicates of GAGs analysis and has been presented as means \pm SDs.

For results presented in Chapter 5, data was generated from a single MSC donor, but from multiple animals that were included in different experimental groups. For macroscopic scoring for e.g., this varied from n=6 for PA MSC group to n=3 for scaffold alone control groups. Here, data has been presented as means \pm SDs for all groups except for the no intervention control group where only 1 animal was assessed.

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism6 software (GraphPad Software, Inc. CA, USA) for data presented within Chapter 5 only for groups that had a minimum of n=3 animals. Data presented in Chapters 3 and 4 were excluded from statistical analysis due to small sample size. For macroscopic scoring of repair tissue in different animal groups, a non-parametric one-way ANOVA in conjunction with Dunn's multiple comparison test was performed. For histological scoring of cell-treated groups A and B, a non-parametric Mann Whitney U test was performed. *P* values of <0.05 were considered significant.

<u>Chapter 3: An *in vitro* investigation of the incorporation,</u> <u>growth and chondrogenesis of freshly isolated versus</u> <u>culture expanded cells from human bone marrow and</u> <u>adipose tissue in clinically used scaffolds</u>

3.1 Background and aims

ACI is the most extensively studied and practised cell-based therapy for chondral defects. This procedure requires the expansion of autologous chondrocytes in the laboratory followed by subsequent cell transplantation in a second surgery (Brittberg et al., 1994). The long term (3-9 years) clinical outcomes of ACI has shown variable results with some studies indicating a production of durable cartilage-like repair tissue (Bartlett et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2010) and others reporting the production of fibrous cartilage (Horas et al., 2003; Roberts et al., 2003). Despite the success of a few clinical studies for the use of autologous chondrocytes, one of the main obstacles to successful cartilage repair is the de-differentiation of chondrocytes to a fibroblast-like state during cell culture expansion (Benya et al., 1978). This phenotypic shift is accompanied by alterations in collagen expression patterns with a loss of type II collagen, the major extracellular matrix collagen found in hyaline cartilage (Schnabel et al., 2002), and a decreased synthesis of proteoglycan. Although, chondrocyte redifferentiation in appropriate 3D culture systems has been shown in vitro (Benya and Shaffer 1982), there is less clear evidence of this occurring after transplantation (Roberts et al., 2003; Bartlett et al., 2005). In addition, the chondrocytes that are used for ACI are derived from biopsies of tissue obtained from the articular joint, which may be associated with some donor site morbidity (Matricali et al., 2010). Therefore, a current focus in regenerative medicine for the loss of cartilage is to identify alternative potential therapeutic cell sources that form cartilage repair tissue with the characteristics and functionality of native hyaline articular cartilage.

Several preclinical *in vitro* and animal studies have suggested that MSCs can potentially provide an alternative to autologous chondrocytes for the regeneration of cartilage as they have the ability to differentiate towards chondrogenic lineage (Mitchell and Shepard 1976; reviewed by Caplan and Goldberg 1999; Pittenger 2008). BM is the most extensively studied source of MSCs, however, AT also appears to be a good source of MSCs (Zuk *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, MSCs from AT may have certain advantages over those derived from BM,
for example, AT can be obtained by minimally invasive procedures compared to highly invasive iliac crest biopsy for BM aspirate. Also, the yield of MSCs from AT is markedly greater than other sources (Kern *et al.*, 2006; Helder *et al.*, 2007).

Whether or not AT MSCs are equivalent to BM MSCs in terms of their chondrogenic differential potential is still a matter of debate, where some studies suggested that AT MSCs may have inferior potential for chondrogenesis (Im *et al.*, 2005; Lee *et al.*, 2012) whilst others reported on the successful multilineage differentiation potential of AT MSCs that included chondrogenesis (Danišovič *et al.*, 2007; reviewed by Strem *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, it is important to consider both cell sources when examining and identifying potential therapeutic targets for cartilage repair.

In addition, the uptake of cell therapies for cartilage repair is limited, due, in part, to the perceived need for a costly phase of cell culture expansion, whether using chondrocytes or MSCs, in order to generate enough cells for transplantation. An alternative approach has recently gained some attention, where freshly isolated cells have been used in transplantation studies, as BM concentrate, without a period of culture (Giannini *et al.*, 2009; Buda *et al.*, 2010; Gobbi *et al.*, 2011). Using freshly isolated cells obviates the need for culture expansion, thereby reducing the costs of cell therapies for cartilage repair, as cells can be obtained and administered in a one-step procedure, so long as there is a suitable cell scaffold/delivery system.

This chapter has focussed on looking at a variety of potential therapeutic human cell sources in combination with three clinically useable cell carriers or scaffolds; Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and Hyalofast®. The work described was performed to assess the incorporation and viability of each of the cell types examined, and to establish the potential of the cell-seeded scaffolds for chondrogenesis. The different cell sources were cell culture expanded MSCs from BM (BM MSCs) and from AT (AT MSCs), compared with freshly isolated mononucleated cells from BM (BM MNCs) and from AT, the AT SVF.

3.2. Phenotypic characterisation of BM MSCs

Mononucleated cells isolated from BM were selected according to their ability to adhere to tissue-culture plastic and culture expanded to passage II-III. These culture expanded cells demonstrated a phenotype consistent with the three main criteria proposed by the ISCT. As show in Figure 3.1, the adherent culture expanded cells of stromal appearance differentiated down the three mesodermal lineages as indicated by positive alkaline phosphatase staining for osteogenesis, positive Oil Red O staining of lipid vacuoles for adipogenesis and metachromatic toluidine blue staining of paraffin-sections of cell pellets for chondrogenesis. The BM MSCs also showed immunopositivity for MSC specific cell-surface antigens, which were CD73, CD90 and CD105 and immunonegativity for haematopoietic markers, which were CD34 and CD45 (Figure 3.3). 2.2% \pm 0.3% cells were CD34 positive, 2.7% \pm 0.7% cells were CD45 positive, 90.4% \pm 5.1% cells were CD73 positive, 84.8% \pm 4% cells were CD90 positive, and 97.8% \pm 0.6% cells were CD105 positive, respectively. Table 3.1 shows the percentage expression of positive and negative markers in BM MSCs (n=3).



Figure 3.1. Tri-lineage differentiation potential of BM MSCs. BM MSCs differentiated into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes as indicated by the presence of alkaline phosphatase positive pink osteoblasts (osteogenesis), Oil Red O positive red lipid vacuoles (adipogenesis) and purple metachromatic staining of cartilage ECM (chondrogenesis), respectively. BM MSCs, n=3. Original magnification x10. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$.



Figure 3.2. Flow cytometry for CD-cell surface antigen characterisation of BM MSCs. The grey lined histogram shows immunopositivity for each indicated marker whereas the black histogram indicates immunolabelling with an isotype-matched control antibody. The x- axis represents the fluorescence intensity and the y-axis represents the number of cells counted. The marker M1 indicates positive events. BM MSCs, n=3.

		Percentage expression of CD markers					
Cell type	Patient ID	CD34	CD45	CD73	CD90	CD105	
BM MSCs	12-067	2.46	2.74	99.19	84.24	99.07	
	BMS 050	1.72	3.84	90.67	92.23	97.37	
	BMS 101	2.69	1.54	81.48	78.16	97.15	

Table 3.1. Immunoreactivity of BM MSCs for each CD marker. The percentage of cells that were immunopositive for CD34, CD45, CD73, CD90 and CD105 are shown. 2.2% \pm 0.3% cells were CD34 positive, 2.7% \pm 0.7% cells were CD45 positive, 90.4% \pm 5.1% cells were CD73 positive, 84.8% \pm 4% cells were CD90 positive, and 97.8% \pm 0.6% cells were CD105 positive. Data has been presented as means \pm SEM of n=3 patient donors.

3.3 The incorporation and viability of culture expanded BM MSCs versus freshly isolated BM MNCs in the three clinically relevant scaffolds

The BM MSCs (n=2) adhered and incorporated in all three scaffolds with a greater initial incorporation of cells in Chondro-Gide[®] compared to Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and HyalofastTM. Many cells were lost during cell-seeding and only $0.8\% \pm 0.1\%$ of BM MSCs retained in Chondro-Gide[®] compared with $0.5\% \pm 0.4\%$ of cells retained in Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and $0.5 \pm 0.3\%$ of cells in HyalofastTM at day 1. With time in culture after initial cell seeding, the prevalence of BM MSCs became markedly greater in Chondro-Gide[®] than the other two. The mean number of BM MSCs per mm² in Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and HyalofastTM did not appear to increase with time in culture. The morphology of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide[®] and Alpha Chondro Shield[®] appeared to be fibroblast-like whereas the cells in HyalofastTM showed a mixed morphology of elongated fibroblast-like cells and round cells. Cell viability remained greater than 95% at all-time points and in all the scaffolds. Data has been presented as means \pm SDs of 16 internal replicates pooled from two patient donors (Figure 3.3 and Figure 3.4).

Freshly isolated BM MNCs (n=2) showed poor incorporation and adhesion in all three scaffolds. The number of cells initially incorporated were lower compared to the culture expanded MSCs. With time in culture, no viable BM MNCs were seen at day 7 in Chondro-Gide® and HyalofastTM and only a few BM MNCs were seen in Alpha Chondro Shield®. Morphologically, these cells appeared round and did not show a fibroblast-like appearance. By 28 days post-seeding, no viable BM MNCs were seen in any of three scaffolds (Figure 3.5 and Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.3. Growth and viability of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of BM MSCs following live/dead staining. There appeared to be a greater prevalence of viable BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over a 28 day period. Overall BM MSCs were over 95% viable in all three scaffolds during these long term cultures. Viable cells = green fluorescence, non-viable cells = red fluorescence. BM MSCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100 µm.



Figure 3.4. The number of viable BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. The prevalence of BM MSCs was greatest in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM at all time points studied. An increase in the number of cells was seen in Chondro-Gide® only with time in culture. All data have been presented as means \pm SD of 16 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.



Figure 3.5. Growth and viability of BM MNCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of BM MNCs following live/dead staining. The prevalence of BM MNCs was poor in all three scaffolds. At day 1, a few cells were seen in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®, however no cells were seen in any of the three scaffolds during long term cultures. Viable cells = green fluorescence, non-viable cells = red fluorescence. BM MNCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 3.6. The number of viable BM MNCs in Chondro-Gide[®], Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. The prevalence of BM MNCs was greater in Chondro-Gide[®] followed by Alpha Chondro Shield[®], however during long term cultures (over 7 days), no cells were seen in any of the three scaffolds. Data has been presented as means \pm SD of 16 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.

3.4 Phenotypic characterisation of AT MSCs

Mononucleated cells isolated from the SVF of AT were selected according to their ability to adhere to tissue-culture plastic and culture expanded to passage II-III. These culture expanded cells demonstrated a phenotype consistent with the three main criteria proposed by the ISCT. As show in Figure 3.7, the adherent culture expanded cells of stromal appearance differentiated down the three mesodermal lineages indicated by the positive alkaline phosphatase staining for osteogenesis, positive Oil Red O staining of lipid vacuoles for adipogenesis and metachromatic toluidine blue staining of paraffin-sections of cell pellets for chondrogenesis. The AT MSCs also showed immunopositivity for MSC specific cell-surface antigens, which were CD73, CD90 and CD105 and immunonegativity for haematopoietic markers, which were CD34 and CD45 (Figure 3.8). $3\% \pm 1.1\%$ cells were CD34 positive, $3\% \pm 1.2\%$ cells were CD45 positive, $92.4\% \pm 4\%$ were CD73 positive, $90.4\% \pm 3\%$ cells were CD90 positive and $93.8\% \pm 2.8\%$ cells were CD105 positive, respectively. Table 3.2 shows the percentage expression of positive and negative markers in AT MSCs (n=3).



Figure 3.7. Tri-lineage differentiation potential of AT MSCs. AT MSCs differentiated into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes as indicated by the presence of alkaline phosphatase positive pink osteoblasts (osteogenesis), Oil Red O positive red lipid vacuoles (adipogenesis) and purple metachromatic staining of cartilage GAGs (chondrogenesis), respectively. AT MSCs, n=3. Original magnification x10. Scale bar = 100μ m.



Figure 3.8. Flow cytometry for CD-cell surface antigen characterisation of AT MSCs. The grey lined histogram shows immunopositivity for each indicated marker whereas the black histogram indicates immunolabelling with an isotype-matched control antibody. The x-axis represents the fluorescence intensity and the y-axis represents the number of cells counted. The marker M1 indicates positive events. AT MSCs, n=3.

		Percentage expression of CD markers						
Cell type	Patient ID	CD34	CD45	CD73	CD90	CD105		
AT MSCs	BMS 003	1.30	1.26	84.77	92.07	88.30		
	BMS 006	2.27	1.63	97.92	84.54	98.09		
	BMS 010	5.11	5.32	94.78	94.67	95.07		

Table 3.2. Immunoreactivity of AT MSCs for each CD marker. The percentage of cells that were immunopositive for CD34, CD45, CD73, CD90 and CD105 are shown. $3\% \pm 1.1\%$ cells were CD34 positive, $3\% \pm 1.2\%$ cells were CD45 positive, $92.4\% \pm 4\%$ were CD73 positive, $90.4\% \pm 3\%$ cells were CD90 positive, and $93.8\% \pm 2.8\%$ cells were CD105 positive. Data has been presented as means \pm SEM of n=3 patient donors.

3.5 A comparison of the incorporation and viability of culture expanded AT MSCs versus freshly isolated AT SVF cells in the three clinically relevant scaffolds

Similar to BM MSCs, AT MSCs (n=2) also incorporated and adhered to all three scaffolds and there was a greater initial incorporation of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM, and this difference in the prevalence of cells became increased considerably by day 7 in culture. Many cells were lost during cell-seeding and only $1.2\% \pm 0.1\%$ of AT MSCs retained in Chondro-Gide® compared with $0.7\% \pm 0.4\%$ of cells retained in Alpha Chondro Shield® and $0.6 \pm 0.4\%$ of cells in HyalofastTM at day 1. AT MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM remained 100% viable during short and long term cultures; however, the number of cells incorporated in the two scaffolds did not show an increase with time in culture. Morphologically, AT MSCs were similar in appearance to BM MSCs, which was fibroblast-like in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® where no round cells were seen and a mixed morphology of round and elongated cells in HyalofastTM alone. Data has been presented as means \pm SDs of 16 internal replicates pooled from two patient donors (Figure 3.9 and Figure 3.10).

Freshly isolated AT SVF cells (n=2) showed better incorporation into the cell scaffolds than the BM MNCs. However, only Chondro-Gide® showed cellular incorporation during long term cultures. No AT SVF cells were seen in Alpha Chondro Shield® past day 7 and in Hyalofast[™] past day 14. AT SVF cells appeared mostly round with very few fibroblast-like cells where cell incorporation was seen. No cell death was observed in any of three scaffolds (Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.9. The viability of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of AT MSCs following live/dead staining. There appeared to be a greater incorporation of viable AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over a 28 day period. Overall AT MSCs were over 95% viable in all three scaffolds during these long term cultures. Viable cells = green fluorescence, non-viable cells = red fluorescence. AT MSCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100μm.



Figure 3.10. The number of viable AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. The prevalence of AT MSCs was greatest in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM at all time points studied. An increase in the number of AT MSCs was seen Chondro-Gide® and HyalofastTM up to day 7 whereas AT MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® did not increase with time in culture. During long term cultures of day 14 and day 28, AT MSCs within all three scaffolds decreased in numbers. All data are presented as means \pm SD of 16 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.



Figure 3.11. The viability of AT SVF cells in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of AT SVF cells following live/dead staining. The was a greater prevalence of AT SVF cells in Chondro-Gide® compared to Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM. Overall AT SVF cells were over 95% viable where cell incorporation was seen and appeared mostly round. Viable cells = green fluorescence, non-viable cells = red fluorescence. AT MSCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100µm.



Figure 3.12. The number of viable AT SVF cells in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM over 28 days in culture. The prevalence of AT SVF cells was greatest in Chondro-Gide® from early time points (day 1 and day 7) through to long term cultures of day 14 and day 28. The incorporation of cells diminished in Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM after day 7 and no cells were seen in these two scaffolds during long term cultures. All data are presented as means \pm SD of 16 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.

3.6 Chondrogenesis of culture expanded MSCs in the three clinically relevant scaffolds

The initial studies on cell incorporation and growth of culture expanded versus freshly isolated cells from BM and AT demonstrated that for both cell sources, the culture expanded cells appeared to incorporate and grow better than the freshly isolated cells. Therefore, further experiments were performed to test whether these culture expanded cells (MSCs) could be induced towards chondrogenesis within the same scaffolds.

3.6.1 BM MSCs

Viability

BM MSCs (n=2) incorporated, adhered and remained viable over a 28 day culture in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under both chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions and only under +CM conditions in Hyalofast[™]. Hyalofast[™] had disintegrated under -CM conditions. Under +CM conditions, in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®, BM MSCs were mostly round with a very few elongated or fibroblast-like cells, and there was the appearance of dense networks or aggregates of cells throughout the depth of the scaffolds. In control -CM conditions, BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® were mostly individually dispersed and grew sparsely throughout the scaffold with an appearance mostly of fibroblastlike cells and a few round cells that did not aggregate together. In Alpha Chondro Shield® under -CM conditions, BM MSCs grew in a less dense network with an appearance of mainly elongated and fibroblast-like cells. The Hyalofast[™] scaffold showed clusters of cells which were mainly round in morphology with few elongated cells that grew along the length of the fibres under +CM conditions (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.13. The viability of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of BM MSCs seeded scaffolds following live/dead staining after 28 days in culture. BM MSCs remained over 95% viable under both +CM and -CM conditions in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. HyalofastTM degraded during these long term cultures under -CM conditions and viable cells were seen only under +CM conditions. BM MSCs pellet showed mostly viable cells with a few dead cells seen towards the centre of the cell pellet. BM MSCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100 μ m.

H&E staining

The haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of paraffin embedded sections of Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® revealed cell penetration throughout the scaffolds (Figure 3.14). Under +CM conditions, cells within the Chondro-Gide® scaffold showed characteristic rounded shape of mature chondrocytes embedded within ECM on the porous side of the scaffold, whereas cells within Alpha Chondro Shield® showed a more elongated morphology through the scaffold with little ECM deposition. BM MSCs showed a more elongated fibroblast-like morphology with no matrix deposition under –CM conditions in both Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. The Hyalofast[™] scaffold did not survive histological processing and this precluded further histological examination of chondrogenesis with this scaffold.

Toluidine blue staining

In +CM conditions, toluidine blue staining of Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffold showed varying degrees of ECM deposition with the greatest evidence of purple metachromatic staining seen in Chondro-Gide® consistently with the cells of mature chondrocytic (round or oval) morphologies. Although there was ECM deposition observed in Alpha Chondro Shield® seeded with BM MSCs, there were no clearly chondrocytic round-shaped cells present. BM MSCs seeded within both scaffolds under –CM conditions showed no ECM deposition (Figure 3.15).

Soluble GAG analysis

BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® secreted an average of 13 μ g/ml ± 7 μ g/ml of GAGs in +CM conditions compared to 4 μ g/ml ± 2 μ g/ml under –CM conditions. In Alpha Chondro Shield®, BM MSCs secreted an average of 7 μ g/ml ± 2 μ g/ml of GAGs under +CM and 5 μ g/ml ± 3 μ g/ml under –CM conditions. In HyalofastTM, BM MSCs secreted an average of 14 μ g/ml ± 2 μ g/ml of GAGs under +CM conditions. In HyalofastTM, BM MSCs secreted an average of 14 μ g/ml ± 2 μ g/ml of GAGs under +CM conditions.

conditions. BM MSCs when cultured as pellets secreted lower levels of GAGs ($3\mu g/ml \pm 2.5 \mu g/ml$) than BM MSCs seeded within the three scaffolds under +CM conditions (Figure 3.16).



Figure 3.14. The incorporation and distribution of BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic conditions (-CM). Representative haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of BM MSCs seeded scaffolds is shown. Purple haematoxylin staining of cell nuclei was observed in both the scaffolds under both +CM and –CM conditions. In Chondro-Gide®, cells showed a characteristic rounded morphology, indicative of chondrocytes, under +CM conditions. In Alpha Chondro Shield®, cells were seen along the length of the fibres with little evidence of ECM deposition under +CM conditions. In both scaffolds under –CM conditions, cells showed dispersed penetration through the scaffolds. BM MSCs, n=2. Original magnification x10. Scale bar =100 μm.



Figure 3.15. GAG deposition by BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue stained BM MSCs seeded scaffolds after 28 days in culture. BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® showed greater GAG deposition than BM MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM conditions. BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide® showed a differentiated morphology of distinct round cells (arrowed) embedded within the metachromatic purple ECM under +CM conditions only. BM MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® did not show distinct round shaped cells and the purple metachromatic staining was less marked. BM MSC pellet and a section of human knee cartilage were used as controls. BM MSCs, n=2. Insets represents x10 image of the same sample; scale bar = 100 μ m. Original magnification x40; scale bar = 25 μ m.



Figure 3.16. GAG secretion by BM MSCs within Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and (-CM) conditions. BM MSCs seeded within all three scaffolds secreted greater levels of GAGs in +CM conditions compared to -CM conditions. BM MSCs seeded within these scaffolds also secreted greater levels of GAGs than the cell pellet alone. BM MSCs seeded within Alpha Chondro Shield® secreted lower levels of GAGs compared to BM MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide® and HyalofastTM. Data shown are means \pm SD of 6 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.

Collagen type II immunostaining

As shown in Figure 3.17, BM MSCs under +CM conditions deposited an ECM that was immunopositive for collagen type II. This immunopositive staining for collagen type II was absent under –CM conditions. There was marked and more widespread immunopositivity for collagen type II within the porous layers of Chondro-Gide® than in Alpha Chondro Shield®. Some positive staining for collagen type II was seen in the pellets of BM MSCs; however, it was not as marked as that seen in Chondro-Gide®. The strongest collagen type II staining was seen in sections of human articular cartilage used as controls.



Figure 3.17. Collagen type II immunolocalisation in BM MSCs seeded Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and nonchondrogenic conditions (-CM). BM MSCs within Chondro-Gide® scaffold under +CM conditions showed collagen type II immunostaining staining of ECM (black arrowed). BM MSCs within Alpha Chondro Shield® showed no obvious mature chondrocytes, however localised darker brown staining was seen around the scaffold fibres (black arrowed). BM MSCs pellets showed some positivity for collagen type II. The positive control was a tissue section of human knee articular cartilage and the negative control was the same section with the omission of primary antibody. BM MSCs, n=2. Original magnification x40. Scale bar = 25 μ m.

Viability

AT MSCs (n=2) remained viable in all three scaffolds under +CM conditions and −CM conditions, with the exception of HyalofastTM that has degraded under −CM conditions. Similar to BM MSCs, AT MSCs appeared condensed and formed confluent layers of cells in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® only under +CM conditions. AT MSCs appeared to be individually dispersed under −CM conditions. Morphologically, cells appeared round within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® with a few fibroblast-like cells seen under +CM conditions compared to a greater number of elongated and fibroblast-like cells in round shaped nodules which were evenly distributed throughout the scaffold under +CM conditions only (Figure.3.18).

H&E staining

H&E staining of sections of the cell-seeded scaffolds revealed cell penetration throughout the scaffold in Chondro-Gide® in both +CM and –CM conditions. In Alpha Chondro Shield®, AT MSCs were seen in clusters along the length of the scaffolds mostly under +CM conditions (Figure 3.19). Similar to the studies of BM MSCs, the Hyalofast[™] scaffold did not survive the histological processing and therefore no histological analyses were possible for this scaffold.

Toluidine blue staining

ECM deposition was observed to varying degrees under +CM conditions with the greatest amount of deposition observed in Chondro-Gide®, followed by Alpha Chondro Shield®. AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® showed localised areas of purple metachromatic toluidine blue staining only under +CM conditions. Under –CM conditions no ECM deposition was seen in both the scaffolds (Figure 3.20).

Soluble GAG analysis

AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® secreted an average of 18 µg/ml ± 10 µg/ml of GAGs in +CM conditions compared to 4 µg/ml ± 3 µg/ml under –CM conditions. In Alpha Chondro Shield®, AT MSCs secreted an average of 12 µg/ml ± 6 µg/ml of GAGs under +CM and 4 µg/ml ± 4 µg/ml under –CM conditions. In HyalofastTM, AT MSCs secreted an average of 14 µg/ml ± 7 µg/ml of GAGs under +CM conditions compared to 6.5 µg/ml ± 1 µg/ml of GAGs under +CM conditions. Similar to the GAG studied on BM MSCs, AT MSCs when cultured as pellets secreted lower levels of GAGs (1 µg/ml ± 0.8) µg/ml than AT MSCs seeded within the three scaffolds under +CM conditions (Figure 3.21).



Figure 3.18. The viability of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic -CM) conditions. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of AT MSCs seeded scaffolds following live/dead staining after 28 days in culture. AT MSCs remained over 95% viable under +CM and -CM conditions in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. HyalofastTM degraded during these long term cultures under -CM conditions and viable cells were seen only under +CM conditions. AT MSCs pellet showed mostly viable cells with a few dead cells seen towards the centre of the cell pellet. AT MSCs, n=2. Scale bar = 100 µm.



Figure 3.19. The incorporation and distribution of AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide®, and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic conditions (-CM). Representative images are shown of H&E stained AT MSCs seeded scaffolds. Purple haematoxylin staining of cell nuclei was observed in all the scaffolds under both +CM and –CM conditions. In Chondro-Gide®, AT MSCs distributed evenly through the porous side of the scaffold. In Alpha Chondro Shield® cells were seen along the length of the fibres with evidence of ECM deposition in +CM conditions only. AT MSCs, n=2. Original magnification x10. Scale bar =100µm.



Figure 3.20. GAG deposition by AT MSC in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue stained AT MSCs seeded scaffolds after 28 days in culture. AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® showed greater GAG deposition as indicated by more marked purple metachromatic staining in Chondro-Gide® than in Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM conditions only. AT MSC pellet and a section of human knee cartilage were used as controls. AT MSCs, n=2. Insets represents x10 image of the same sample; scale bar = 100 μ m. Original magnification of each image is x40; scale bar = 25 μ m.



Figure 3.21. GAG secretion by AT MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM under chondrogenic (+CM) and (-CM) conditions. AT MSCs seeded within all three scaffolds showed greater levels of GAGs under +CM conditions compared with -CM conditions. AT MSCs seeded within the three scaffolds also secreted increased levels of GAGs than the cell pellet alone. The highest amounts of GAGs were secreted by AT MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide®. Data shown are means \pm SD of 6 internal replicates pooled from n=2 patient donors.

Collagen type II immunostaining

In contrast to the results seen with BM MSCs, there was little immunopositivity for collagen type II observed in Chondro-Gide® seeded with AT MSCs under +CM or –CM conditions. however, some collagen type II immunopositivity was seen around the fibres of the Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffolds seeded with AT MSCs, but only under +CM conditions. The cell pellet of AT MSCs under +CM conditions stained weakly for collagen type II. The strongest staining was observed in the sections of human articular cartilage used as controls (Figure 3.22).



Figure 3.22. Collagen type II immunolocalisation in AT MSCs seeded in Chondro-Gide®, and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. AT MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® showed localised collagen type II under +CM conditions only. AT MSCs cell pellet did not stain strongly positive for collagen type II. The positive control was a section of human knee articular cartilage and negative control is the same section with the omission of primary antibody. AT MSCs, n=2. Original magnification of each image is x40. Scale bar = $25 \mu m$.
3.7 Discussion

MSCs have been studied as a potential alternative cell source to chondrocytes for repairing damaged cartilage for over a decade now (reviewed by Csaki *et al.*, 2008). Preclinical animal studies suggest the potential of various different cell types or sources to address this need (reviewed by Leijten *et al.*, 2013). This study was therefore designed to examine the *in vitro* incorporation, viability and chondrogenesis of several different cell sources in three clinical and commercially available scaffolds or cell carriers used for cartilage repair.

In this set of experiments, it was demonstrated that culture expanded BM MSCs and AT MSCs incorporate, adhere and proliferate more readily in clinical scaffolds tested than freshly isolated cells from both cell sources. Both BM and AT MSCs showed the best incorporation within Chondro-Gide® scaffolds where the cells attained a fibroblast-like morphology and showed penetration throughout the scaffolding network. This bilayer structured scaffold has a porous side for cell attachment and a compact side to prevent cell leakage. It has been the scaffold of choice for MACI since 2004 (Haddo et al., 2004). One reason for the greater incorporation of cells within Chondro-Gide®, which is composed of type I and type III porcine collagen, could be the ability of MSCs to bind to the scaffold fibres through the integrin based family of receptors, specifically the $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrins, which is the major receptor for type I collagen and other fibril-forming collagens (Jokinen et al., 2004). The $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrin has also been shown to increase ECM synthesis and turn over which is fundamental to chondrogenesis (Riikonen et al., 1995). Alpha Chondro Shield® on the other hand is a synthetic scaffold made of pure PGA. The scaffold is an absorbable non-woven fleece that lacks specific cellular adhesion sites and therefore, the adhesion of cells to the scaffold is aided by extracellular molecules adsorbed on the polymer surface from the serum in culture medium (Lamba et al., 1998). Previous studies have utilized integrin binding peptide domains like Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) coatings to facilitate further adhesion of cells to the polymer based scaffolds (Kim and Park 2006; Huang et al., 2010). However, in this study Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffold was used uncoated primarily because it is commercially available as an easy-to-use, off-the-shelf product for cartilage repair therapies. Hyalofast[™] is made of fibres of HA. HA is the major component of the ECM of articular cartilage and therefore, may serve as a successful scaffold for articular cartilage regeneration (Solchaga *et al.*, 1999). MSCs are known to express CD44 which is a membrane bound receptor with HA (Peach *et al.*, 1993; Goodison *et al.*, 1999; Cristino *et al.*, 2005). Migration of cells across a HA substrate via CD44 cell-mediated movement has previously been reported (Thomas *et al.*, 1992). It has also been shown that interaction of CD44 with HA can cause cells to aggregate or round up (Green *et al.*, 1988), which is consistent with the findings in this chapter, however MSCs showed a mixed morphology of round and elongated cells when grown in the Hyalofast[™] scaffold.

MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and Hyalofast[™] remained 100% viable during short and long term cultures but within Chondro-Gide[®], some cell death was observed after 14 days in culture. This could be due to excessive proliferation of MSCs and subsequent cell death due to nutrients and oxygen deprivation.

AT MSCs showed a markedly greater incorporation in all of the scaffolds compared to BM MSCs. If AT MSCs are consistently shown to incorporate into cell scaffolds more readily than BM MSCs (with further donor analysis), there may be reasons for such differential incorporation. Strioga *et al* suggested that AT MSCs have a higher proliferative capacity and express greater levels of CD49d (integrin α 4 β 1) and CD54 (intercellular adhesion molecule-1, ICAM-1) compared to BM MSCs (Strioga *et al.*, 2012). The α 4 β 1 integrins have long been known to play a role in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions (Takada *et al.*, 1989). One of the ligands for α 4 β 1 is fibronectin (Wayner *et al.*, 1989), which is present in media containing serum (Swisher and Rannels 1997). The increased retention of AT MSCs compared to BM MSCs within Chondro-Gide® may be due, in part, to the adsorption of serum proteins especially to the collagen fibers (Mosher *et al.*, 1991); hence this may enhance the adhesion of AT MSCs via α 4 β 1 integrins. On synthetic polyglycolic acid scaffold, the cells adhere by nonspecifically adsorbing proteins from their microenvironment (Lamba *et al.*, 1998). Fibronectin being one of the key ligands for $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrins may play a key role in facilitating increased AT MSCs adhesion to the PGA fibres. For the HA based, HyalofastTM scaffold, the increased adhesion of AT MSCs may likely be due to ability of $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrins to act as a co-receptor with CD44 (Verfaillie and Benis, 1994;Acharya *et al.*, 2008)

Structural properties of the scaffold like porosity, pore size, fibre thickness, topography as well as scaffold stiffness can directly influence cell behaviour and colonization (reviewed by Lawrence and Madihally 2008). It has been previously shown by Nuernberger et *al*, that collagen based fleeces supports a polygonal morphology of chondrocytes (Nuernberger et al., 2011) whereas the HA based scaffold supports both elongated and round morphology of chondrocytes. They showed that in scaffolds with widely spaced fibres and thickness less than the cell diameter, chondrocytes adopt a spherical morphology whereas, if the scaffold fibres are tightly packed and have thickness more than the cell diameter then the cells adopt a polygonal or elongated morphologies (Nuernberger et al., 2011). The findings of this chapter are consistent with the study by Nuernberger and co-workers in that the fibrous Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and HyalofastTM, the cells showed a mixed morphology of both round and elongated cells depending on whether the surface the cells adhere to diameter larger the cell type or not. These findings have also been observed by Schlegel and co-workers in 2008 using chondrocytes. The chondrocytes developed a fibroblast-like morphology when seeded onto a type I and type III collagen scaffolds whereas cells on a HA scaffold showed a mix of round and elongated morphologies (Schlegel et al., 2008). The molecular mechanism behind this difference in morphologies of the same cell type grown on different scaffolds remains unknown.

The differences in MSC proliferation that were observed between the scaffolds may be attributed to their differing degradation rates. BM MSCs proliferated in Chondro-Gide® throughout the time course of the experiments. Conversely, there was no increase in the BM MSC numbers in Alpha Chondro Shield® or HyalofastTM with time in culture. The collagens in Chondro-Gide® are slow to degrade compared to PGA fibres in Alpha Chondro Shield®, which begins to lose mechanical integrity over a 12 day period (Vunjak-Novakovic *et al.*, 1998) and degrades to about 50% of its initial mass by 28 days (Freed *et al.*, 1994). In the absence of matrix production or a blood-clot (generated *in vivo*), it is likely that the fast degrading Alpha Chondro Shield[®] does not provide a suitable environment for cells to grow and proliferate and, therefore, this results in cell loss. In addition, whilst PGA based scaffolds provide a good substrate for chondrocyte adhesion, cell proliferation during long term cultures may be significantly affected by acidic products during scaffold degradation (Rampichová *et al.*, 2010). The HyalofastTM scaffold disintegrated during long term cultures and this loss of scaffold integrity may have contributed to the lack of growth of cells within the scaffold.

Although MSCs generally adhered and incorporated in all three scaffolds, overall the cell retention in all three scaffolds was poor, with only ~ 0.1-1.5% of the MSCs that were seeded attached to the scaffolds following a 2 hour incubation period. The effectiveness of the cell-seeding process is a crucial step, which could have a significant effect on the number of cells delivered to a cartilage lesion and thus the clinical outcome of any cell therapy. For MACI procedures, chondrocytes pre-seeded onto Chondro-Gide® have been grown for four weeks prior to implantation (Behrens et al., 2006), whereas ACI procedures have been adapted to pre-seed Chondro-Gide® with chondrocytes for a recommended time of only 10-15 minutes prior to transplant (Steinwachs et al., 2012). Studies have previously examined the use of spinner flasks to encourage more efficient cell seeding in porous scaffolds (Vunjak-Novakovic et al., 1998) or of using polymerizing gels as a delivery vehicle for rapid cell seeding within collagen sponges (Radisic et al., 2003). However, in this study, a simple cell-seeding strategy was utilized to replicate the clinical setting, with the results probably representing the best case scenario given an incubation period that is in excess (2 hours) of what would be clinically acceptable for a one-step procedure. The small size of the scaffolds used in this study may have contributed to the low incorporated cell numbers as they could have been of insufficient size to initially retain the total volume of medium used for cell-seeding. Hence, cells may have

initially leaked out of the scaffolds into the wells. Although a potential weakness of the study, this scenario may commonly reflect the clinical situation.

The clinical use of MSCs is limited due to the need for culture expansion to generate enough cells for transplantation. Therefore, current research is focusing on developing one step procedures for the use of freshly isolated population of MSCs as a potential for cartilage repair. In this *in vitro* study, freshly isolated and minimally manipulated populations of cells from the BM or the SVF cells of AT showed poor incorporation and growth within all three scaffolds compared to the culture expanded MSCs. The BM mononucleated cell prep is a heterogeneous population containing differentially matured haematopoietic cells, endothelial cells and MSCs. Literature suggests that only 0.01-0.00001% of the BM mononucleated cell population are MSCs (Caplan 1994). This could explain the poor incorporation and growth of the adherent cell population of MSCs from BM MNCs as the cell count used for cell-seeding experiments constituted all the mononucleated cells and not just the MSCs. Although these finding suggest that BM MNCs may be unsuitable as a cell source for one-step cell-based therapies for cartilage repair, a study conducted on human patients by Buda et al, using HyalofastTM and BM concentrate fixed into the defect with platelet-rich fibrin, reported clinical improvement at 2 years follow up with 80% graft integration and 70% defect fill (Buda et al., 2010). Similarly, Gobbi et al used Chondro-Gide® with clotted BM concentrate to fill chondral defects that were subsequently covered with fibrin glue, and also reported promising results at 2 years follow-up, with MRI showing good defect fill and histology of biopsy samples showing hyaline like tissue (Gobbi et al., 2011). These clinical studies demonstrate that *in vitro* experiments are not very effective in mimicking the situation *in vivo* and therefore, preclinical animal studies maybe required to better examine the potential of different cell sources for the treatment of cartilage defects.

The AT SVF cells incorporated in all three scaffolds during short-term cultures, but only proliferated in Chondro-Gide®. Morphologically, these cells appeared mostly round with very few fibroblast-like cells in Chondro-Gide®. Alpha Chondro Shield® showed very few elongated cells that did not survive through the long-term cultures. This may have been due to disintegration of scaffold structure, which was initially observed at day 14. It has been shown previously that cell-free PGA scaffolds after 28 days of incubation in PBS lose their integrity (Li and Mak 2005). AT SVF cells in Hyalofast[™] were mostly of a round morphology with very few elongated cells present and the scaffold was observed also to have disintegrated during longer-term cultures. The problem of scaffold disintegration was one of the limitations of the experiments conducted in this study. The scaffolds used are all commercially available and are stored in air tight packs ready to use clinically. In this study, the scaffolds were exposed to atmospheric gases and studies have shown that this can alter the chemical and mechanical properties of the PGA based scaffolds particularly (Ma and Langer 1995) This was only observed for Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and Hyalofast[™] scaffold and not for Chondro-Gide® scaffold. Nonetheless, AT SVF cells showed better incorporation than BM MNCs over all. This may be because there is a greater number of MSCs present within the SVF of adipose tissue. Literature suggests that the MSC population in the uncultured SVF usually amounts to up to 3% of the cells present, and this is 2,500-fold more than the frequency of stem cells in BM (Fraser et al., 2008).

Therefore, the first part of this chapter suggests that the use of culture expanded MSCs from both BM and AT is favoured over that of freshly isolated cells with Chondro-Gide® proving an effective cell delivery system.

The next part of this chapter focussed on looking at chondrogenic differentiation potential of BM and AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® only. As stated earlier, the Hyalofast[™] scaffold disintegrated during long term culture and therefore, no chondrogenic assessment was possible for this scaffold. BM MSCs seeded on Chondro-Gide® showed distinct rounded shape of mature chondrocytes that deposited matrix rich in type II collagen which was not seen in Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM conditions. AT MSCs on the other hand showed round shaped cells with matrix deposition in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® and localised positivity of type II collagen was observed within these two scaffolds under +CM conditions. BM MSCs showed an increased amount of metachromatic staining with toluidine blue under +CM conditions in both Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® compared to-CM conditions. This result was consistent with the soluble GAG biochemical analysis. The soluble proteoglycans secreted into the media were analysed as an indirect measure of ECM synthesis because it has been shown that the removal of proteoglycans from the ECM in cartilage explant cultures is in balance with the deposition of newly synthesised GAGs (Ilic et al., 1995). In addition, another study has shown that the kinetics of GAG release into culture media by chondrocytes seeded within agarose, collagen and PGA constructs were comparable to the GAGs found in the cell-seeded constructs (Mouw et al., 2005). The reason why elevated soluble GAGs were seen in HyalofastTM scaffold may be due to disintegration of fibres of HA and loss of potential ECM and their subsequent binding to DMMB dye. Overall, AT MSCs produced similar amounts of GAGs in the three scaffolds and secreted comparatively more GAGs in response to chondrogenic inducers as compared to controls when seeded within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. With time in culture the PGA based scaffold Alpha Chondro Shield® and HA based scaffold Hyalofast[™] will degrade faster than the collagen based scaffold Chondro-Gide® resulting in a potential of loss of deposited matrix with continuous media changes in culture (Ma and Langer 1995, Lee and Lee 2006). Therefore, it was expected that cells within Alpha Chondro Shield® and HyalofastTM may show decreased levels of soluble GAGs at day 28 compared to Chondro-Gide®. Chondro-Gide® proved to be a superior scaffold for BM MSC differentiation as determined by the increased expression of type II collagen under +CM conditions. In Alpha Chondro Shield® there was a weak and nonhomogeneous ECM staining which is likely due to the relatively short culture period of 28 days. PGA based scaffolds have previously been successful for *in vitro* chondrogenesis of chondrocytes after 40 days in culture (Freed et al., 1993).

In summary, the major findings of this chapter suggest that culture expansion of MSCs and the use of the Chondro-Gide® scaffold is favoured as an effective cell-delivery

system. Furthermore, BM MSCs successfully underwent chondrogenesis when seeded within Chondro-Gide® scaffold and AT MSCs when seeded within Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffold. Therefore, further studies in this thesis have focused on Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffolds and MSCs rather than freshly isolated cells.

Furthermore, the work presented in this chapter indicates the need for culture expansion of MSCs for chondrogenesis; however, further work is also needed to optimise the incorporation and growth of mononucleated cells, possibly by selectively purifying the MSC progenitors from heterogeneous cell populations present.

<u>Chapter 4: An *in vitro* investigation of the chondrogenic</u> <u>differentiation potential of adipose tissue derived CD271</u> <u>selected MSCs versus standard plastic adherent MSCs in</u> <u>clinically used scaffolds</u>

4.1 Background and aims

BM has been shown to be a promising source of MSCs for cartilage repair with evidence of hyaline like cartilage formation both *in vitro* (Johnstone *et al.*, 1998; Jakobsen *et al.*, 2010) and *in vivo* (Im *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2011). In comparison only a few studies support the use of MSCs derived from AT for their use in cartilage repair. From the previous chapter, even with the limited donors investigated, the MSCs from BM were a better source for *in vitro* chondrogenesis as indicated by the deposition of ECM that was positive for collagen type II. However, there are advantages to using AT as a source of MSCs as it has been shown that up to 3% of the SVF population are MSCs which is 2500 fold more than the frequency of MSCs in the BM (Fraser *et al.*, 2008). In addition, the method for AT harvest is simple and less invasive than that for BM, and in most orthopaedic surgical procedures often regarded as medical waste.

AT is a suitable reservoir of potentially regenerative cells as this tissue is abundant and easy to harvest in human adults. The cells present within the SVF of AT can be easily isolated by tissue digestion and subsequent washings and centrifugation steps, followed by the outgrowth of a plastic adherent fraction referred to as AT MSCs (Zuk *et al.*, 2001). The SVF is a highly heterogeneous population consisting of AT MSCs along with many other cell types such as preadipocytes, adipocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, monocytes, macrophages and lymphocytes (Baer & Geiger 2012). The plastic adherent population of MSCs has been extensively characterised for their expansion and differentiation potential; however, the reproducibility of the methods used is questionable due to the heterogeneity of the starting population and the variability in the stem cell recovery among different donors and different tissue sources (Van Harmelen *et al.*, 2004; Schipper *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, there is a need to investigate and identify pre-culture markers that would ensure higher purity than that obtained by selection based on adherence to plastic.

A focus of current research in regenerative medicine has been examining the potential of defined subpopulations of MSCs from the heterogeneous pool of cells from different tissue sources towards a defined lineage (Jones et al., 2002; Psaltis et al., 2010; Rada et al., 2011; Churchman et al., 2012). CD73 and CD105 are shown to have better chondrogenic differentiation potential compared to the unsorted population of MSCs (Arufe et al., 2009; Rada et al., 2011). In this regard, CD271 has been described as a specific markers for the purification of BM MSCs (Álvarez-Viejo 2015). CD271 is the low affinity nerve growth factor receptor (LNGFR), also referred to as P75 neurotrophin receptor (P75NTR) and belongs to the tumor necrosis factor superfamily (Thomson et al., 1988). CD271 has been extensively studied as a suitable marker for selectively isolating MSCs from BM (Quirici et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2006; Jones and McGonagle 2008). However, only a single study has so far reported on the enhanced capacity of CD271⁺ MSCs from AT towards chondrogenesis. In a study by Quirici and co-workers, CD271⁺MSCs were isolated from AT using magnetic microbeads and were compared for their clonogenicity and differentiation potential with PA MSCs (Quirici et al., 2010). They showed that CD271⁺ MSCs had a greater differential potential towards osteogenesis, adipogenesis and chondrogenesis compared to PA MSCs (Quirici et al., 2010). The results reported in the previous chapter of this thesis are indicative of inferior chondrogenic potential of AT MSCs when compared to BM MSCs. The heterogeneity in the SVF of AT may contribute to this effect.

Therefore, the rationale of this chapter was based on the hypothesis that CD271⁺MSCs have an increased chondrogenic differentiation potential compared to the MSCs isolated by plastic adherence. The aim of this chapter was to investigate the chondrogenic differentiation potential of MSCs selected on the basic of plastic adherence (PA MSCs) versus CD271 selected MSCs (CD271⁺MSCs) in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® *in vitro*. These two scaffolds were selected because Hyalofast[™] had not been suitable for longer term (28 days) *in vitro* analysis.

4.2 The morphology and growth of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions

No major differences were observed between PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs with regards to their morphology. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs grew in dense networks in Chondro-Gide® compared to MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® where they grew along the length of the fibres and appeared to be less dense. Under +CM conditions only, at day 7, cell condensation and aggregation was seen to some extent in Chondro-Gide® (Figure 4.1) whereas, such condensations and aggregations were seen to a greater extent in Alpha Chondro Shield® (Figure 4.2) compared to the flattened morphology of cells observed in both the scaffolds under –CM conditions.

Also from SEM, it appeared that MSCs in Chondro-Gide® (Figure 4.3) and Alpha Chondro Shield® (Figure 4.4) proliferated under both +CM and –CM conditions. At day 28, MSCs appeared denser and covered the entire surface of the scaffold. Therefore, it was difficult to assess any morphological differences between PA and CD271⁺MSCs especially in Alpha Chondro Shield® where the scaffold was covered entirely by a dense layer of cells and matrix. In Chondro-Gide®, a few round-shaped cells were distinguishable in both PA and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds under +CM conditions only.



Figure 4.1. The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative SEM images are shown of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® 7 days post-seeding. Both PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs were seen as flattened cells and rounded cells under +CM and –CM conditions, however cell aggregation into clumps was most prominently seen under +CM conditions. Arrows represent cells and asterisks represent scaffold fibres. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=1 matched donor.



Figure 4.2. The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield[®] under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative SEM images are shown of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield[®] 7 days post-seeding. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs were mostly condensed and aggregated around the fibres of PGA under +CM conditions and appeared to be flat and elongated along the length of the fibres under –CM conditions. Arrows represent cells and asterisks represent scaffold fibres. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=1 matched donor.



Figure 4.3. The morphology of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative SEM images are shown PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® 28 days post-seeding. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs showed dense growth patterns under +CM and – CM conditions. Under +CM conditions a mixed morphology of flat and round cells was seen with both PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSC seeded Chondro-Gide®, whereas under –CM conditions the cells appeared mostly flat and spread. Red arrows represent flat cells and yellow arrows represent round cells. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=1 matched donor.



Figure 4.4. The morphology of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative SEM images are shown PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® 28 days post-seeding. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs showed dense growth patterns under +CM and -CM conditions. The entire scaffold surface was covered with a dense growth of cells. Due to the extent of the growth of cells, any morphological differences were difficult to assess. Asterisks represent fibres of the scaffold. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=1 matched donor.

4.3 The viability of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM and -CM conditions

No cell death was observed in either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield® scaffolds under any condition. A homogenous distribution of PA and CD271⁺MSCs was seen throughout the depth of the scaffolds after live/dead staining and 3D confocal microscopy. Similar to the SEM results, cell aggregations were observed in Chondro-Gide® under +CM conditions. Under –CM conditions, MSCs appeared to be individually dispersed and showed a fibroblast-like appearance. No cell aggregation was observed under –CM conditions in Chondro-Gide® (Figure 4.5).

In Alpha Chondro Shield®, a dense growth of MSCs was observed under +CM conditions whereas under –CM conditions the cells grew sparsely along the length of the fibres and appeared elongated along the length of the fibres. No cell aggregation was observed under – CM condition (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.5. The viability of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs following live/dead staining after 28 days in culture. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs remained viable at day 28 in both scaffolds and under +CM and -CM conditions. MSCs under +CM conditions appeared aggregated and grew in dense layers compared to -CM conditions where they appeared to be individually dispersed throughout the depth of the scaffold. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=2 matched donor. Scale bars = 100 µm.



Figure 4.6. The viability of PAMSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative confocal z-stacks are shown of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs following live/dead staining after 28 days in culture. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs remained viable at day 28 in both scaffolds and under +CM and -CM conditions. MSCs under +CM conditions appeared more dense and aggregated along the length of the fibres compared to -CM conditions, where they grew in less dense layers and appeared elongated along the length of the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield®. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=2 matched donors. Scale bars = 100 μ m.

4.4 Histology of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM and -CM conditions

There were no differences observed with regards to the distribution and growth of PA and CD271⁺ MSCs in both the scaffolds. H&E staining of sections of Chondro-Gide® demonstrated that PA and CD271⁺MSCs were evenly distributed throughout the porous side of Chondro-Gide® scaffold under both +CM and –CM conditions; however, it was difficult to distinguish between matrix derived from MSCs and the collagenous fibres of the scaffold (Figure 4.7).

In Alpha Chondro Shield[®], H&E staining revealed the distribution of cells to be homogenous under both +CM and –CM conditions; however, ECM deposition was only seen under +CM conditions and cells were individually dispersed under –CM conditions (Figure 4.8).

Toluidine blue staining of proteoglycans revealed a greater amount of ECM staining in Chondro-Gide® seeded with CD271⁺MSCs only compared to no ECM deposition seen in Chondro-Gide® seeded with PA MSCs or with both cell types under –CM conditions (Figure 4.9). Similarly, in Alpha Chondro Shield® stained with toluidine blue, ECM deposition was only seen with CD271⁺MSC seeded scaffolds compared to PA MSCs seeded scaffolds. No ECM deposition was seen in MSC-seeded Alpha Chondro Shield® under –CM conditions (Figure 4.10).

Pellets of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs both showed purple metachromatic staining with toluidine blue. However, an ECM positive for collagen type II was only seen in the pellets of CD271⁺MSCs (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.7. The incorporation and distribution of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of H&E stained PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded Chondro-Gide® after 28 days in culture. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs were evenly distributed along the porous side of the scaffold as indicated by the purple haematoxylin staining of the cell nuclei. The collagen fibres of the scaffold stained pink with eosin. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=2 matched donors. Original magnification x10. Scale bar =100 μ m.



Figure 4.8. The incorporation and distribution of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of H&E stained PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded Alpha Chondro Shield® after 28 days in culture. Dark purple haematoxylin staining of cell nuclei was observed under both +CM and –CM conditions. Under +CM conditions, little ECM deposition was observed with either PA MSCs or CD271⁺MSC seeded scaffolds. Under –CM conditions, cells appeared dispersed homogenously along the length of the scaffold fibres. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=2 matched donors. Original magnification x10. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



Figure 4.9. GAG deposition by PA MSCs and CD271 MSCs in Chondro-Gide® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue stained PA MSCs and CD271 $^+$ MSCs in Chondro-Gide® after 28 days in culture. GAG deposition was indicated by toluidine blue metachromasia only in CD271 $^+$ MSC seeded scaffolds under +CM conditions. A round morphology of cells (black arrowed) was also observed under +CM condition within the CD271 $^+$ MSC seeded scaffolds. No GAG deposition was seen with PA MSCs seeded scaffold under +CM conditions or in PA MSC or CD271 MSC seeded scaffolds under – CM conditions. PA MSCs and CD271 $^+$ MSCs, n=2 matched donors. Insets represent images at x10 magnification, scale bar = 100 µm. Original magnification x40, scale bar = 25µm.



Figure 4.10. GAG deposition by PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield® after 28 days in culture. GAG deposition was observed only in CD271⁺MSC seeded scaffolds with a few round shaped cells (black arrowed) seen only under +CM conditions. No matrix deposition was seen with PA MSCs seeded scaffold under +CM conditions or in PA MSC or CD271⁺MSC seeded scaffolds under -CM condition. Black asterisks represent the fibres of the scaffold. PA MSCs and $CD271^{+}MSCs$, n=2 matched donors. Insets represent images at x10 magnification, scale bar = 100 μ m. Original magnification x40, scale bar = 25 μ m.



Figure 4.11. GAG deposition and collagen type II immunolocalisation in PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs pellets under chondrogenic (+CM) conditions. GAG deposition was seen in PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs pellets as indicated by the metachromatic staining of these pellets after toluidine blue staining (top panels). Collagen type II immunolocalisation was observed in the ECM deposited by CD271⁺ cell pellet only (bottom panels). The positive control was a section of human knee articular cartilage and negative control is the same section with the omission of primary antibody. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=2 matched donors. Insets represent images at x10 magnification, scale bar = 100 μ m. Original magnification x40, scale bar = 25 μ m.

4.5 Glycosaminoglycan (GAG) production by PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM and –CM conditions

There was greater GAG production by PA and CD271⁺MSCs in both of the scaffolds tested under +CM conditions compared with –CM conditions (Figure 4.12). PA MSCs secreted 9.9 \pm 4.0 µg/ml of GAGs within Chondro-Gide® and 4.5 \pm 2.6 µg/ml of GAGs within Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM conditions, compared to 2.8 \pm 2.1 µg/ml of GAGs within Chondro-Gide® and 2.8 \pm 2.3 µg/ml of GAGs within Alpha Chondro Shield® under –CM conditions.

CD271⁺MSCs secreted 10 \pm 1.0 µg/ml of GAGs within Chondro-Gide® and 3.0 \pm 1.2 µg/ml of GAGs within Alpha Chondro Shield® under +CM conditions, compared to 1.7 \pm 1.0 µg/ml of GAGs within Chondro-Gide® and 1.7 \pm 1.4 µg/ml of GAGs within Alpha Chondro Shield® under –CM conditions.

There was no marked difference in levels of GAG production between the two cell types in either of the scaffolds or conditions.



Figure 4.12. GAG secretion by PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® under chondrogenic (+CM) and non-chondrogenic (-CM) conditions. Greater levels of GAGs were secreted by both cell types and in both scaffolds under +CM conditions compared to -CM conditions. The GAG levels secreted by PA MSCs and CD271 MSCs were similar and no major differences were seen in between the two cell types with either scaffold. Data has been presented as means \pm SD of 6 internal replicate values pooled from n=2 matched patient donors.

4.6 Discussion

There were no differences seen between PA and CD271⁺ MSCs from AT with regards to the cell morphology and growth. However, cell condensation and aggregation was observed under +CM conditions as early as day 7 in all cell-seeded scaffolds. Cell-rounding and aggregation may be indicative of chondrogenesis, which involves condensation of the MSCs followed by their differentiation into chondrocytes and subsequently chondrocyte maturation and ECM production during long-term cultures (Goldring et al., 2006). CD271⁺ MSCs showed greater chondrogenesis in both scaffolds compared to PA MSCs as indicated by greater metachromatic staining by toluidine blue. In addition, collagen type II immunostaining was more intense in CD271⁺ MSC pellet compared to the pellets of PA MSCs. These finding are consistent with a recent report in which synovium derived CD271⁺MSCs showed significantly more intense staining of collagen type II at day 28 of chondrogenesis compared to cells selected with CD73 or CD106 (Arufe et al., 2010). Arufe and co-workers suggested that the enhanced chondrogenic potential of CD271⁺MSCs could be attributed to the higher coexpression of CD105 marker in the CD271⁺ cells compared to CD73⁺ cells (Arufe et al., 2010). CD105, also known as endoglin, is a TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 3 co-receptor and has been shown to modulate TGF- β signalling in endothelial cells (Dijke *et al.*, 2008) and chondrocytes (Parker et al., 2003). Since TGF-B is one of the most important factors for the induction of chondrogenesis in MSCs, CD105 co-expression linked to TGF- β signalling may induce greater chondrogenesis in CD271⁺MSCs (Jiang et al., 2010).

With regards to GAG secretion, greater levels of GAGs were secreted by both PA and CD271⁺MSC seeded scaffolds under +CM conditions only. In this set of experiments an increase in GAG synthesis of PA MSCs was observed without much evidence of ECM deposition within the scaffold. The higher levels of GAGs released into the media allied to the toluidine blue staining of the ECM may be indicative of the inferior chondrogenesis of PA MSCs compared to CD271⁺ MSCs. This may be associated with the low levels of collagen type II deposition by the PA MSCs, as proteoglycans interact with the fibrillar collagens (as

reviewed by Roughley 2006). In the absence of collagen type II in the ECM deposited by PA MSCs, greater levels of GAGs may be released into the medium. In contrast, CD271⁺MSCs deposit ECM that contained more collagen type II. Therefore, in addition to retaining the GAGs within the ECM, GAG secretion is also observed in the media.

Overall, limited or poor chondrogenesis was observed in these cell-seeded scaffolds as indicated by a sparse and irregular deposition of ECM. The limited chondrogenesis observed in these set of experiments maybe influenced by the age of the donors. The samples used were isolated from patients in the age range of 53 to 69 years old. BM MSCs harvested from patients with advance stage OA with an age range of 59-82 years have a reduced chondrogenic activity (Murphy *et al.*, 2002). A recent study also investigated the age-related effect of AT MSCs on their expansion and differentiation and reported that MSCs from older patients (over 46 years of age) had significantly reduced expressions of aggrecan and collagen type II compared to young donors of under 30 years of age (Choudhery *et al.*, 2014). It was also reported that the frequency of CD271⁺ cells in AT decreases with age, however the osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation potential of these cells was not affected by age (Duran *et al.*, 2013).

The results reported in this chapter indicate that CD271⁺MSCs may have a greater chondrogenic potential than that of PA MSCs. Therefore, selectively isolating CD271⁺ cells from the heterogeneous SVF into a purified population may increase their capacity towards chondrogenic differentiation. In the case of PA MSCs, which are a more heterogeneous population that includes those cells expressing CD271 during early cultures, the chondrogenic capacity of these CD271⁺ cells within the PA MSC population may be limited due to the presence of other subpopulations of cells and because the expression of CD271 is lost during culture expansion (Jones *et al.*, 2002). The results presented within this chapter are limited due to *in vitro* analysis of chondrogenesis of cell-seeded scaffolds. Further work would require testing these cell-scaffolds combinations *in vivo* to adequately examine the potential of selectively isolated cells for cartilage repair.

<u>Chapter 5: An *in vivo* investigation of the chondrogenic</u> <u>differentiation potential of adipose tissue derived CD271</u> <u>selected MSCs versus standard plastic adherent MSCs in</u> <u>clinically used scaffolds</u>

5.1 Background and aims

Studies have shown that selectively isolating MSCs from the heterogeneous population of cells from BM, AT and synovium can enrich for cells with improved differentiation potential towards mesenchymal lineages compared to the unsorted population (Arufe *et al.*, 2010; Kuçi *et al.*, 2010; Rada *et al.*, 2011; Álvarez-Viejo 2015; Cuthbert *et al.*, 2015). In the previous chapter, it was shown that selectively isolated CD271⁺MSCs from the SVF of AT deposited an ECM that was positive for collagen type II compared to PA MSCs in pellet cultures.

Similar findings of CD271⁺ MSCs having a higher chondrogenic potential than PA MSCs have been reported in vitro (Quirici et al., 2010; Arufe et al., 2010); however, only one study has reported that CD271 MSCs have a better chondrogenic potential in vivo (Mifune et al., 2012). Mifune et al, reported that CD271 selected MSCs from BM are a superior cell source for cartilage repair compared to PAMSCs in a rat model of a full-thickness chondral defect (Mifune et al., 2012). No studies have been published to date, regarding the chondrogenic potential of adipose derived CD271⁺ MSCs versus PA MSCs in vivo. Therefore, and on the basis of the results shown in Chapter 4, the rationale for the experiments reported in this chapter was to test whether CD271⁺ MSCs from AT may also have a greater potential for repairing cartilage compared to PA MSCs from AT in vivo. This involved creating osteochondral defects in athymic female rats and transplanting the defects with human AT derived CD271⁺MSCs or PA MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. Athymic nude rats are a common model for xenograft research as they lack functionally mature T cells and therefore are deficient in initiating T cell-mediated immune responses (Rolstad 2001). Transplantations of the cell scaffolds alone were also performed to assess tissue repair and scaffold biocompatibility in the absence of MSCs.

5.2 Incorporation of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs within Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® prior to transplantation

SEM demonstrated that PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs had incorporated within the two scaffolds within 30 minutes of seeding. This time point was used to ensure cell adhesion prior to implantation of the cell-seeded scaffolds into the defects created simultaneously in the athymic rats. There was no difference between the prevalence of PA MSCs and CD271 MSCs within the two scaffolds. Both cell types showed firm attachment to the fibres of collagen in Chondro-Gide® and the fibres of polyglycolic acid in Alpha Chondro Shield® 30 minutes after incubation. There was evidence of penetration of cells into the inner parts of both the scaffolds. Morphologically, the cells still appeared round with more cells showing flat adherent morphology in Chondro-Gide® than in Alpha Chondro Shield®. Scaffolds without cells were used as controls (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. The morphology of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs in Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® after 30 minutes of incubation prior to transplantation. Representative SEM images are shown of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs (red arrowed) were seen to be attached to the fibres of collagen (Chondro-Gide®) and PGA (Alpha Chondro Shield®). Asterisks display the fibres of the scaffolds. Insets show high magnification images of flattened cell morphology in Chondro-Gide® and round cell morphology in Alpha Chondro Shield®, scale bar = 10 μ m. The scaffold alone controls are also shown. PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs, n=1 matched donor. Scale bar = 50 μ m.

5.3 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: gross morphology at 3 weeks post-transplantation

Gross examination of the defects at 3 weeks post-transplantation revealed a well-integrated glossy white repair tissue in the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) seeded within both Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. In the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) with either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield®, a depressed repair tissue with distinct defect edges was observed. Moreover, the border area of the defect was clearly distinguishable and depressions were obvious in the defects of the control groups of scaffolds alone (group C), fibrin glue alone (group D) and the no intervention control (group E) (Figure 5.2).

The scoring system used to macroscopically assess cartilage repair considers five main parameters; (i) the colour of the repair tissue; (ii) the presence of blood vessels in the repair tissue; (iii) the surface of the repair tissue; (iv) filling of the defect; (v) the degeneration of adjacent host cartilage. An overall score of 0 represents the best outcome indicative of complete repair and an overall score of 20 represents the worst outcome indicative of incomplete repair. As per this macroscopic scoring system, defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) had a significantly better repair compared to the defects in group A, C and D (p value < 0.05; Dunn's multiple comparison test). Defects in group B were scored at 5.2 ± 1.3 with Chondro-Gide® and 5.0 ± 2.5 with Alpha Chondro Shield®, whereas, defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) were scored at 11.2 ± 3.1 with Chondro-Gide® and 9.8 ± 1.7 with Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Defects transplanted with scaffolds alone (group C) were scored at 11.6 ± 4.0 with Chondro-Gide® and 10.6 ± 1.5 with Alpha Chondro Shield® alone. The fibrin glue (group D) and the no intervention (group E) control groups were scored at 11.5 \pm 3.7 and 13.5 \pm 0.7, respectively. All data has been presented as means \pm SDs of n=6 for defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B), n=3 for defects transplanted with scaffold alone (group C), n=4 for defects that were treated with fibrin glue only (group D) and n=2 for defects that had no intervention (group E). Group E was excluded from the statistical testing due to a small sample size (see also Figure. 5.3).

For each of the parameters examined for the macroscopic assessment of the defects, an individual score of 4 represents the worst repair and an individual score of 0 would represent the best repair (Table 5.1). The repair tissue in the CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals (group B) was predominantly white coloured, whereas the repair tissue present in the defects in the other groups were predominantly translucent coloured. Less than 25% of the repair tissue in group B showed the presence of blood vessels, whereas 25 -75% of the repair tissue in all of the other groups contained blood vessels. A smooth surface of the repair tissue was only seen in group B and with either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield®. The defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) or scaffold alone (group C) had fibrillated surface of repair tissue, whereas those transplanted with fibrin glue only (group D) or had no intervention (group E) showed an incomplete new repair tissue that had not fully resurfaced the defect. The defect fill was in line with the adjacent cartilage in the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with either of the scaffolds. In Alpha Chondro Shield® alone (group C) over 50% of the defect depth was filled. In the defects transplanted with PA MSCs with either scaffolds (group A), or Chondro-Gide[®] alone (group C) or the fibrin glue alone control group (group D) and the no intervention control (group E), less than 50% of the defect was filled with a repair tissue. Few fibrillations or cracks were seen at the integration zone of defects with the host tissue for group B with either scaffold, whereas the defects of group A, C and D showed degenerative changes at these integration sites with the extension of the defect into the adjacent host cartilage.



Figure 5.2. Gross morphology of the defects at 3 weeks post-transplantation. Representative images are shown of the gross morphology of the defects in groups A, B, C, D and E. Gross examination of defects at 3 weeks revealed glossy white and wellintegrated repair tissue in the animals that received CD271⁺MSCs (Group B) and not in the animals that received PA MSCs (Group A), or scaffold alone (Group C), or fibrin

No

(Group E)

glue alone (group D), or had no intervention (Group E).


Figure 5.3. Macroscopic scores for cartilage repair at 3 weeks post-transplantation. The macroscopic mean scores of the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) were significantly better than the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) with Chondro-Gide® (p value = 0.015), and Alpha Chondro Shield® (p value = 0.043) as well as the defects that received scaffold alone (group C) (p value = 0.040 for Chondro-Gide® and p value = 0.039 for Alpha Chondro Shield®). The defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) also showed significantly lower scores than defect treated with fibrin glue alone (group D) (p value = 0.022 for Chondro-Gide® and p value = 0.032 for Alpha Chondro Shield®). Data are presented as means \pm SD of n=6 for group A and B, n=3 for group C, n=4 for group D and n=2 for group E. Group E was excluded from statistical analysis due to a small sample size. p value <0.05; Dunn's multiple comparison test. Dotted lines indicate significance for Chondro-Gide® and intact lines indicate significance for Alpha Chondro Shield®.

	PA MSCs (Group A)		CD271 ⁺ MSCs (Group B)		Scaffold alone (Group C)		(Group D)	(Group E)
	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield [®]	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield [®]	Fibrin Glue alone	No intervention
Colour of the repair tissue	2.8± 0.4	2.3 ± 0.5	1.3± 0.5**	1.3 ± 0.8	2.7 ± 0.6	2.3± 0.6	2.3 ± 0.5	3.0±0.0
Blood vessels in the repair tissue	2.2 ± 1.2	1.7 ± 0.8	1.2 ± 0.8	0.8± 0.8*	2.7 ± 1.2	2.7 ± 0.6	2.8± 1.0	2.5±0.7
Surface of the repair tissue	2.3 ± 1.0	2.2 ± 0.4	1.0 ± 0.0	1.2± 0.4*	2.3 ± 1.2	2.0± 0.0	2.5± 0.6	3.0±0.0
Defect fill	1.5 ± 0.9	1.7 ± 0.5	0.5 ± 0.5*	0.5 ± 0.5	2.3± 0.6	1.3± 0.6	2.0± 1.2	2.0 ± 0.0
Degeneration of adjacent cartilage	2.3 ± 0.8	2.0 ± 0.6	1.2 ± 0.4	1.3 ± 0.5	1.7± 1.2	2.3 ± 0.6	2.0± 0.8	3.0±0.0

Table 5.1. Macroscopic scores for the individual parameters of cartilage repair at 3 weeks post-transplantation. The colour of the repair tissue in the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) had a significantly lower score than that of the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) using Chondro-Gide® (p value = 0.006). Blood vessel scores were significantly lower in the macroscopic repair tissue of the defects of group B with Alpha Chondro Shield® compared to the defects treated with fibrin glue alone (group D) (p value = 0.041). The surface of the repair tissue was also significantly better in these defects of group B as compared to the defects of group A with Alpha Chondro Shield® only (p value = 0.039) and defects of group E (p value = 0.009. Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=6 for group A and B, n=3 for group C, n=4 for group D and n=2 for group E). Group E was excluded from statistical analysis due to a small sample size. p value <0.05; Dunn's multiple comparison test. Bold text indicates statistical significance with asterisks displayed on the lower scores.

5.4 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: overall histological outcomes at 3 weeks post-transplantation

5.4.1 H&E staining

A greater extent of defect fill was observed in the defects transplanted with CD271 MSCs (group B) with Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield® compared to defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) (Figure 5.4.1). A firm attachment of the scaffold to the underlying trabecular bone was seen in all cases when transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield®. However, Chondro-Gide® was present in two out of the three animals that received CD271⁺MSCs (group B) and one out of the three animals that received PA MSCs (group A). For gross morphology scoring, Chondro-Gide® was seen in all the animals; however there was no Chondro-Gide® present in several animals following processing of the rat knees for histology. Therefore, histological scoring of defect fill included any repair tissue present within the defect. Defects transplanted with scaffold alone (group C) were covered with the scaffolds and were infiltrated with a cell-rich fibrous tissue in the case of Alpha Chondro Shield®. The development of a cell-rich fibrous layer overlying the trabecular bone was seen in the defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) and the defects that had no intervention (group E) (Figure 5.4).

5.4.2 Toluidine blue staining

The repair tissue within the defects that received PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) when transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield® and the repair tissue at the scaffold-bone interphase in the case of Chondro-Gide® showed localised toluidine blue metachromasia. The cell-rich fibrous tissue in the defects transplanted with scaffolds alone (group C) or fibrin glue only (group D) or the no intervention control (group E) also showed no metachromasia with toluidine blue dye (Figure 5.5).

5.4.3 Collagen type II immunostaining

Localised collagen type II immunostaining was seen at the scaffold-bone interphase in the CD271⁺ MSC group (group B) transplanted with Chondro-Gide® and within the repair tissue of defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs and Alpha Chondro Shield®. No collagen type II production was seen in the repair tissue of the defects of all the other groups (Figure 5.4.3).

5.4.4 Overall histological scores

The extent of repair was evaluated in each group using a modified Wakitani's score (Wakitani et al., 1994). As described in the methods section of this thesis, the scoring system is composed of eight parameters with a score range from 0 to 20 points, where a lower score represented a superior repair tissue and a higher score represented a poor repair tissue. The mean score of the repair tissues for CD271⁺MSC transplants in Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield® were lower than the scores for PA MSCs transplants in the respective scaffolds (CD271⁺MSCs: Chondro-Gide $\mathbb{B} = 9.3 \pm 1.5$, Alpha Chondro Shield $\mathbb{B} = 9.2 \pm 1.0$; PA MSCs: Chondro-Gide[®] = 12.3 ± 1.6 , Alpha Chondro Shield[®] = 12.3 ± 0.8). Defects treated with scaffolds alone (group C) were scored at 12.5 ± 0.7 with Chondro-Gide® and 15.5 ± 0.7 with Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Defects in the control groups treated with either fibrin glue alone (group D) or the control groups that had no intervention (group E) were scored at 14.5 \pm 0.7 and 16.5, respectively. The histological scores were consistent with the macroscopic scores where defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs in combination with either cell-carrier obtained the lowest overall scores. All data has been presented as means \pm SDs of n=3 for PA MSCs group (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs group (group B) and n=2 for each of the control groups i.e. scaffold alone group (group C) and fibrin glue only group (group D). Data for no intervention control group (group E) has been presented as the overall score of n=1 animal. There were no statistical differences between any of the groups (See also Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.4. Histology of rat knee tissue sections at 3 weeks post-transplantation. Representative images are shown of the H&E stained tissue section of the osteochondral defects. A greater extent of defect fill was observed in defects transplanted with $CD271^{+}MSCs$ (group B) with both scaffolds as compared to the defects in group A, C, D or E. Original magnification x4. All scale bars = 200 µm. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



No intervention (Group E)

Figure 5.5. GAG deposition in the defects at 3 weeks post transplantation. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue stained tissue sections of the osteochondral defects. GAG deposition was seen in PA MSCs (group A) and $CD271^{+}MSCs$ (group B) and no obvious metachromatic staining indicative of GAG content was seen in the three control groups (group C, D and E). Original magnification x4. All scale bars = 200 µm. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



Figure 5.6. Collagen type II immunolocalisation in the defects at 3 weeks posttransplantation. Localised collagen type II immunoreactivity was seen in the defects treated with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) in the fibrous layer between Chondro-Gide® and the underlying bone, and in the repair tissue around the fibres in Alpha Chondro Shield®. No type II collagen was seen within the repair tissue of the defects of groups A,C,D and E. Original magnification x4. All scale bars = 200 μ m. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



Figure 5.7. Histological scoring of the repair tissue at 3 week post-transplantation. The defect transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) using Alpha Chondro Shield® as the cell-carrier achieved a lower overall histological score; however, no significant differences were observed in the histological scores between the cell-treated groups. Data are presented as means \pm SD n=3 for group A and B, n=2 for group C and D, n=1 for group E). The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare histological scores of group A versus group B for each cell-carrier. Group C, D and E were excluded from statistical analysis due to the small sample size.

5.5 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: detailed histological outcomes at 3 weeks post-transplantation

Differences observed in the various histological parameters that were assessed have been described below and are summarised in Table 5.2:

5.5.1 Cell morphology

Cell morphology was graded from 0 for round or oval shaped cells (i.e. chondrocytic in shape) to 4 points when no round or oval shaped cells were present within the repair tissue. The repair tissue of the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with Alpha Chondro Shield[®] only showed the presence of both round-shaped cells and elongated fibroblast-like cells in the repair tissue indicative of fibro-cartilaginous repair tissue; whereas those with Chondro-Gide[®] showed elongated spindle shaped cells indicative of mostly non-cartilaginous repair tissue. Cell infiltration within Chondro-Gide[®] was limited, whereas Alpha Chondro Shield[®] allowed greater cell infiltration. Cell morphology in the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with scaffolds alone (group C) with both Chondro-Gide[®] and Alpha Chondro Shield[®] and of the defects in fibrin glue only group (group D) and the no intervention control group (group E) were also indicative of mostly non-cartilaginous repair tissue (Figure 5.8).

5.5.2 Matrix staining

The extent of metachromatic staining by toluidine blue in the repair tissue was compared with the adjacent normal cartilage. Toluidine blue metachromasia was reduced compared to the adjacent cartilage in the defects of animals transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) and with both scaffolds, but it was more markedly reduced in the defects of the control groups, scaffold alone (group C), fibrin glue alone (group D) and no intervention control (group E). None of these groups showed metachromatic staining equivalent to the surrounding host cartilage.

5.5.3 Surface regularity

Surface regularity referred to the defect surface that appeared smooth compared to the whole defect surface. Defects transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) using Alpha Chondro Shield® showed a moderately smooth surface of the repair tissue compared to an irregular surface of the repair tissue seen in the control groups of scaffold alone (group C) and no interventional group (group E). Defects in PA MSC transplanted animals (group A) and CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals (group B) with Chondro-Gide® also showed an irregular surface of the repair tissue. In contrast, defects in the fibrin glue control group (group D) showed a smooth surface of repair tissue.

5.5.4 Thickness

Cartilage thickness was scored from 0 (over two/third of the defect filled with a repair tissue) to 2 (less than 1/3 of the defect was filled with a repair tissue). Defect fill was greater in the defects transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with Alpha Chondro Shield®, which showed over 2/3 repair of the defect depth compared with all the other groups. In the scaffold alone control group (group C), between 1/3-2/3 of the defects was filled with a repair tissue with either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield®. Defects in the fibrin only group (group D) and the no intervention control group (group E) showed less than 1/3 of the defect was filled with a repair tissue within the defect was scored for thickness (Figure 5.9).

5.5.5 Integration of the repair tissue with the host adjacent cartilage

Integration of repair tissue with adjacent host tissue was scored from 0 (no gap between the repair tissue and host cartilage) to 2 (incomplete integration of the edges of the repair tissue). Both the PA (group A) and the CD271⁺MSCs (group B) treated groups and the scaffold alone control group (group C) showed a good integration of the scaffold with the surrounding host cartilage when transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Since Chondro-Gide[®] was either absent or delaminated within the defects, the score for the defects transplanted using Chondro-

Gide[®] was higher than those transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. In defects where Chondro-Gide[®] was absent, the repair tissue within the defect was scored for thickness. Due to a poor defect fill, the defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) or had no intervention (group E) scored the worst as the surface of the repair tissue was not seen to be integrating with the adjacent host cartilage.

5.5.6 Vascularisation within the defect

The presence of blood vessels was graded from 0 to indicate the absence of blood vessels to 4 to indicate the presence of 30+ blood vessels within the repair tissue. Defects transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) showed greater vascularisation within the defect compared to the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with either of the scaffolds. Defects treated with Alpha Chondro Shield® alone (group C), or with fibrin glue only (group D) or those that had no intervention (groups E) showed enhanced vascularisation within the repair tissue compared to the cell treated groups. The repair tissue of the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) using Chondro-Gide® had less vascularisation compared those that were transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield®. The blood vessels were observed in the fibrous tissue layer in between Chondro-Gide® and the underlying trabecular bone and no blood vessels were seen within Chondro-Gide® (Figure 5.10).

5.5.7 Foreign body giant cells

Only the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield[®] showed an inflammatory response where FBGCs were seen to be engulfing the fibres of the scaffold. In comparison, defects transplanted using Chondro-Gide[®] showed no FBGC reaction. Also, no FBGC reaction was observed in the repair tissue of the defects treated with fibrin glue alone (group D) or no intervention control (group E) (Figure 5.11).

	PA MSCs (Group A)		CD271 ⁺ MSCs (Group B)		Scaffold alone (Group C)		(Group D)	(Group E)
	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield [®]	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield [®]	Fibrin Glue alone	No intervention
Cell morphology	2.5± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	2.7 ± 0.3	2.0± 0.0	3.0± 0.0	3.0± 0.0	3.5 ± 0.7	4.0
Matrix staining	1.8± 0.3	1.5± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	1.7 ± 0.3	2.5± 0.5	2.0± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	2.5
Surface regularity	1.7 ± 0.8	1.3± 0.3	1.7± 0.8	1.5 ± 0.5	2.0± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	1.5± 0.7	2.5
Thickness	1.5 ± 0.5	1.0± 0.5	0.5 ± 0.9	0.0± 0.0	1.0± 0.0	1.0± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	2.0
Integration	1.8± 0.3	0.7± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.5	0.3 ± 0.3	0.5 ± 0.7	0.5± 0.7	2.0± 0.0	2.0
Blood vessels	3.0± 1.0	3.7± 0.6	1.0± 1.0	1.0± 1.0	2.0± 0.0	4.0± 0.0	4.0± 0.0	4.0
Foreign body giant cells	0.0± 0.0	2.2± 0.6	0.0± 0.0	2.3 ± 0.8	0.0± 0.0	2.5± 0.7	0.0± 0.0	0.0

Table 5.2. Histological scores of the individual parameters at 3 weeks posttransplantation. Defects of group B showed better overall defect fill as indicated by low scores of thickness and little overall vascularisation as indicated by a lower score for blood vessels. Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=3 for group A and B, n=2 for group C and D and n=1 for group E). No significant differences were observed in the individual histological scores of the cell-treated groups. Groups C, D and E were excluded from statistical analysis due to a small sample size. The Mann Whitney U test was used to test for statistical significance.



Figure 5.8. Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the difference in cell morphology of the repair tissue. The image on the left demonstrates the cell morphology occasionally observed in defects treated with PA MSCs (group A) in combination with Alpha Chondro Shield[®], i.e. showing mostly round or oval shaped cells in the repair tissue (red arrowed) with a few elongated cells (black arrowed); whereas defect of the no intervention control group (group E) showed mostly flat elongated cells in the repair tissue. Yellow asterisks represent the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Scores have been presented as means \pm SD for n=3 in group A and overall score of n=1 for group E. Original magnification x40. Scale bar = 25µm.



Group D (Fibrin glue alone control) Mean score = 2.0 ± 0.0



Figure 5.9. Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the difference in the defect fill or thickness of the repair tissue. The image on the left demonstrates a near-complete defect fill where over 2/3 of the defect depth was filled with a repair tissue in the case of $CD271^+MSCs$ with Alpha Chondro Shield® (group B). In contrast, the image on the right demonstrates an incomplete defect fill with less than 1/3 of the defect depth filled with a repair tissue in the case of the fibrin glue alone control group (group D). Black dotted lines indicates the depth of the defect and red dotted single brackets indicates the depth of the repair tissue. Scores have been presented as means \pm SD of n=3 in group B and n=2 in group D. Original magnification x10. Scale bar = 100 µm.



Figure 5.10. Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the differences in the extent of vascularisation of the repair tissue. The image on the left demonstrates a low number of blood vessels (red arrowed) in the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with Chondro-Gide® (group B) compared to the number of blood vessels (red arrowed) in the defects treated with Alpha Chondro Shield® alone (group C) (right image). Blood vessels were observed in the fibrous tissue between the scaffold-bone interphase in the case of Chondro-Gide®, whereas blood vessels were present throughout the repair tissue in the case of Alpha Chondro Shield®. Yellow asterisks represent the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield®. Scores have been presented as means \pm SD of n=3 in group B and group C. Original magnification x20. Scale bar = 50 µm.



Group C (Alpha Chondro Shield® alone) Mean score = 2.5 ± 0.7



Figure 5.11. Representative H&E stained images are shown to demonstrate the differences in FBGC reaction in the repair tissue. FBGC reaction was only seen in the defects that were transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield® (right image) compared to those that were transplanted using Chondro-Gide® (left image). FBGCs (red arrowed) were seen to be engulfing the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield®. Yellow asterisks represent the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield®. Scores have been presented as means \pm SD of n=3. Original magnification x40. Scale bar = 25 µm.

5.6 Human mitochondrial staining at 3 weeks post-transplantation

Immunolocalisation for human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) was observed in the repair tissues of both PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSC groups (group B) with both Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®. HMA expression was more marked in the defects transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield® than Chondro-Gide® with both PA and CD271⁺ MSCs. In animals where Chondro-Gide® was present in the defects, the HMA expression of PA or CD271⁺MSCs was mostly detected in the fibrous tissue layer in the junction between the scaffold and the underlying trabecular bone and was minimally detected within the scaffold also. In animals where Chondro-Gide® was absent, little HMA expression was detected in the fibrous repair tissue in the defects. Between PA and CD271⁺MSCs treated animals using Chondro-Gide®, HMA expression was more marked in the CD271⁺MSCs transplanted group.

In animals treated with PA or CD271⁺MSCs with Alpha Chondro Shield®, HMA expression was detected in the ECM surrounding the scaffold fibres. Similar extent of HMA expression was detected in both PA and CD271⁺MSC group. Due to the nature of mitochondrial staining, the exact number of cells was difficult to quantify. There was no evidence of HMA immunolocalisation in any of the controls groups that were not transplanted with human MSCs, i.e groups C, D and E. Greatest HMA expression was detected in the pellet cultures of human MSCs used as controls (Figures 5.12 and 5.13).



Figure 5.12. Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of the defects at 3 week post-transplantation with Chondro-Gide®. HMA immunoreactivity, indicated by brown punctate staining (red arrowed), was observed in the repair tissue of the defects treated with PAMSCs (group A) and $CD271^{+}MSCs$ (group B). The positive expression was seen at the bottom of the defect in the fibrous tissue layer formed between the scaffold and the trabecular bone. No HMA expression was detected in the defects of group C,D and E. Haematoxylin was used as a counterstain. Human MSC pellets were used as positive controls. Original magnification x100; scale bar = 10 μ m.



Figure 5.13. Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of the defects at 3 week post-transplantation with Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. HMA immunoreactivity indicated by brown punctate staining (red arrowed), was observed in the repair tissue of the defects treated with PAMSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B). The positivity was localised either around the fibres of the scaffolds or within the repair tissue itself. No HMA expression was detected in the defects of group C, D and E but there was dark brown artifactual staining (yellow asterisks) of the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Haematoxylin was used as a counterstain. Human MSC pellets were used as positive controls. Original magnification x100; scale bar = 10 µm.

5.7 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: gross morphology at 6 weeks post-transplantation

Gross examination of the defects at 6 weeks post-transplantation revealed no differences in the quality of the repair tissue of the defect when transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B). Both group A and group B showed a poorly integrated repair tissue with the edges of the defects clearly visible. The scaffold alone control group (group C), showed no repair tissue and had severe degeneration of the adjacent cartilage in the case of Chondro-Gide®. In contrast, the control groups with fibrin only (group D) or no intervention (group E) appeared to have a well-integrated repair tissue, especially in the no intervention control group (group E) where a glossy pale-white repair tissue was seen and the edges of the defects were difficult to distinguish from the surrounding cartilage (Figure 5.14).

As per the macroscopic scoring system, defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) or CD271+MSCs (group B) had comparatively lower scores with either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield® than defects that were treated with scaffolds alone (group C). Defects in group A were scored at 7.5 ± 2.4 with Chondro-Gide® and 8.3 ± 3.0 with Alpha Chondro Shield® and defects in group B were scored at 7.8 ± 3.4 with Chondro-Gide® and 8.3 ± 2.6 with Alpha Chondro Shield®. In contrast, defects in group C were scored at 12 ± 2.6 for Chondro-Gide® and 10.3 ± 3.1 with Alpha Chondro Shield®. The defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) had similar scores (7.5 ± 2.6) as the two cell-treated groups, group A and B. The no intervention control group (group E), was scored at 6 ± 1.6 , which was the lowest compared to all the other groups. However, no statistical significant differences were seen in the overall histological scores between any of the groups. All data has presented as means \pm SDs of n=6 for defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271+MSCs (group B), n=3 for defects transplanted with scaffold alone (group C), n=4 for defects that were treated with fibrin glue only (group D) and n=2 for defects that had no intervention (group E) (see also Figure 5.3).

For individual parameters examined, the defects in groups D and E showed a predominantly (>50%) white repair tissue, whereas the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) and cell-free groups (group C) revealed a predominantly translucent repair tissue. Macroscopically, the presence of blood vessels was reduced in the cell-treated groups (group A and B) with both the scaffolds as well as in the defects that received fibrin glue only (group D) or had no intervention (group E). Between 25-50% of the repair tissue in all the groups contained blood vessels except for the scaffold alone control group (group C), which showed up to 75% of blood vessels in the repair tissues examined. A smooth heterogeneous surface of the repair tissue was seen only in group D and E. In PA MSCs transplanted animals (group A) with both scaffolds, there was a heterogeneously smooth to a somewhat fibrillated surface. The defects in the CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals (group B) with both scaffolds and the scaffold alone control group (group C) showed mostly fibrillated or an incomplete surface of the repair tissue. Over 50% of the defect depth was filled in the defects that received PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with both the cellcarriers and in the defects treated with fibrin glue only (groups D) or had no intervention (group E). The defects treated with scaffolds alone (group C) with both the cell-carriers showed less than 50% of the defect fill. Cracks or fibrillations were observed at the integration zone of the repair tissue in the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) with Chondro-Gide® and in the defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) or had no intervention (group E). In contrast, the defects in group A with Alpha Chondro Shield® as the cell carrier and CD271⁺MSCs group (group B) and scaffold alone control group (group C) showed diffuse degenerative changes in the adjacent articular cartilage of the host (Table 5.3).







Figure 5.15. Macroscopic scores for cartilage repair at 6 weeks posttransplantation. Mean macroscopic scores for animals transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) were lower than the scaffold alone control group (group C) and were similar to the fibrin glue alone control (group D) but the no intervention control group (group E) showed the lowest scores compared to all the other groups. However, no significant differences were observed in the macroscopic mean scores of group A, B, C and D. Group E was excluded from statistical analysis due to s small sample size. Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=6 for group A and B, n=3 for group C, n=4 for group D and n=2 for group E).

	PA MSCs (Group A)		CD271 ⁺ MSCs (Group B)		Scaffold alone (Group C)		(Group D)	(Group E)
	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield [®]	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Fibrin Glue alone	No intervention
Colour of the	2.2 ±	2.2 ±	2.3±	2.5±	3.3 ±	2.7±	1.5 ±	1.5±
repair tissue	0.8	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6*	0.7
Blood vessels in the repair tissue	1.8±	1.8±	1.7 ±	1.7±	2.3±	2.3±	1.8±	1.5±
	0.8	1.0	0.8	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.7
Surface of the repair tissue	1.5±	1.5±	2.3±	1.7±	2.3±	2.0±	1.5±	1.0±
	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.8	0.6	1.0	0.6	0.0
Defect fill	1.0±	0.8±	1.3±	1.0±	1.7 ±	1.7±	1.0±	1.0±
	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.6	1.2	0.6	0.8	0.0
Degeneration of adjacent cartilage	1.5 ± 0.5	1.8± 0.8	2.5± 0.5	2.3 ± 0.5	2.7 ± 0.6	2.0± 1.0	1.0 ± 0.0*	1 .0 ± 0.0

Table 5.3. Macroscopic scores for the individual parameters of cartilage repair at 6 weeks post-transplantation. The colour of the repair tissue in the defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) was significantly better than that of the defects that were transplanted with Chondro-Gide® alone (group C, *p* value = 0.02). There was also a significant difference in the scores for degeneration of adjacent cartilage in defects transplanted with CD271+MSCs (group B) with both the scaffolds (*p* value = 0.030, Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield®) and when transplanted with Chondro-Gide® alone (group C) compared to fibrin glue alone group (group D, *p* value = 0.024). Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=6 for group A and B, n=3 for group C, n=4 for group D and n=2 for group E). Group E was excluded from statistical analysis due to a small sample size. (*p* value <0.05; Dunn's multiple comparison test). Bold text indicates statistical significance with asterisks displayed on the lower scores.

5.8 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: overall histological outcomes at 6 weeks post-transplantation

5.8.1 H&E staining

A poor degree of defect fill was observed in the defects of the MSC transplanted (group A and B) and scaffold alone transplanted animals (group C) regardless of the type of scaffold. Whilst the animals transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield® showed good integration with the host adjacent cartilage and a firm attachment to the underlying trabecular bone, animals that were transplanted with Chondro-Gide® either contained delaminated scaffold or the scaffold detached during histological processing. In PA MSCs transplanted animals (group A), Chondro-Gide® was delaminated in one out of the three animals and was not present in the other two animals; in addition, in CD271⁺MSCs transplanted animals (group B), Chondro-Gide® delaminated in all three animals. Defects that were treated with fibrin glue alone (group D) showed a fibrous repair tissue with a partial defect fill; whereas the defects that had no intervention (group E) showed the greatest degree of defect fill compared to the defects of other groups. Bone matrix deposition was seen at the bottom of the defects in cell-treated groups (group A and B) or the scaffold alone control group (group C) with Alpha Chondro-Gide® (Figure 5.16).

5.8.2 Toluidine blue staining

The repair tissue within the defects of PA MSC (group A) and CD271⁺MSC (group B) transplanted animals with Alpha Chondro Shield[®] only and the repair tissue of the no intervention control group (group E) showed localised toluidine blue metachromasia. In contrast, defects of any group transplanted with Chondro-Gide[®] showed no metachromasia. The fibrous tissue in the defects of the fibrin glue only control group (group D) also showed no metachromasia with toluidine blue dye (Figure 5.17).

5.8.3 Collagen type II immunostaining

No collagen type II production was observed in the repair tissues of the defects of cell-treated groups (group A and B) or the scaffold alone and fibrin glue only control groups (group C and D). However, collagen type II was only seen in the defects of the no intervention control group (group E) (Figure 5.4.3).

5.8.4 Histological scoring of the repair tissue

The histological scores for the PA MSC (group A) and CD271⁺MSC (group B) transplanted groups were similar, irrespective of the cell scaffold used. When Chondro-Gide® was used, the repair tissue was scored at 12.5 ± 2.3 for PA MSC transplanted animals (group A) and 11.5 ± 3.0 for CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals (group B).When Alpha Chondro Shield® was used, the repair tissue was scored at 11.2 ± 0.7 for PA MSCs group and 11.5 ± 0.5 for CD271⁺MSCs group. Defects treated with scaffolds alone (group C) were scored at 15.0 ± 1.4 with Chondro-Gide® and 15.5 ± 0.7 with Alpha Chondro Shield®. The defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D) were scored at 15.5 ± 0.7 . The no intervention control group (group E) was scored at 9.5. No significant differences were observed in the histological outcomes of the cell-treated groups. All data has been presented as means \pm SDs of n=3 PA MSCs (group A) and CD271+MSCs (group B), n=2 for defects transplanted with scaffold alone (group C) and fibrin glue only (group D). Data for no intervention control group (group E) has been presented as the overall score of n=1 animal. Group C, D and E were excluded from stats analysis due to a small samples size (Figure 5.19).



Figure 5.16. Histology of rat knee tissue sections at 6 weeks post transplantation. Representative images are shown of the H&E stained tissue sections of the osteochondral defects. A poor degree of defect fill was observed in the animals of all groups except for the no intervention control group (group E) where the defect was spontaneously resurfaced with fibrous tissue. Original magnification x4. All scale bars = 200μ m. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



Figure 5.17. GAG deposition in the defects at 6 weeks post-transplantation. Representative images are shown of toluidine blue stained tissue sections of the osteochondral defects. GAG deposition was seen in the repair tissue of the defects treated with PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with Alpha Chondro Shield® only and in the no intervention control group (group E). Defects transplanted with either cell type using Chondro-Gide®, or the control groups C and D showed no metachromatic staining. Original magnification x4. All scale bars = $200\mu m$. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



Figure 5.18. Collagen type II immunolocalisation in the defects at 6 weeks posttransplantation. No collagen type II was seen within the repair tissue of the defects of either cell treated groups (groups A and B) or of no cell group (group C). Collagen type II immunopositivity was only seen in the repair tissue of the defects that had no intervention (group E). Original magnification x4. All scale bars = 200μ m. Dotted line with arrows indicates the margins of the defect.



Figure 5.19. Histological scoring of the repair tissue at 6 week post-transplantation.

The cell-treated groups (group A and B) achieved lower histological scores compared to scaffold alone control group (group C) and fibrin blue alone control (group D). The defect in group E achieved a lower overall score compared to the other groups. There were no significant differences observed in the overall histological scores of the defects in group A and B. Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=3 for group A and B, n=2 for group C and D, n=1 for group E). The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare histological scores of group A versus group B for each cell-carrier. Group C, D and E were excluded from statistical analysis due to the small sample size.

5.9 The effects of PA MSCs and CD271⁺MSCs seeded scaffolds on cartilage repair: detailed histological outcomes at 6 weeks post-transplantation

Differences observed in the various histological parameters that were assessed have been described below and are summarised in Table 5.4:

5.9.1 Cell morphology

The repair tissue of the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B) irrespective of the scaffold showed the presence of mostly elongated fibroblast-like cells with a few round-shaped cells indicative of mostly fibro-cartilaginous repair tissue. Bone matrix deposition was seen only in the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with PA and CD271 MSCs with Alpha Chondro Shield® alone (Figure 5.20). The defects in the controls groups of scaffold alone (group C) and fibrin glue alone (group D) showed mostly elongated spindle shaped cells indicative of non-cartilaginous repair tissue. The repair tissue of the defects that had no intervention (group E) showed a mix of round shaped and elongated cells.

5.9.2 Matrix staining

Metachromatic toluidine blue staining was markedly reduced compared with the host adjacent cartilage in the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with either of the cell scaffolds. The defects of the scaffold alone group (group C) and the fibrin glue control group (group D) showed no metachromatic staining in the repair tissue whereas, the no intervention control group (group E) showed metachromatic toluidine blue staining that was reduced compared to the adjacent cartilage.

5.9.3 Surface regularity

A severely irregular surface of the repair tissue was seen in the defects of PA MSC and CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals (group A and B, respectively) with both scaffolds, and the scaffold alone control group (group C) as well as the fibrin glue only control group (group D). In contrast, the defect alone control group (group E) showed a comparatively less irregular

surface of the repair tissue. In defects where Chondro-Gide® was absent, the surface of the repair tissue constituted the fibrous repair tissue within the defects.

5.9.4 Thickness

Defect fill was greater in the defects transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) with Alpha Chondro Shield® only and in the no intervention control group (group E) that showed between 1/3 to 2/3 of the defects were filled with a repair tissue. In the scaffold alone control group (group C) and fibrin glue only control group (group D), less than 1/3 of the defects was filled with a repair tissue with either Chondro-Gide® or Alpha Chondro Shield®. In defects where Chondro-Gide® was absent, the repair tissue within the defect was scored for thickness.

5.9.5 Integration of the repair tissue with the host adjacent cartilage

Integration of the repair tissue within the defects transplanted with either PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) in combination with Chondro-Gide® was poor as either only one edge or neither of the edges were seen to be integrated with the host cartilage. Similarly, poor integration was observed in the scaffold alone control group (group C) with Chondro-Gide and in the defects treated with fibrin glue only (group D). Defects in which PA or CD271⁺MSCs were transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield® showed good integration with both edges of the repair tissue integrated with the surrounding cartilage. This was also the case with defects that had no intervention (group E). In defects where Chondro-Gide® was absent, the repair tissue within the defect was scored for integration.

5.9.6 Vascularisation within the defect

An increased number of blood vessels were seen in the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B) using Alpha Chondro Shield® compared to those transplanted using Chondro-Gide®. The blood vessels penetrated the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with MSCs using Alpha Chondro Shield®, whereas they were only present in the fibrous tissue layer between Chondro-Gide® and the underlying trabecular

bone. The blood vessels were less frequently seen in the PA or CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals and the animals that were treated with fibrin glue alone (group D) than the animals that were treated with scaffolds alone (group C) or had no intervention (group E).

5.9.7 Foreign body giant cell reaction

Similar to the 3 week results, FBGC reaction was seen only in the defects that were transplanted with Alpha Chondro Shield® with or without PA MSCs (group A) or CD271⁺MSCs (group B). FBGCs were observed engulfing the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield®. Where Chondro-Gide® was used as the scaffold no FBGCs were present in the repair tissue. This was also true for control groups that were treated with fibrin glue only (groups D) or those that had no intervention (group E).

	PA MSCs (Group A)		CD271 ⁺ MSCs (Group B)		Scaffold alone (Group C)		(Group D)	(Group E)
	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Chondro- Gide®	Alpha Chondro Shield®	Fibrin Glue alone	No intervention
Cell morphology	2.3± 0.6	2.0± 0.0	2.3± 1.0	2.2 ± 0.3	2.5± 0.7	2.5± 0.7	3.0± 0.0	2.0
Matrix staining	2.0± 0.5	1.6± 0.6	2.0± 0.5	1.8± 0.3	2.5± 0.7	2.5± 0.7	3.0± 0.0	1.5
Surface regularity	2.5± 0.5	2.3± 0.3	2.8± 0.8	2.5 ± 0.0	3.0± 0.0	3.0± 0.0	3.0± 0.0	2.0
Thickness	1.5 ± 0.5	0.3± 0.6	1.5 ± 0.5	1.0± 0.5	2.5 ± 0.7	1.5± 0.7	2.0± 0.0	0.5
Integration	1.3± 0.6	0.0± 0.0	1.2± 0.8	0.0 ± 0.0	1.5 ± 0.7	0.0± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	0.0
Blood vessels	2.0± 1.7	2.7± 1.2	1.7± 0.6	2.0± 0.0	3.5± 0.7	4.0± 0.0	2.5± 0.7	3.0
Foreign body giant cells	0.0± 0.0	2.2± 0.3	0.0± 0.0	2.0± 0.0	0.0± 0.0	2.0± 1.4	0.0± 0.0	0.0

Table 5.4. Histological scores of the individual parameters at 6 weeks posttransplantation. The no intervention control group (group E) achieved lower scores for most of the parameters assessed excluding blood vessels. Data are presented as means \pm SD (n=3 for group A and B and n=2 for group C and D, n=1 for group E). There was no statistical difference between the repair tissue of the defects of group A and B. Group C, D and E were excluded from statistical analysis due to the small sample size. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to test statistical significance.



Figure 5.20. Representative images to bone matrix within the repair tissues of the defects at 6 week post transplantation. Bone matrix deposition was not observed in the repair tissue of the defects that received Chondro-Gide®; the space between the scaffold and the underlying bone is shown by red asterisks. In contrast, bone matrix was observed in the repair tissue of the defects treated with either cell-type using Alpha Chondro Shield® as the cell-carrier. Black boxes indicate areas where ECM in the repair tissue has been replaced with bone matrix. Original magnification x10; scale bars = $100\mu m$. Insets show x40 magnification of areas shown in black boxes; scale bar 25 µm.

5.10 Human mitochondrial staining

Only one out of the three animals transplanted with PA MSCs using Alpha Chondro Shield® showed HMA expression. There was no HMA immunolocalisation in the repair tissues in the CD271⁺MSC (group B) transplanted animals or any of the control groups (group C, D and E) at 6 weeks post-transplantation. HMA expression was only detected in the human MSC pellets that were used as controls (Figure 5.21 and 5.22)


Figure 5.21. Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of the defects at 6 week post-transplantation with Chondro-Gide®. HMA immunoreactivity was absent in the repair tissue of the defects treated with PAMSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B). HMA expression was also absent in the control groups (group C,D and E). Positive expression as indicated by brown punctate staining (red arrowed) was only seen in the human MSC pellets used as positive controls. Haematoxylin was used as a counterstain. Original magnification x100. Scale bar = 10μ m.



Figure 5.22. Immunolocalisation of human mitochondrial antigen (HMA) in the repair tissue of the defects at 6 week post-transplantation with Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. HMA immunopositivity was absent in the repair tissue of the defects treated with PAMSCs (group A) and CD271⁺MSCs (group B). Positive expression as indicated by brown punctate staining (red arrowed) was only seen in the human MSC pellets used as a positive control. There was dark brown artifactual staining (yellow asterisks) of the fibres of Alpha Chondro Shield[®]. Haematoxylin was used as a counterstain. Original magnification x100; scale bar = 10 µm.

CD271 selected MSCs from various sources including BM (Cuthbert et al., 2015), AT (Quirici et al., 2010; Duran et al., 2013), and synovium (Arufe et al., 2010) have shown an immense potential for their use in regenerative medicine. These in vitro studies suggest that isolating cells immune-positive for CD271 results in a homogenous population that also co-expresses CD73, CD90 and CD105 (Arufe et al., 2010; Cuthbert et al., 2015; Jones and McGonagle 2008). CD271⁺MSCs from BM have previously been shown to give rise to superior cartilage formation in vivo compared to PA MSCs (Mifune et al., 2012). In this study, the defects transplanted with AT derived CD271⁺MSCs (group B) at 3 weeks post-transplantation showed macroscopically superior repair tissue compared to the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and all the other control groups (groups C, D and E). Histologically, all defects showed fibrous cartilaginous repair tissue, but localised metachromatic toluidine blue staining was seen in the repair tissue of the defects treated with CD271⁺MSCs (group B). For complete healing of the full-thickness defects, it was essential that the trabecular and subchondral bones were fully restored followed by resurfacing of the defect with articular cartilage. Therefore, the candidate cell type must have the ability to differentiate into both bone and cartilage. There was indication of bone matrix deposition at the proximal end of the defects transplanted with PA MSCs (group A) and CD271+MSCs (group B) using Alpha Chondro Shield® only at 6 weeks post-transplantation. Wakitani et al, have previously listed the sequence of events that are likely to take place following transplantation of cell-scaffolds into a full thickness defect (Wakitani et al., 1994). They hypothesized that vascular infiltration into the defect causes host-derived MSCs to undergo osteogenesis and restore the osseous tissue. This happens only up to the natural junction between the host cartilage and subchondral bone, as the distal part of the defect is under the influence of the factors present in the synovial cavity where the osteochondral progenitor cells give rise to the cartilage (Wakitani et al., 1994). In this study, vascular infiltration was seen at 3 weeks followed by bone matrix deposition at 6 weeks in both PA and CD271+MSC group. Human cells were seen only in one animal of the PA MSC group at 6 weeks and in this animal no evidence of bone matrix was seen.

Repair tissue in the defects at 3 week or 6 weeks and in any of the MSC transplanted groups (group A and B) did not show a hyaline-like repair tissue at the surface of the defect and this may be due to the use of AT as cell source. Previous reports suggest that AT is not a suitable source of MSCs for cartilage regeneration (Huang et al., 2005; Im et al., 2005; Lee, et al., 2012). Studies have also shown that the chondrogenic differentiation potential of AT MSCs maybe dependent on the site of harvest of AT (Mochizuki et al., 2006; Lopa et al., 2014). Mochizuki and co-workers reported that subcutaneous AT is not a suitable source of MSCs for cartilage repair as the subcutaneous fat MSCs have lower chondrogenic potential compared to synovium-derived MSCs (Mochizuki et al., 2006). In addition, in a donor-matched comparison, infrapatellar fat pad MSCs were reported to have a higher chondrogenic potential that subcutaneous AT MSC (Lopa et al., 2014). Furthermore, AT MSCs have previously been shown to secrete angiogenic factors that are inhibitory to cartilage-like ECM deposition (Lee et al., 2012). The repair tissue of both cell-treated groups (groups A and B) with Alpha Chondro Shield[®] showed vascular invasion and that's may be why hyaline like ECM deposition was not seen. However, selective isolation of CD271⁺MSCs may have partially improved the outcome as a comparatively lower number of blood vessels were seen in the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs (group B) compared to PA MSCs (group A). In addition, localised metachromasia after staining with toluidine blue dye was more markedly seen in the repair tissue of the defects transplanted with CD271⁺MSCs. Studies have previously shown that articular cartilage GAGs inhibit endothelial cell adhesion (Fenwick et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2005; Bara et al., 2012). It may be that CD271⁺MSCs induced a cartilage-like repair response comprising of GAGs that inhibit blood vessel formation, whereas PA MSCs did not induce the deposition of GAGs. Further work is needed to explore the anti-angiogenic capacity of the CD271⁺MSCs.

Repair tissue of the defects treated with Alpha Chondro Shield® alone control (group C) showed an extensive cell infiltration and little ECM deposition compared to the cell-treated groups, where less cells and more ECM deposition was observed. This may suggest that the human MSCs were essential for tissue repair. Furthermore, HMA was detected in the celltreated defects at 3 weeks post-transplantation indicative of human cell survival in the defects that started to lay down ECM. Human cell survival was observed in the repair tissues of the cell-treated groups; however, that did not reduce the FBGC in the defects that received MSCs with Alpha Chondro Shield. HMA immunolocalisation at 3 weeks was seen around the fibres of PGA in Alpha Chondro Shield, which is also where FBGCs were observed. This colocalisation of MSCs with FBGCs may suggest that implant rejection continued without evidence of an anti-inflammatory activity of the MSCs. In an inflamed environment, MSCs have been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects by restoring the T_H1/T_H2 balance through inhibiting IFN-y secretion and increasing IL-4 and IL-10 (Aggarwal and Pittenger 2005). However, athymic rats do not elicit a T-cell mediated immune response and therefore, MSCs may have been unable to induce a T-cell mediated immunomodulatory response. Moreover, only one animal in the PA MSCs treated group showed persistence of human cells at 6 weeks post-transplantation, all the other animals in the PA or CD271⁺MSC treated groups showed no evidence of human cell survival at 6 weeks post-transplantation as depicted by the absence of HMA immunopositivity. This may indicate that the inflammatory environment accompanying the FBGC reaction to Alpha Chondro Shield® may have contributed to the loss of human cells. However, there was also no HMA immunopositivity in the animals transplanted with MSCs and Chondro-Gide® at 6 weeks, in which no FBGC reaction was noted. This suggests that the human cells failed to persist within the defects irrespective of the FBGC reaction. In a recent study of xenogeneic transplantation of human articular chondrocytes into full-thickness cartilage defects in minipigs, it was reported that human cells failed to persist in the defects at 4 weeks following transplantation (Niemietz et al., 2014). The study also reported an extensive host cell invasion followed by a decline in human cells to less than 5% of initial cell numbers as early as 2 weeks. Co-localisation of macrophages to the implanted cells was

suggested to cause this effect. On the other hand, Mifune *et al.*,, have shown human cell survival within a rat model of full-thickness chondral defects at 4 and 8 weeks post transplantation (Mifune *et al.*, 2012). Sato *et al.*, have also shown human MSC survival in guinea pigs knee joints 5 weeks after transplantation (Sato *et al.*, 2012). Clearly, further research is needed to understand whether and how transplanted MSC survival is determined, particularly if the presence of the MSCs is associated with experimental (or clinical) outcome.

Alpha Chondro Shield® showed better integration and tissue ingrowth compared to Chondro-Gide® at both 3 weeks and 6 weeks. Alpha Chondro Shield® is a porous scaffold with an open pore structure that allows cellular access from all sides whereas Chondro-Gide® consist of a porous side for cell-attachment and a compact side to avoid cell-leakage. Cellseeded Chondro-Gide® was fixed with its porous side facing down on to the defect and with its compact side lying adjacent to the host articular cartilage. The fixation of MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide® was technically challenging in the rat knee joints, which may have resulted in the delamination of Chondro-Gide® in some cases. Where Chondro-Gide® was seen in the defect, cellular infiltration was observed at the bottom of the defects with the development of a fibrous tissue layer in between the scaffold and the underlying trabecular bone. Alpha Chondro Shield® on the other hand showed cellular ingrowth from the sides as well as the bottom of the defects. At 6 weeks post transplantation, Chondro-Gide® showed poor integration and was delaminated within the defect whereas Alpha Chondro Shield® remained firmly attached to the donor tissue. Although Chondro-Gide® showed poor integration with the host tissue, it evoked no FBGC response and was not supportive of vascular invasion, whereas Alpha Chondro Shield® showed a greater degree of FBGC reaction and vascular invasion. Host reaction following implantation of a biomaterial can elicit a sequence of events including acute and chronic inflammation ultimately resulting in FBGC reaction and fibrous capsule formation (Anderson 2001). Depending on the composition of biomaterial, various different inflammatory mediators and signalling molecules such as cytokines, chemokines and growth factors evoke monocyte/macrophage migration towards the implantation site. During chronic inflammation lymphocytes are recruited to the implantation site. Lymphocytes, especially T lymphocytes induce macrophage adhesion, fusion and cytokine secretion depending on the material composition of the biomaterial/scaffold. Interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-13 are cytokines that induce macrophages to gain an alternatively activated phenotype and fuse together to form FBGCs. It is believed that these cytokines are produced in vivo by T cells (Anderson et al., 2008). In this study, female athymic nude rats were used to create fullthickness chondral defects; therefore, a T-cell mediated immune response is absent. The presence of FBGCs in the repair tissues of the defects transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield® i.e. a synthetic scaffold, could potentially be due to other sources of IL-4 and IL-13 production as it has been previously shown that NK cells, mast cells, eosinophils and basophils are also capable of producing these cytokines (Al-Saffar et al., 1998; Gessner et al., 2005). Furthermore, it has also been shown that T cells are not necessary for eliciting a FBGC reaction to synthetic materials in nude mice. The authors concluded that T cells are a redundant source of IL-4 and/or IL-13 in vivo (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Nevertheless, the consequence of FBGC reaction can cause the release of mediators of degradation such as reactive oxygen intermediates (ROIs), enzymes and acid. The biomaterials are then exposed to these degradative agents in the immediate microenvironment and the chemistry of the biomaterial greatly influences its susceptibility to degradation (Anderson et al., 2008). The repair tissue of the defects that received Alpha Chondro Shield at 3 weeks and 6 weeks still showed fibres of PGA suggesting that the degradation rate of PGA based scaffold is longer than 6 weeks in vivo. Freed et al., have previously shown when chondrocytes-seeded PGA are implanted within a rabbit model of full thickness chondral defect, the remnants of the scaffold are still visible at 6 months post-implantation (Freed et al., 1993). Chondro-Gide® is a natural scaffold, which did not evoke a FBGC reaction. Natural biomaterials are usually thought to be biocompatible and suitable for biomedical applications. Studies have previously shown that coating materials with collagen type I reduces macrophage responses to the material and fibrosis (Ksander & Gray 1985; Cho et al., 2005). Results presented within this chapter support the previous studies with regards to the absence of FBGC reaction in the case of Chondro-Gide®.

Rats were chosen as the animal models of osteochondral defects in this study as they are cost effective in providing proof-of-concept data to build a bridge between in vitro experiments and expensive large animal studies. However, these smaller animals have thin cartilage which could be a limiting factor for investigating repair responses as it may heal faster than human cartilage and makes it difficult to draw robust conclusions. In addition, the small sized joints and thin cartilage also makes it practically difficult to investigate the suitability of surgical implants in this model (Constance et al., 2010). In this study, it was technically very challenging to fix MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® into the defects, especially as the cell-seeded scaffolds tend to swell in size. The poor quality of repair in rat models of full-thickness cartilage defects has previously been shown by Anraku et al., who reported that spontaneous cartilaginous repair responses fail to occur in larger sized defects (width 1.5mm) compared to hyaline-like cartilage regeneration observed in smaller sized defects (width 0.7mm) at 4 weeks after the creation of defects. The larger sized defects were covered only with fibrous scar tissue and showed no signs of subchondral bone restoration (Anraku et al., 2009). In this study, although the defects were 2 x 2 x 1 mm in size, smaller sized defects would spontaneously heal and therefore, to investigate the repair responses of MSC transplanted animals, bigger sized defects were created.

In summary, the results presented in this chapter are suggestive of fibrocartilaginous repair tissue in the defects transplanted with either PA MSCs or CD271⁺MSCs derived from AT. There are some indications of improved repair using CD271⁺MSCs with regards to ECM deposition and a lower degree of neovascularisation compared to PA MSCs. Furthermore, the presence of cells with chondrocytic appearance observed in the repair tissue at 3 weeks in the CD271 group (group A) and the presence of bony matrix in the defects at 6 weeks also support the observation that CD271⁺MSCs may have beneficial healing potential. May be with longer time-points, the repair tissue would

restructure the sub chondral bone and subsequently re-surface with hyaline-like articular cartilage, as seen in previous studies in rats that analysed the repair responses at 8 weeks (Mifune *et al.*, 2012) or 16 weeks (Chung *et al.*, 2014) post transplantation.

In terms of the cell-carriers or scaffolds, it is difficult to draw conclusions with regards to Chondro-Gide® as it had either delaminated or was lost during histological processing from the defects of the knees of these smaller animal models; although when Chondro-Gide® was present, it showed no gross FBGC reaction. In contrast, Alpha Chondro Shield® showed good integration within the defects; however, it evoked a FBGC reaction. Nonetheless, Chondro-Gide® has been used in the clinics as the scaffold of choice for AMIC or MACI procedures and has shown promising clinical outcomes (Wylie *et al.*, 2015). To further assess the suitability of Alpha Chondro Shield®, bigger animal models are necessary.

Chapter 6: Discussion

Damage to the knee articular cartilage is troublesome in that it lacks the capacity to repair itself and mostly presents symptomatically when the damage has extended to the subchondral This progressive loss of knee articular cartilage is one of the major causes of bone. degenerative joint pathologies such as OA (Buckwalter 1998). Efforts to treat symptomatic cartilage defects such as those described in the first chapter of this thesis only provide temporary pain relief. Therefore, various surgical procedures have sought to prevent the progression of cartilage damage (Falah et al., 2010; Memon & Quinlan 2012). ACI is considered the gold standard for the treatment of cartilage defects, however, it has shown mixed results with the quality of the repair tissue as fibrocartilage more often than hyaline-like cartilage in clinical studies (reviewed by Harris et al., 2010). In addition, there are some major drawbacks of ACI including the need for a two-step operative treatment procedure and the loss of a chondrocyte phenotype that is seen in monolayered cell culture (Makris et al., 2014). Therefore, there is a need to investigate alternative cell sources for cell-based therapies that can be easily harvested and can potentially be used in a one-step procedure. As discussed in the first chapter, BM and AT MSCs have been extensively investigated both in vitro and in vivo for their potential to regenerate damaged articular cartilage (Boeuf & Richter 2010; Somoza et al., 2014). Both freshly isolated and culture expanded cells from these two cell sources have been used in human patients; however, there is no consensus as to which cell type or cell source, in combination with which scaffolds or cell delivery systems, is the best for repairing damaged cartilage. With regards to scaffolds or the cell delivery systems, only limited *in vitro* and pre-clinical data is available on scaffolds that are currently in clinical use. In addition, culture expanded MSCs are heterogeneous, which is also a potential problem as not all isolated or culture expanded MSCs will have the same differentiation or reparative capacity (Phinney 2012). This becomes a key issue with regards to the use of MSCs for cellbased therapies as the isolated population may not be functionally homogenous and uniformly chondrogenic. The data presented within this thesis has addressed some of the key features of cell-based therapies for cartilage repair, which are:

- 1. To expand or not to expand autologous cell sources for cartilage repair?
- 2. To use BM or AT as a cell source?
- To use Chondro-Gide[®] versus Alpha Chondro Shield[®] versus Hyalofast[™] as a scaffold for chondrogenesis? – from an in vitro perspective
- 4. To optimise AT as a cell source by selectively isolating a prospective more homogeneous cell population?
- To use Chondro-Gide® versus Alpha Chondro Shield® as a scaffold for cartilage repair? – from an in vivo perspective

6.1 To expand or not to expand autologous cell sources for cartilage repair?

The results presented within Chapter 3 of this thesis sought to answer the first question by investigating the incorporation and growth of culture expanded MSCs versus freshly isolated cells from BM and AT in three clinical scaffolds, followed by analysis of chondrogenesis of the persistent cell type in the scaffolds examined. The findings of this Chapter suggest that culture expanded MSCs from both cell sources adhere, incorporate and grow in Chondro-Gide®, Alpha Chondro Shield® and Hyalofast[™]. In contrast, freshly isolated BM MNCs or AT SVF cells do not grow as well as culture expanded cells in any of the three scaffolds during long-term cultures. Unfortunately, that suggests that the proposition of one-step cellbased therapies for cartilage repair may be less favourable than using culture expanded MSCs in a two-step procedure. However, there may be ways to enhance and optimise the freshly isolated cell population by enriching for prospective MSCs. One of the ways to do this is described in Chapter 4. Interestingly, freshly isolated BM MNCs have already been applied in the treatment of full-thickness chondral lesions of the knee in human patients and have shown promising results, however the histological assessment was based on small number of biopsies (2-3) and the overall studies lacked control groups (Buda et al., 2010; A. Gobbi et al., 2011). Similarly, AT SVF cells have been applied clinically in the treatment of knee OA, and have shown successful clinical outcomes, although no histological results were reported (Pak et al., 2013; Bui et al., 2014). Also, a majority of the clinical trials with AT SVF cells have been case series that lack control groups. Therefore, the success of these clinical studies, in terms of an improvement in function or reduction in pain, could be attributed to the placebo effect. Whilst freshly isolated cells have shown considerable promise in human patients, the results presented within Chapter 3 of this thesis do not show good in vitro incorporation and growth of freshly isolated cells from BM or AT in the three clinical scaffolds examined. This could be attributed to the *in vitro* cell seeding procedure and culture conditions compared to the clinical settings. For in vitro analysis, BM MNCs and AT SVF cells were seeded directly onto the scaffold and grown in culture dishes whereas during *in vivo* studies and clinical treatments, a number of different techniques have been utilized for cell seeding, including the mixing of concentrated BM MNCs with collagen powders or using collagen and HA membranes as cell carriers prior to their fixation into defects with platelet rich fibrin gel (Giannini et al., 2009; Gobbi et al., 2011). AT SVF cells have also been used as intra-articular injections in combination with platelet rich plasma (PRP) (Koh et al., 2013; Bui et al., 2014). During the in vitro analysis shown in this thesis, cells may have escaped the scaffolds after cell-seeding due to a lack of an enclosed environment, e.g. fibrin gel encapsulation. Future work should optimise cell seeding and culture conditions to better mimic the surgical procedure including encapsulation in fibrin gels. Therefore, the answer to question to culture expand or not to culture expand autologous cells is to expand cells, as per the findings of this thesis, but with further study warranted.

6.2 To use BM or AT as a cell source?

Culture expanded MSCs from BM and AT were further examined for their chondrogenic differentiation potential. BM MSCs showed better potential for chondrogenesis than AT MSCs as indicated by increased collagen type II and GAG deposition in BM MSC seeded scaffolds. This indicates that BM may be a better source of MSCs for cartilage repair than AT. There is evidence in the literature that supports these findings (Im *et al.*, 2005b; Danišovič *et al.*, 2007; Boeuf & Richter 2010). However, a potential weakness of the studies presented within this thesis was that the BM MSCs and AT MSCs were obtained from different patient

donors, therefore, direct comparisons on which cell source is better for cartilage repair is limited due to the possibility of donor-to-donor variation. Studies have previously highlighted the variability in gene expression between different donors of AT, in addition to differences observed due to harvest site and isolation and culture conditions (Baer *et al.*, 2012; Lopa *et al.*, 2014). Ideally, BM and AT obtained from the same donor should have been compared to better establish the potential of these cells for chondrogenesis. In addition, TGF- β 1 was used as an inducer for chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs from both cell sources, which may not be ideal for inducing chondrogenic differentiation in AT MSCs. For example, some studies have previously reported that TGF- β 1 is not as efficient at inducing chondrogenic differentiation of AT MSCs as BMP 6 (Estes *et al.*, 2006; Hennig *et al.*, 2007).

6.3 To use Chondro-Gide[®] versus Alpha Chondro Shield[®] versus Hyalofast[™] as a scaffold for chondrogenesis? – from an *in vitro* perspective

MSCs from both cell sources showed the best growth in Chondro-Gide®. Of the three scaffolds examined, Hyalofast[™] disintegrated and was not suitable for long-term chondrogenic experiments whereas Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® persisted. The chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs was evident in both Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® but was most marked in Chondro-Gide® cultured with BM MSCs. Furthermore, there was increased collagen type II and GAG deposition in the ECM of BM MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide® cultures compared to AT MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide® for cell-based therapies for cartilage repair. Since Chondro-Gide® is an ECM based scaffolds, it holds a considerable promise for engineering cartilage-like tissue *in vitro*. If cartilage tissue can be engineered *in vitro* using the right cell-scaffold and growth factor combination, it would highly benefit the patients and clinicians in that it would obviate the need for highly invasive surgeries and prevent donor-site morbidity. However, articular cartilage is a structurally complex 3D environment consisting of different types of matrix molecules in which multiple bioactive growth factors are incorporated and even with the advances in the development of

appropriate scaffolds it is very difficult to reach this complexity (Benders et al., 2013). Currently in the field of cartilage tissue engineering, efforts are being made to regenerate cartilage which would be structurally and functionally similar to the native tissue. However, what the current literature reports as hyaline cartilage seems to be far from the true native tissue in that, the proportions of the ECM molecules of the tissue engineered cartilage are likely to be far from hyaline cartilage, which will have negative implications with regards to its load bearing capacity. Additionally, the zonal arrangement and spatial organisation of the native cartilage is often not seen in tissue-engineered constructs, which contributes to the poor mechanical strength of the construct. ECM based scaffolds such as those used in this thesis i.e., Chondro-Gide[®] and HyalofastTM, may be more suited for this purpose since they already mimic a natural 3D environment for cells and may help in retaining growth factors in the ECM. The findings presented in this thesis are consistent with the current literature on the use of Chondro-Gide® as it has been the scaffold of choice for the MACI procedure for over a decade now (Haddo et al., 2004; Wylie et al., 2015). However, to date, no clinical data is available on the use of culture expanded MSCs with Chondro-Gide® in human patients, possibly due to a lack of robust *in vitro* and pre-clinical *in vivo* data demonstrating their chondrogenic differentiation potential. Furthermore, studies have also previously shown that synthetic scaffolds such as PGA based scaffolds can be optimised for cartilage tissue engineering by combining them with fibrin gels (Endres et al., 2012), collagen gels or alginate gels (Hannouche et al., 2007). Since PGA has been approved by the FDA for human clinical use, it should be further explored for its potential for tissue engineering cartilage constructs.

Attempts have been made through the isolation of chondrocytes from different layers of articular cartilage and encapsulation of cells in a multi-layered hydrogel system to recreate the stratification of native cartilage (Kim *et al.*, 2003). Only one recently published study has so far shown that by recapitulating the developmental events, MSCs can be induced to form mesenchymal cell bodies, which when seeded onto decellularised bone matrix give rise to functional cartilage tissue *in vitro* (Bhumiratana *et al.*, 2014). Overall, whilst it may be

possible to optimize culture conditions to recreate the composition of the native cartilage, the dynamic complexity required for the recreation of developmental events including an understanding of the role of the micro-environmental cues, such as soluble factors, ECM molecules, cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions in controlling lineage progression and stem cell fate still pose a significant challenge (reviewed by Somoza *et al.*, 2014).

6.4 To optimise AT as a cell source by selectively isolating a prospective more homogeneous cell population?

On the basis of cell growth and ECM deposition, the use of BM MSCs with Chondro-Gide® is favoured. However, due to the easy availability of MSCs from AT and a less-invasive tissue harvesting procedure, in addition to the lack of robust preclinical data available on the use of AT MSCs for chondrogenesis in clinical scaffolds, this thesis further examined the suitability of AT as a cell source for cartilage repair. Chapters 4 and 5 of this thesis focussed on investigating the potential of AT MSCs for their chondrogenic differentiation and cartilage repair, examining cells that were selected on the basis of plastic adherence (PA MSCs) compared to the cells selected on the basis of their expression of CD271. The rationale for this study was based on the hypothesis that selective isolation of MSCs from AT SVF using CD271 as a marker results in a more homogenous cell population that may have a superior potential for chondrogenic differentiation and cartilage repair compared to a heterogeneous population of MSCs selected on the basic of plastic adherence. This hypothesis was based on the evidence in the current literature regarding CD271 as a selective marker of MSCs from BM and their superiority for chondrogenesis in vitro and in vivo (Mifune et al., 2012; Álvarez-Viejo 2015). The data presented in Chapter 4 suggested that CD271⁺MSCs upon induction with chondrogenic inducers deposited better and more ECM in the scaffolds compared to PA MSCs, which did not show as much ECM deposition. Also, the pellet cultures of CD271⁺MSCs showed a deposition of ECM that was richer in collagen type II compared to pellets of PA MSCs. This data is novel and supportive of the hypothesis that CD271 selection from AT is advantageous for the use of MSCs in cartilage repair.

With these promising in vitro results, the potential of CD271⁺MSCs was compared with PA MSCs in the healing of osteochondral defects in a rat model. The data presented in Chapter 5 showed superior macroscopic scores for cartilage formation in CD271⁺MSC transplanted animals compared to PA MSC transplanted animals and control groups at 3 weeks post-transplantation. However, histologically, a fibrous repair tissue was seen in all cases. The only difference observed between CD271⁺MSC and PA MSC treated groups was in the extent of vascularisation of the repair tissue, where CD271⁺MSCs showed comparatively fewer blood vessels compared to PA MSC treated groups. The lower number of blood vessels observed in the repair tissue of the CD271⁺MSCs group indicate that these cells may have anti-angiogenic activity that may be beneficial for the regeneration of cartilage. For bone regeneration, MSCs with angiogenic activity may be more favourable as angiogenesis supports bone formation during fracture healing (Dimitriou et al., 2011). A recent study has shown that CD271⁺MSCs from BM have elevated gene expression for bone formation and vascularisation (Cuthbert et al., 2015). Arufe et al, have also shown increased expression of RUNX2, a transcription factor involved in osteochondral differentiation by CD271⁺MSCs and deposition of collagen type II and aggrecan in the pellets of a CD271 selected cell population from synovial tissue (Arufe et al., 2010). Mifune et al, also reported on the superior chondrogenic potential of BM derived CD271⁺MSCs in vitro and in vivo compared to unselected MSCs (Mifune et al., 2012). All these findings indicate that MSCs from different tissue sources display intra-population heterogeneity with different subpopulations comprising different phenotypic and functional characteristics (Phinney 2012). The evidence regarding the functional heterogeneity of MSCs obtained from clonal studies have shown that clones from immortalized human MSCs contain tri-potent progenitor that yield more restricted bi-potent progenitors such as adipo-chondrogenic progenitors, adipo-osteogenic progenitors or osteochondrogenic progenitors (Okamoto et al., 2002). Likewise, Muraglia et al., showed that only one-third of the MSC clones derived from BM were able to display tri-lineage differentiation potential (Muraglia et al., 2000). In addition, even with the selective isolation of cells using a single marker, not all isolated MSCs may be uniformly tri-potent. In a recent clonal analysis on CD271⁺MSCs it was reported that 13.3% of clones differentiated into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes (tri-potent), 20% differentiated into chondrocytes and osteoblasts (bi-potent) and 7% differentiated into adipocytes and osteoblasts (Kuçi et al., 2013). So, in addition to the selective isolation using a single marker, primary MSCs cultures should be established at the clonal level. However, still only a fraction of these clonal MSCs will display chondrogenic differentiation. Unfortunately, no markers are currently available to distinguish multipotent MSCs from bi-potent or uni-potent MSCs in humans (Bianco et al., 2008). In a recent study conducted on mice, a mouse skeletal stem cell population, which is multipotent and has the ability to self- renew, was identified. Through lineage tracing experiments, it was shown that this skeletal stem cell population can differentiate into more lineage-restricted progenitor cells, which further produce uni-potent progenitors such as pro-chondrogenic progenitors or pro-osteogenic progenitors. In this study, the immunophenotype of each of these progenitors was identified (Chan et al., 2015). If similar studies can be conducted in humans, it would represent a paradigm shift in the therapeutic regeneration of skeletal tissues where specific uni-potent sub-populations of progenitor cells can be isolated for differentiation towards a particular tissue type. CD271⁺MSCs show considerable promise for enrichment of MSCs with osteogenic and chondrogenic capacities, however, future work should further examine AT derived CD271⁺MSCs to investigate their potential for cartilage and bone repair, e.g. by examination at the transcriptional level.

6.5 To use Chondro-Gide® versus Alpha Chondro Shield® as a scaffold for cartilage repair? – from an *in vivo* perspective

Where Chondro-Gide® was used as the scaffold for MSC delivery in vivo there was a difference in the results observed compared to the *in vitro* study. The scaffold was either delaminated or absent in the defect at both time points. This poor outcome may well be related to the disadvantages associated with using smaller animal models. For example, in the rat model tested there was cartilage thickness of less than 0.5 mm, used to test the suitability of clinical scaffolds that are intended to be used on human knee cartilage with a thickness between 2.2-2.5 mm (Frisbie et al., 2006; Cook et al., 2014). Due to this likely technical issue, it was particularly difficult to make firm conclusions on the suitability of Chondro-Gide® for repairing damaged cartilage. Nonetheless, Chondro-Gide® has been extensively used in ACI procedures and has shown successful results (Haddo et al., 2004). Previously, in small animal models of osteochondral defects, different combinations of hydrogels have been used as celldelivery systems, including collagen-based hydrogels (Zhang et al., 2011), HA and alginatebased hydrogels (Chung et al., 2014) or collagen type I sponge (Mifune et al., 2012). Although PGA-based porous scaffolds have been studied in animal models before (Erggelet et al., 2007), Chondro-Gide® and Alpha Chondro Shield® have not previously been tested in combination with MSCs for their potential in healing osteochondral defects. One conclusion that can be drawn from this in vivo study is that whilst Chondro-Gide® generally showed poor integration, no FBGC reaction was observed where it was seen to be integrated. That may favour the use of Chondro-Gide® as the scaffold for autologous cell-therapies compared to Alpha Chondro Shield[®] as an FBGC reaction can ultimately result in graft failure (Anderson et al., 2008). The FBGC reaction observed in the defects that were transplanted using Alpha Chondro Shield® could also negatively affect articular cartilage repair due to the release of inflammatory cytokines and ROS, and stimulate hypertrophic differentiation in chondrocytes (Morita et al., 2007). A pre-requisite for the success of cell transplantation therapies for articular cartilage repair using scaffolds is that the scaffold must maintain its properties and functions and regenerate tissue even when exposed to a compromised environment, e.g. as in the case of FBGC reaction (Iwasa *et al.*, 2009). In the osteochondral defects of the rat knee joints, vascularisation was needed to reform bone, followed by re-surfacing with articular cartilage. Whilst, some indications of trabecular bone restoration were observed in the repair tissue of cell-treated groups at 3 weeks and 6 weeks, no hyaline articular cartilage formation was seen at the surface of these defects. With longer time point analysis, maybe Alpha Chondro Shield[®] would have degraded with subsequent subchondral bone restoration and resurfacing with articular cartilage. It has also been shown in human patients that repair tissue following ACI procedure showed a fibrocartilage morphology at 12 months follow up whereas the repair tissue showed hyaline-like morphology at 19.8 month follow up (Roberts, I. McCall, *et al.*, 2003). It was suspected that the fibrous repair tissue may remodel with time to form hyaline-like cartilage. Future work should examine the potential for cartilage repair of CD271 selected MSCs from AT in larger animal models and with longer time point analysis posttransplantation.

6.7 Limitations of the study

There are various limitations to this study. One of the limitations is the small number of patient donors assessed. Experimental data on the incorporation and chondrogenesis that was presented within Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis has been derived from two patient donors for each data set. Limited donor availability is a drawback faced by researchers in the field of tissue engineering using primary human cells. Further research is required to examine more MSC donors from both tissue sources to ensure the reproducibility of the results presented within this thesis and to examine mechanisms of increasing the efficiency of cell seeding into these scaffolds and their optimal application in cell transplantations for cartilage repair.

In addition, the source of AT used for the experiments in Chapter 3 and 4 (both infrapatellar fat pad) was different to the AT used in the experiments in Chapter 5 (subcutaneous AT). As stated earlier in this Chapter, variability in gene expression of AT MSCs from donor-to-donor as well as in between different harvest sites has previously been reported (Baer and Geiger 2012). Another study stated that AT MSCs from infrapatellar fat pad showed enhanced levels of cartilage specific genes compared to MSCs from subcutaneous fat around the knee (Lopa et al., 2014). Future studies should compare BM and AT from the same patient. Furthermore, even with the same site of harvest of AT MSCs, discrepancies were observed between MSC samples used in Chapter 3 versus Chapter 4. That also indicates that MSCs display donor -to-donor variation. Indeed, the outcome of any autologous MSCbased therapies may be ultimately depend on the health, life style and age of the donor (Siddappa et al., 2007; Choudhery et al., 2014; Phinney 2012). In a recent review by Somoza and co-workers, it was emphasized that MSCs from different anatomical locations, or even subpopulations within the same tissue, are most likely to have different proliferation and differentiation potentials. They will also have varying requirements for, and responses to inducers of differentiation. Therefore, it may well be important to adopt standardised approaches for the isolation of MSCs from different sources in future (Somoza et al., 2014).

Another limitation of this work is that the results of the *in vitro* studies reported herein are not directly comparable to the *in vivo* situation in a human knee joint due to differences in the environment. For example, the physiological oxygen concentration of cartilage in the human knee joint is considered to be 2%, which becomes elevated somewhat in the case of joint pathologies such as OA and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Henrotin *et al.*, 2005). During the *in vitro* culture conditions in this thesis, the cells were grown in 21% O₂ and it has been previously shown that MSCs cultured under hypoxic conditions (1% O₂) showed enhanced expression of *SOX9*, *Col2a1* and *Acan* genes compared to atmospheric (21% O₂) conditions (Lee *et al.*, 2013). It has also been shown that chondrocytes grown in hypoxic conditions show enhanced chondrogenic differentiation potential compared to hyperoxic or atmospheric conditions (Kay *et al.*, 2011). However, many different culture conditions are used for differentiating MSCs towards cartilage and certainly researchers and clinicians have not yet adopted a hypoxic approach as one of the standard conditions for growing MSCs for chondrogenesis (reviewed by Freyria and Mallein-Gerin 2012).

The data presented herein on chondrogenesis is based largely on qualitative histology results. Obtaining quantitative data from histological sections is challenging and subjective, but nonetheless the results presented in Chapter 5 would have benefited from gene expression analysis of cartilage specific genes to more accurately define differences in the quality of the repair tissue seen in different localities between the different groups examined. In addition, data on the biomechanical functions of the knee joint following treatments would also have helped to determine the success of the cell-therapies tested.

6.8 Summary

A summary of the major findings of this thesis is presented in Figure 6.1. Overall, the results presented suggest that the culture expansion of MSCs is better in cell-based cartilage repair than the use of freshly isolated cells. On the basis of cell growth and collagen type II production, the *in vitro* studies suggest the use of BM MSCs with Chondro-Gide®. Where selective isolation is concerned, this thesis has also shown that better differentiation of CD271 selected MSCs than PA MSCs towards chondrogenesis was observed *in vitro*; however, the outcomes of the *in vivo* studies were limited, with poor evidence of chondrogenesis by either cell type. The potential for BM derived CD271 selected MSCs for *in vivo* cartilage repair has only been shown in one study by Mifune and co-workers (Mifune *et al.*, 2012). Further work is required to examine AT derived CD271⁺MSCs and to investigate their secretome for the effects of trophic factors during cartilage repair. In addition, further work should examine cell-scaffold transplantation in bigger animal models of reproducible chondral defects.



Figure 6.1 A Summary of the major findings. The major findings of Chapter 3-5 are presented here in a summary to show that the results of chapter 3 suggest that MSCs are better for their incorporation and growth than freshly isolated cells from both BM and AT with Chondro-Gide® proving to be the most suitable scaffold for MSCs incorporation and growth. In terms of chondrogenesis, BM MSCs with Chondro-Gide® is favoured over other cell-scaffold combinations studied. The findings of Chapter 4 and 5 suggest that CD271 selected MSCs are superior for chondrogenesis compared to PA MSCs and that CD271 MSCs may be better suited for cartilage repair as compared to PA MSCs. With regards to the scaffolds, Chondro-Gide® is favoured over Alpha Chondro Shield®.

6.9 Concluding remarks

Cartilage tissue engineering is an emerging field that holds considerable promise towards the success of a cell-based therapy for repairing chondral and osteochondral defects. As researchers and clinicians gradually incorporate new data in this rapidly expanding field, the tissue engineering of this complex tissue can be perfected. This thesis contributes to the current knowledge in the field of cartilage tissue engineering and repair by helping to address two main questions, whether to culture expand or not culture expand autologous cells for articular cartilage repair and whether to or not to selectively isolate CD271⁺ cells from AT for cartilage repair. From the findings presented, culture expansion of cells is favoured with BM being a more potent source of MSCs for chondrogenesis than AT. However, isolating CD271⁺MSCs from AT may have improved the potential of chondrogenesis of AT MSCs. Since the clinical grade anti-CD271 microbeads are already available and licensed for human use, CD271 can be easily translated for clinical use. Going forward, on the basis of the results presented within this thesis, a one-step procedure using CD271⁺MSCs from AT SVF maybe proposed for the treatment of chondral defects. This would require a minimally invasive liposuction procedure, followed by isolation of CD271⁺MSCs using clinical grade microbeads, which takes about 1 hour, with subsequent transplantation of CD271 immunopositive cells in combination with Chondro-Gide® as the scaffold, all in the same operating room. This would obviate the need for costly cell culture expansion and would greatly benefit the patients by reducing the risk of donor-site morbidity, as well as benefit clinicians who would not need to perform two highly invasive surgeries, which currently is standard practice.

References

- Acharya, P.S., Majumdar, S., Jacob, M., Hayden, J., Mrass, P., Weninger, W., Assoian, R.K.
 & Puré, E., 2008. Fibroblast migration is mediated by CD44-dependent TGF beta activation. *Journal of cell science*, 121(Pt 9), pp.1393–402.
- Adachi, N., Ochi, M., Deie, M. & Ito, Y., 2005. Transplant of mesenchymal stem cells and hydroxyapatite ceramics to treat severe osteochondral damage after septic arthritis of the knee. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 32(8), pp.1615–8.
- Adams, J.C. & Lawler, J., 2004. The thrombospondins. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, 36(6), pp.961–8.
- Aggarwal, S. & Pittenger, M.F., 2005. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. *Blood*, 105(4), pp.1815–22.
- Ahmed, T. a E. & Hincke, M.T., 2014. Mesenchymal stem cell-based tissue engineering strategies for repair of articular cartilage. *Histology and Histopathology*, 29(6), pp.669– 89.
- Al-Saffar, N., Iwaki, H. & Revell, P.A., 1998. Direct activation of mast cells by prosthetic biomaterial particles. *Journal of materials science*. *Materials in medicine*, 9(12), pp.849– 53.
- Altman, S.A., Randers, L. & Rao, G., Comparison of trypan blue dye exclusion and fluorometric assays for mammalian cell viability determinations. *Biotechnology progress*, 9(6), pp.671–4.
- Álvarez-Viejo, M., 2015. CD271 as a marker to identify mesenchymal stem cells from diverse sources before culture. *World Journal of Stem Cells*, 7(2), p.470.
- Anderer, U. & Libera, J., 2002. In vitro engineering of human autogenous cartilage. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 17(8), pp.1420–9.
- Anderson, J.M., 2001. Biological responses to materials. *Annual Review of Materials Research*, 31(1), pp.81–110.
- Anderson, J.M., Rodriguez, A. & Chang, D.T., 2008a. Foreign Body Reaction To Biomaterials. *Seminars in immunology*, 20(2), pp.86–100.
- Anderson, J.M., Rodriguez, A. & Chang, D.T., 2008b. Foreign body reaction to biomaterials. *Seminars in immunology*, 20(2), pp.86–100.
- Anraku, Y., Mizuta, H., Sei, A., Kudo, S., Nakamura, E., Senba, K. & Hiraki, Y., 2009. Analyses of early events during chondrogenic repair in rat full-thickness articular cartilage defects. *Journal of bone and mineral metabolism*, 27(3), pp.272–86.
- Archer, C.W., Dowthwaite, G.P. & Francis-West, P., 2003. Development of synovial joints. *Birth Defects Research Part C - Embryo Today: Reviews*, 69(2), pp.144–155.
- Archer, C.W., Morrison, H. & Pitsillides, A.A., 1994. Cellular aspects of the development of diarthrodial joints and articular cartilage. *Journal of anatomy*, 184 (Pt 3, pp.447–56.

- Arufe, M.C., De la Fuente, A., Fuentes, I., de Toro, F.J. & Blanco, F.J., 2010. Chondrogenic potential of subpopulations of cells expressing mesenchymal stem cell markers derived from human synovial membranes. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 111(4), pp.834–45.
- Arufe, M.C., De la Fuente, A., Fuentes-Boquete, I., De Toro, F.J. & Blanco, F.J., 2009. Differentiation of synovial CD-105(+) human mesenchymal stem cells into chondrocytelike cells through spheroid formation. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 108(1), pp.145– 55.
- Aspberg, A., 2012. The different roles of aggrecan interaction domains. *The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society*, 60(12), pp.987–96.
- Ateshian, G.. & Eckstein, F., 2004. Quantitative anatomy and imaging of diarthrodial joint articular layers. In *Basic Orthopaedic Biomechanics and Mechano-Biology*.
 Philadelphia, PA, USA: Wolters Kluwer, pp. 410–438.
- Athanasiou, K.A., Darling, E.M. & Hu, J.C., 2010. *Articular Cartilage Tissue Engineering*, Morgan & Claypool Publishers.
- Aust, L., Devlin, B., Foster, S.J., Halvorsen, Y.D.C., Hicok, K., du Laney, T., Sen, A., Willingmyre, G.D. & Gimble, J.M., 2004. Yield of human adipose-derived adult stem cells from liposuction aspirates. *Cytotherapy*, 6(1), pp.7–14.
- Baer, P.C. & Geiger, H., 2012. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: tissue localization, characterization, and heterogeneity. *Stem cells international*, 2012, p.812693.
- Bajada, S., Marshall, M.J., Wright, K.T., Richardson, J.B. & Johnson, W.E.B., 2009. Decreased osteogenesis, increased cell senescence and elevated Dickkopf-1 secretion in human fracture non union stromal cells. *Bone*, 45(4), pp.726–35.
- Barbero, A., Ploegert, S., Heberer, M. & Martin, I., 2003. Plasticity of clonal populations of dedifferentiated adult human articular chondrocytes. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 48(5), pp.1315–25.
- De Bari, C., Dell'Accio, F., Tylzanowski, P. & Luyten, F.P., 2001. Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from adult human synovial membrane. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 44(8), pp.1928–42.
- De Bari, C., Kurth, T.B. & Augello, A., 2010. Mesenchymal stem cells from development to postnatal joint homeostasis, aging, and disease. *Birth Defects Research Part C Embryo Today: Reviews*, 90(4), pp.257–271.
- Barry, F., Boynton, R.E., Liu, B. & Murphy, J.M., 2001. Chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow: differentiation-dependent gene expression of matrix components. *Experimental cell research*, 268(2), pp.189–200.
- Bartlett, W., Skinner, J.A., Gooding, C.R., Carrington, R.W.J., Flanagan, A.M., Briggs, T.W.R. & Bentley, G., 2005. Autologous chondrocyte implantation versus matrixinduced autologous chondrocyte implantation for osteochondral defects of the knee: a prospective, randomised study. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*,

87(5), pp.640–5.

- Battula, V.L., Treml, S., Bareiss, P.M., Gieseke, F., Roelofs, H., De Zwart, P., Müller, I., Schewe, B., Skutella, T., Fibbe, W.E., Kanz, L. & Bühring, H.J., 2009. Isolation of functionally distinct mesenchymal stem cell subsets using antibodies against CD56, CD271, and mesenchymal stem cell antigen-1. *Haematologica*, 94(2), pp.173–184.
- Bayliss, M.T., 1990. Proteoglycan structure and metabolism during maturation and ageing of human articular cartilage. *Biochemical Society transactions*, 18(5), pp.799–802.
- Becerra, J., Andrades, J.A., Guerado, E., Zamora-Navas, P., López-Puertas, J.M. & Reddi, A.H., 2010. Articular cartilage: structure and regeneration. *Tissue engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 16(6), pp.617–27.
- Behrens, P., Bitter, T., Kurz, B. & Russlies, M., 2006. Matrix-associated autologous chondrocyte transplantation/implantation (MACT/MACI)--5-year follow-up. *The Knee*, 13(3), pp.194–202.
- Benders, K.E.M., Weeren, P.R. van, Badylak, S.F., Saris, D.B.F., Dhert, W.J.A. & Malda, J., 2013. Extracellular matrix scaffolds for cartilage and bone regeneration. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 31(3), pp.169–176.
- Bentley, G., Biant, L.C., Vijayan, S., Macmull, S., Skinner, J.A. & Carrington, R.W.J., 2012. Minimum ten-year results of a prospective randomised study of autologous chondrocyte implantation versus mosaicplasty for symptomatic articular cartilage lesions of the knee. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 94(4), pp.504–9.
- Benya, P.D., Padilla, S.R. & Nimni, M.E., 1978. Independent regulation of collagen types by chondrocytes during the loss of differentiated function in culture. *Cell*, 15(4), pp.1313–1321.
- Benya, P.D. & Shaffer, J.D., 1982. Dedifferentiated chondrocytes reexpress the differentiated collagen phenotype when cultured in agarose gels. *Cell*, 30(1), pp.215–24.
- Beyth, S., Borovsky, Z., Mevorach, D., Liebergall, M., Gazit, Z., Aslan, H., Galun, E. & Rachmilewitz, J., 2005. Human mesenchymal stem cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. *Blood*, 105(5), pp.2214–9.
- Bhosale, A.M. & Richardson, J.B., 2008. Articular cartilage: Structure, injuries and review of management. *British Medical Bulletin*, 87(1), pp.77–95.
- Bhumiratana, S., Eton, R.E., Oungoulian, S.R., Wan, L.Q., Ateshian, G. a & Vunjak-Novakovic, G., 2014. Large, stratified, and mechanically functional human cartilage grown in vitro by mesenchymal condensation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(19), pp.6940–5.
- Bi, Y., Stuelten, C.H., Kilts, T., Wadhwa, S., Iozzo, R. V, Robey, P.G., Chen, X.-D. & Young, M.F., 2005. Extracellular matrix proteoglycans control the fate of bone marrow stromal cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 280(34), pp.30481–9.
- Bianco, P., Robey, P.G. & Simmons, P.J., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. *Cell stem cell*, 2(4), pp.313–9.

- Blumer, M.J.F., Longato, S. & Fritsch, H., 2008. Structure, formation and role of cartilage canals in the developing bone. *Annals of anatomy = Anatomischer Anzeiger : official organ of the Anatomische Gesellschaft*, 190(4), pp.305–15.
- Boeuf, S. & Richter, W., 2010. Chondrogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells: role of tissue source and inducing factors. *Stem cell research & therapy*, 1(4), p.31.
- Bonaventure, J., Kadhom, N., Cohen-Solal, L., Ng, K.H., Bourguignon, J., Lasselin, C. & Freisinger, P., 1994. Reexpression of cartilage-specific genes by dedifferentiated human articular chondrocytes cultured in alginate beads. *Experimental cell research*, 212(1), pp.97–104.
- Bosnakovski, D., Mizuno, M., Kim, G., Takagi, S., Okumura, M. & Fujinaga, T., 2006. Chondrogenic differentiation of bovine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in different hydrogels: influence of collagen type II extracellular matrix on MSC chondrogenesis. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 93(6), pp.1152–63.
- Bourin, P., Bunnell, B.A., Casteilla, L., Dominici, M., Katz, A.J., March, K.L., Redl, H.,
 Rubin, J.P., Yoshimura, K. & Gimble, J.M., 2013. Stromal cells from the adipose tissuederived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: A joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International So. *Cytotherapy*, 15(6), pp.641– 648.
- Brittberg, M., 2010. Cell carriers as the next generation of cell therapy for cartilage repair: a review of the matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 38(6), pp.1259–1271.
- Brittberg, M., Lindahl, A., Nilsson, A., Ohlsson, C., Isaksson, O. & Peterson, L., 1994. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. *The New England journal of medicine*, 331(14), pp.889–95.
- Browne, J.E. & Branch, T.P., 2000. Surgical alternatives for treatment of articular cartilage lesions. *The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*, 8(3), pp.180– 189.
- Buckley, C.T., Vinardell, T., Thorpe, S.D., Haugh, M.G., Jones, E., McGonagle, D. & Kelly, D.J., 2010. Functional properties of cartilaginous tissues engineered from infrapatellar fat pad-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 43(5), pp.920–926.
- Buckwalter, J. a, 1998. Articular cartilage: injuries and potential for healing. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 28(4), pp.192–202.
- Buckwalter, J., Mow, V. & Ratcliffe, A., 1994. Restoration of Injured or Degenerated Articular Cartilage. J. Am. Acad. Orthop. Surg., 2(4), pp.192–201.
- Buckwalter, J.A., Hunzinker, E., Rosenberg, L., Coutts, R., Adams, M. & Eyre, D., 1988. Articular cartilage: composition and structure Injury and. S. Woo & J. Buckwalter, eds., Park Ridge, IL: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons.
- Buckwalter, J.A. & Mankin, H.J., 1997. Articular Cartilage. Part I: Tissue Design and Chondrocyte-Matrix Interactions. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, 79(4), pp.600–

11.

- Buda, R., Vannini, F., Cavallo, M., Grigolo, B., Cenacchi, A. & Giannini, S., 2010. Osteochondral lesions of the knee: a new one-step repair technique with bone-marrowderived cells. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 92 Suppl 2, pp.2–11.
- Bühring, H.-J., Battula, V.L., Treml, S., Schewe, B., Kanz, L. & Vogel, W., 2007. Novel markers for the prospective isolation of human MSC. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1106, pp.262–71.
- Bui, K.H.-T., Duong, T.D., Nguyen, N.T., Nguyen, T.D., Le, V.T., Mai, V.T., Phan, N.L.-C., Le, D.M., Phan, N.K. & Pham, P. Van, 2014. Symptomatic knee osteoarthritis treatment using autologous adipose derived stem cells and platelet-rich plasma: a clinical study. *Biomedical Research and Therapy*, 1(1), pp.2–8.
- Bunnell, B. a, Flaat, M., Gagliardi, C., Patel, B. & Ripoll, C., 2008. Adipose-derived stem cells: isolation, expansion and differentiation. *Methods (San Diego, Calif.)*, 45(2), pp.115–20.
- Burleigh, A., Chanalaris, A., Gardiner, M.D., Driscoll, C., Boruc, O., Saklatvala, J. & Vincent, T.L., 2012. Joint immobilization prevents murine osteoarthritis and reveals the highly mechanosensitive nature of protease expression in vivo. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 64(7), pp.2278–88.
- Caldwell, K.L. & Wang, J., 2015. Cell-based articular cartilage repair: the link between development and regeneration. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 23(3), pp.351–62.
- Campoccia, D., Doherty, P., Radice, M., Brun, P., Abatangelo, G. & Williams, D.F., 1998. Semisynthetic resorbable materials from hyaluronan esterification. *Biomaterials*, 19(23), pp.2101–27.
- Caplan, A.I., 2007. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 213(2), pp.341–347.
- Caplan, A.I., 1991. Mesenchymal stem cells. Journal of orthopaedic research, 9, pp.641-650.
- Caplan, A.I., 1994. The mesengenic process. Clinics in plastic surgery, 21(3), pp.429-35.
- Caplan, A.I. & Dennis, J.E., 2006. Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 98(5), pp.1076–84.
- Caplan, A.I. & Goldberg, V.M., 1999. Principles of tissue engineered regeneration of skeletal tissues. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, (367 Suppl), pp.S12–6.
- Cavallo, C., Desando, G., Columbaro, M., Ferrari, A., Zini, N., Facchini, A. & Grigolo, B., 2013. Chondrogenic differentiation of bone marrow concentrate grown onto a hylauronan scaffold: rationale for its use in the treatment of cartilage lesions. *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A*, 101(6), pp.1559–70.
- Chan, C.K.F., Seo, E.Y., Chen, J.Y., Lo, D., Mcardle, A., Sinha, R., Tevlin, R., Seita, J., Vincent-tompkins, J., Wearda, T., Lu, W., Senarath-yapa, K., Chung, M.T., Marecic, O.,

Tran, M., Yan, K.S., Upton, R., Walmsley, G.G., Lee, A.S., et al., 2015. Article Identification and Specification of the Mouse Skeletal Stem Cell. *Cell*, 160(1-2), pp.285–298.

- Chernov, V.M., Chernova, O.A., Sanchez-Vega, J.T., Kolpakov, A.I. & Ilinskaya, O.N., 2014. Mycoplasma Contamination of Cell Cultures: Vesicular Traffic in Bacteria and Control over Infectious Agents. *Acta naturae*, 6(3), pp.41–51.
- Cherubino, P., Grassi, F.A., Bulgheroni, P. & Ronga, M., 2003. Autologous chondrocyte implantation using a bilayer collagen membrane: a preliminary report. *Journal of orthopaedic surgery (Hong Kong)*, 11(1), pp.10–5.
- Cho, M.K., Suh, S.H., Lee, C.H. & Kim, S.G., 2005. Bovine type I collagen inhibits Raw264.7 cell proliferation through phosphoinositide 3-kinase- and mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent down-regulation of cyclins D1, A and B1. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 1744(1), pp.47–57.
- Choudhery, M.S., Badowski, M., Muise, A., Pierce, J. & Harris, D.T., 2014. Donor age negatively impacts adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell expansion and differentiation. *Journal of translational medicine*, 12(1), p.8.
- Chow, J.C.Y., Hantes, M.E., Houle, J.B. & Zalavras, C.G., 2004. Arthroscopic autogenous osteochondral transplantation for treating knee cartilage defects: a 2- to 5-year follow-up study. *Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association*, 20(7), pp.681–90.
- Chung, J.Y., Song, M., Ha, C.-W., Kim, J.-A., Lee, C.-H. & Park, Y.-B., 2014. Comparison of articular cartilage repair with different hydrogel-human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cell composites in a rat model. *Stem cell research & therapy*, 5(2), p.39.
- Churchman, S.M., Ponchel, F., Boxall, S.A., Cuthbert, R., Kouroupis, D., Roshdy, T., Giannoudis, P. V, Emery, P., McGonagle, D. & Jones, E.A., 2012. Transcriptional profile of native CD271+ multipotential stromal cells: evidence for multiple fates, with prominent osteogenic and Wnt pathway signaling activity. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 64(8), pp.2632–43.
- Cohnheim, J., 1867. Ueber Entzündung und Eiterung. Archiv für Pathologische Anatomie und Physiologie und für Klinische Medicin, 40(1-2), pp.1–79.
- Cole, B.J., Pascual-Garrido, C. & Grumet, R.C., 2009. Surgical management of articular cartilage defects in the knee. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 91(7), pp.1778–90.
- Constance, R.C., Michal, S. & Stephen, B., 2010. Animal models for cartilage regeneration and repair. *Tissue engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 16(1), pp.105–15.
- Cook, J.L., Hung, C.T., Kuroki, K., Stoker, A.M., Cook, C.R., Pfeiffer, F.M., Sherman, S.L. & Stannard, J.P., 2014. Animal models of cartilage repair. *Bone & joint research*, 3(4), pp.89–94.

- Cristino, S., Grassi, F., Toneguzzi, S., Piacentini, A., Grigolo, B., Santi, S., Riccio, M., Tognana, E., Facchini, A. & Lisignoli, G., 2005. Analysis of mesenchymal stem cells grown on a three-dimensional HYAFF 11-based prototype ligament scaffold. *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A*, 73(3), pp.275–83.
- Csaki, C., Schneider, P.R.A. & Shakibaei, M., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells as a potential pool for cartilage tissue engineering. *Annals of anatomy = Anatomischer Anzeiger : official organ of the Anatomische Gesellschaft*, 190(5), pp.395–412.
- Cuthbert, R.J., Giannoudis, P. V., Wang, X.N., Nicholson, L., Pawson, D., Lubenko, A., Tan, H.B., Dickinson, A., McGonagle, D. & Jones, E., 2015. Examining the Feasibility of Clinical Grade CD271+ Enrichment of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Bone Regeneration. *Plos One*, 10(3), p.e0117855.
- D'Anchise, R., Manta, N., Prospero, E., Bevilacqua, C. & Gigante, A., 2005. Autologous implantation of chondrocytes on a solid collagen scaffold: clinical and histological outcomes after two years of follow-up. *Journal of Orthopaedics and Traumatology*, 6(1), pp.36–43.
- Danišovič, Ľ., Lesný, P., Havlas, V., Teyssler, P., Syrová, Z. & Kopáni, M., 2007. Chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells., (Buckwalter 1998), pp.139–150.
- Decker, R.S., Koyama, E. & Pacifici, M., 2014. Genesis and morphogenesis of limb synovial joints and articular cartilage. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, 39, pp.5–10.
- Detterline, A.J., Goldberg, S., Bach, B.R. & Cole, B.J., 2005. Treatment options for articular cartilage defects of the knee. *Orthopaedic nursing / National Association of Orthopaedic Nurses*, 24(5), pp.361–6; quiz 367–8.
- Dijke, P. ten, Goumans, M.-J. & Pardali, E., 2008. Endoglin in angiogenesis and vascular diseases. *Angiogenesis*, 11(1), pp.79–89.
- DiMicco, M.A., Patwari, P., Siparsky, P.N., Kumar, S., Pratta, M.A., Lark, M.W., Kim, Y.-J. & Grodzinsky, A.J., 2004. Mechanisms and kinetics of glycosaminoglycan release following in vitro cartilage injury. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 50(3), pp.840–8.
- Dimitriou, R., Jones, E., McGonagle, D. & Giannoudis, P. V, 2011. Bone regeneration: current concepts and future directions. *BMC medicine*, 9(1), p.66.
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., Deans, R., Keating, a, Prockop, D. & Horwitz, E., 2006. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*, 8(4), pp.315–7.
- Donnan, F.G., 1924. The theory of membrane equilibria. Chemical Reviews, 1(1), pp.73-90.
- Doss, M.X., Koehler, C.I., Gissel, C., Hescheler, J. & Sachinidis, A., 2004. Embryonic stem cells: a promising tool for cell replacement therapy. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, 8(4), pp.465–73.
- Dowthwaite, G.P., Bishop, J.C., Redman, S.N., Khan, I.M., Rooney, P., Evans, D.J.R.,

Haughton, L., Bayram, Z., Boyer, S., Thomson, B., Wolfe, M.S. & Archer, C.W., 2004. The surface of articular cartilage contains a progenitor cell population. *Journal of cell science*, 117(Pt 6), pp.889–97.

- Dragoo, J.L., Carlson, G., McCormick, F., Khan-Farooqi, H., Zhu, M., Zuk, P.A. & Benhaim, P., 2007. Healing full-thickness cartilage defects using adipose-derived stem cells. *Tissue engineering*, 13(7), pp.1615–21.
- Dragoo, J.L., Samimi, B., Zhu, M., Hame, S.L., Thomas, B.J., Lieberman, J.R., Hedrick, M.H. & Benhaim, P., 2003. Tissue-engineered cartilage and bone using stem cells from human infrapatellar fat pads. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 85(5), pp.740–7.
- Driesang, I.M. & Hunziker, E.B., 2000. Delamination rates of tissue flaps used in articular cartilage repair. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 18(6), pp.909–11.
- Duran, R.C., Gonzalez-garza, M.T., Cardenas-, A., Chavez-castilla, L., Cruz-vega, D.E. & Moreno-cuevas, J.E., 2013. Age-related yield of Adipose-derived Stem Cells bearing the Low- Affinity Nerve Growth Factor Receptor., 2013.
- Ellman, M.B., Yan, D., Ahmadinia, K., Chen, D., An, H.S. & Im, H.J., 2013. Fibroblast growth factor control of cartilage homeostasis. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 114(4), pp.735–42.
- Endres, M., Neumann, K., Zhou, B., Freymann, U., Pretzel, D., Stoffel, M., Kinne, R.W. & Kaps, C., 2012. An ovine in vitro model for chondrocyte-based scaffold-assisted cartilage grafts. *Journal of orthopaedic surgery and research*, 7(1), p.37.
- Erggelet, C., Neumann, K., Endres, M., Haberstroh, K., Sittinger, M. & Kaps, C., 2007. Regeneration of ovine articular cartilage defects by cell-free polymer-based implants. *Biomaterials*, 28(36), pp.5570–80.
- Eyre, D., 2002. Collagen of articular cartilage. Arthritis research, 4(1), pp.30–35.
- Falah, M., Nierenberg, G., Soudry, M., Hayden, M. & Volpin, G., 2010. Treatment of articular cartilage lesions of the knee. *International orthopaedics*, 34(5), pp.621–30.
- Fan, J., Varshney, R.R., Ren, L., Cai, D. & Wang, D.-A., 2009. Synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a new cell source for musculoskeletal regeneration. *Tissue* engineering. Part B, Reviews, 15(1), pp.75–86.
- Farndale, R.W., Buttle, D.J. & Barrett, A.J., 1986. Improved quantitation and discrimination of sulphated glycosaminoglycans by use of dimethylmethylene blue. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 883(2), pp.173–7.
- Flannery, C.R., Zollner, R., Corcoran, C., Jones, A.R., Root, A., Rivera-Bermúdez, M.A., Blanchet, T., Gleghorn, J.P., Bonassar, L.J., Bendele, A.M., Morris, E.A. & Glasson, S.S., 2009. Prevention of cartilage degeneration in a rat model of osteoarthritis by intraarticular treatment with recombinant lubricin. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 60(3), pp.840–7.

Flores-Torales, E., Orozco-Barocio, A., Gonzalez-Ramella, O.R., Carrasco-Yalan, A.,

Gazarian, K. & Cuneo-Pareto, S., 2010. The CD271 expression could be alone for establisher phenotypic marker in Bone Marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Folia histochemica et cytobiologica / Polish Academy of Sciences, Polish Histochemical and Cytochemical Society*, 48(4), pp.682–6.

- Fox, A.J.S., Bedi, A. & Rodeo, S.A., 2009. The basic science of articular cartilage: structure, composition, and function. *Sports health*, 1(6), pp.461–8.
- Fraser, J.K., Zhu, M., Wulur, I. & Alfonso, Z., 2008. Adipose-derived stem cells. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 449, pp.59–67.
- Freed, L.E., Marquis, J.C., Nohria, A., Emmanual, J., Mikos, A.G. & Langer, R., 1993. Neocartilage formation in vitro and in vivo using cells cultured on synthetic biodegradable polymers. *Journal of biomedical materials research*, 27(1), pp.11–23.
- Freed, L.E., Vunjak-Novakovic, G., Biron, R.J., Eagles, D.B., Lesnoy, D.C., Barlow, S.K. & Langer, R., 1994. Biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. *Bio/technology (Nature Publishing Company)*, 12(7), pp.689–93.
- Freyria, A.-M. & Mallein-Gerin, F., 2012. Chondrocytes or adult stem cells for cartilage repair: the indisputable role of growth factors. *Injury*, 43(3), pp.259–65.
- Friedenstein, a J., Piatetzky-Shapiro, I.I. & Petrakova, K. V, 1966. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. *Journal of embryology and experimental morphology*, 16(3), pp.381–90.
- Friedenstein, A.J., Chailakhjan, R.K. & Lalykina, K.S., 1970. The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. *Cell and tissue kinetics*, 3(4), pp.393–403.
- Friedenstein, A.J., Gorskaja, J.F. & Kulagina, N.N., 1976. Fibroblast precursors in normal and irradiated mouse hematopoietic organs. *Experimental hematology*, 4(5), pp.267–74.
- Frisbie, D.D., Cross, M.W. & McIlwraith, C.W., 2006. A comparative study of articular cartilage thickness in the stifle of animal species used in human pre-clinical studies compared to articular cartilage thickness in the human knee. *Veterinary and comparative orthopaedics and traumatology : V.C.O.T*, 19(3), pp.142–6.
- Furumatsu, T., Ozaki, T. & Asahara, H., 2009. Smad3 activates the Sox9-dependent transcription on chromatin. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, 41(5), pp.1198–204.
- Fuss, M., Ehlers, E.M., Russlies, M., Rohwedel, J. & Behrens, P., 2000. Characteristics of human chondrocytes, osteoblasts and fibroblasts seeded onto a type I/III collagen sponge under different culture conditions. A light, scanning and transmission electron microscopy study. *Annals of anatomy = Anatomischer Anzeiger : official organ of the Anatomische Gesellschaft*, 182(4), pp.303–10.
- Gessner, A., Mohrs, K. & Mohrs, M., 2005. Mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils acquire constitutive IL-4 and IL-13 transcripts during lineage differentiation that are sufficient for rapid cytokine production. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 174(2), pp.1063–72.

- Getgood, A., Bhullar, T.P.S. & Rushton, N., 2009. Current concepts in articular cartilage repair. Orthopaedics and Trauma, 23(3), pp.189–200.
- Giannini, S., Buda, R., Vannini, F., Cavallo, M. & Grigolo, B., 2009a. One-step bone marrowderived cell transplantation in talar osteochondral lesions. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, 467(12), pp.3307–20.
- Giannini, S., Buda, R., Vannini, F., Cavallo, M. & Grigolo, B., 2009b. One-step bone marrowderived cell transplantation in talar osteochondral lesions.,
- Gigante, A., Bevilacqua, C., Ricevuto, A., Mattioli-Belmonte, M. & Greco, F., 2007. Membrane-seeded autologous chondrocytes: cell viability and characterization at surgery. *Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA*, 15(1), pp.88–92.
- Gigante, A., Calcagno, S., Cecconi, S., Ramazzotti, D., Manzotti, S. & Enea, D., 2011. Use of collagen scaffold and autologous bone marrow concentrate as a one-step cartilage repair in the knee: histological results of second-look biopsies at 1 year follow-up. *International journal of immunopathology and pharmacology*, 24(1 Suppl 2), pp.69–72.
- Gill, T.J. & Macgillivray, J.D., 2001. The technique of microfracture for the treatment of articular cartilage defects in the knee. *Operative Techniques in Orthopaedics*, 11(2), pp.105–107.
- Gimble, J.M., Katz, A.J. & Bunnell, B.A., 2007. Adipose-Derived Stem Cells for Regenerative Medicine. *Circulation Research*, 100(9), pp.1249–1260.
- Glenister, T.W., 1976. An embryological view of cartilage. *Journal of anatomy*, 122(Pt 2), pp.323–330.
- Gobbi, a., Karnatzikos, G., Scotti, C., Mahajan, V., Mazzucco, L. & Grigolo, B., 2011. One-Step Cartilage Repair with Bone Marrow Aspirate Concentrated Cells and Collagen Matrix in Full-Thickness Knee Cartilage Lesions: Results at 2-Year Follow-up. *Cartilage*, 2(3), pp.286–299.
- Gobbi, A., Karnatzikos, G., Scotti, C., Mahajan, V., Mazzucco, L. & Grigolo, B., 2011. One-Step Cartilage Repair with Bone Marrow Aspirate Concentrated Cells and Collagen Matrix in Full-Thickness Knee Cartilage Lesions: Results at 2-Year Follow-up. *Cartilage*, 2(3), pp.286–299.
- Goebel, L., Orth, P., Müller, A., Zurakowski, D., Bücker, A., Cucchiarini, M., Pape, D. & Madry, H., 2012. Experimental scoring systems for macroscopic articular cartilage repair correlate with the MOCART score assessed by a high-field MRI at 9.4 T--comparative evaluation of five macroscopic scoring systems in a large animal cartilage defect model. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 20(9), pp.1046–55.
- Goldring, M.B., Tsuchimochi, K. & Ijiri, K., 2006. The control of chondrogenesis. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 97(1), pp.33–44.
- Gooding, C.R., Bartlett, W., Bentley, G., Skinner, J.A., Carrington, R. & Flanagan, A., 2006. A prospective, randomised study comparing two techniques of autologous chondrocyte

implantation for osteochondral defects in the knee: Periosteum covered versus type I/III collagen covered. *The Knee*, 13(3), pp.203–10.

- Goodison, S., Urquidi, V. & Tarin, D., 1999. CD44 cell adhesion molecules. *Molecular pathology* : *MP*, 52(4), pp.189–96.
- Green, S.J., Tarone, G. & Underhill, C.B., 1988. Aggregation of macrophages and fibroblasts is inhibited by a monoclonal antibody to the hyaluronate receptor. *Experimental cell research*, 178(2), pp.224–32.
- Grigolo, B., Roseti, L., Fiorini, M., Fini, M., Giavaresi, G., Aldini, N.N., Giardino, R. & Facchini, A., 2001. Transplantation of chondrocytes seeded on a hyaluronan derivative (hyaff-11) into cartilage defects in rabbits. *Biomaterials*, 22(17), pp.2417–24.
- Grogan, S.P., Duffy, S.F., Pauli, C., Koziol, J.A., Su, A.I., D'Lima, D.D. & Lotz, M.K., 2013. Zone-specific gene expression patterns in articular cartilage. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 65(2), pp.418–28.
- Guilak, F., Alexopoulos, L.G., Upton, M.L., Youn, I., Choi, J.B., Cao, L., Setton, L. a. & Haider, M. a., 2006. The pericellular matrix as a transducer of biomechanical and biochemical signals in articular cartilage. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1068(1), pp.498–512.
- Guo, X., Wang, C., Zhang, Y., Xia, R., Hu, M., Duan, C., Zhao, Q., Dong, L., Lu, J. & Qing Song, Y., 2004. Repair of large articular cartilage defects with implants of autologous mesenchymal stem cells seeded into beta-tricalcium phosphate in a sheep model. *Tissue engineering*, 10(11-12), pp.1818–29.
- Haddo, O., Mahroof, S., Higgs, D., David, L., Pringle, J., Bayliss, M., Cannon, S.R. & Briggs, T.W.R., 2004. The use of chondrogide membrane in autologous chondrocyte implantation. *The Knee*, 11(1), pp.51–55.
- Haleem, A.M., Singergy, A.A. El, Sabry, D., Atta, H.M., Rashed, L.A., Chu, C.R., El Shewy, M.T., Azzam, A. & Abdel Aziz, M.T., 2010. The Clinical Use of Human Culture-Expanded Autologous Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Transplanted on Platelet-Rich Fibrin Glue in the Treatment of Articular Cartilage Defects: A Pilot Study and Preliminary Results. *Cartilage*, 1(4), pp.253–261.
- Han, S.H., Kim, Y.H., Park, M.S., Kim, I.A., Shin, J.W., Yang, W.I., Jee, K.S., Park, K.D., Ryu, G.H. & Lee, J.W., 2008. Histological and biomechanical properties of regenerated articular cartilage using chondrogenic bone marrow stromal cells with a PLGA scaffold in vivo. *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A*, 87(4), pp.850–61.
- Hangody, L., Vásárhelyi, G., Hangody, L.R., Sükösd, Z., Tibay, G., Bartha, L. & Bodó, G., 2008. Autologous osteochondral grafting--technique and long-term results. *Injury*, 39 Suppl 1, pp.S32–9.
- Hannouche, D., Terai, H., Fuchs, J.R., Terada, S., Zand, S., Nasseri, B.A., Petite, H., Sedel, L. & Vacanti, J.P., 2007. Engineering of implantable cartilaginous structures from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue engineering*, 13(1), pp.87–99.
- Hardingham, T., 1981. Proteoglycans: their structure, interactions and molecular organization
in cartilage. Biochemical Society transactions, 9(6), pp.489-97.

- Harris, J.D., Siston, R.A., Brophy, R.H., Lattermann, C., Carey, J.L. & Flanigan, D.C., 2011. Failures, re-operations, and complications after autologous chondrocyte implantation--a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, 19(7), pp.779–91.
- Harris, J.D., Siston, R.A., Pan, X. & Flanigan, D.C., 2010. Autologous chondrocyte implantation: a systematic review. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 92(12), pp.2220–33.
- Hass, R., Kasper, C., Böhm, S. & Jacobs, R., 2011. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): A comparison of adult and neonatal tissuederived MSC. *Cell communication and signaling* : *CCS*, 9, p.12.
- Havelka, S., Horn, V., Spohrová, D. & Valouch, P., 1984. The calcified-noncalcified cartilage interface: the tidemark. *Acta biologica Hungarica*, 35(2-4), pp.271–9.
- Haynesworth, S.E., Baber, M.A. & Caplan, A.I., 1996. Cytokine expression by human marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells in vitro: effects of dexamethasone and IL-1 alpha. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 166(3), pp.585–92.
- Heinegård, D., 2009. Proteoglycans and more--from molecules to biology. *International journal of experimental pathology*, 90(6), pp.575–86.
- Helder, M.N., Knippenberg, M., Klein-Nulend, J. & Wuisman, P.I.J.M., 2007. Stem cells from adipose tissue allow challenging new concepts for regenerative medicine. *Tissue engineering*, 13(8), pp.1799–808.
- Henrotin, Y., Kurz, B. & Aigner, T., 2005. Oxygen and reactive oxygen species in cartilage degradation: friends or foes? Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, 13(8), pp.643–54.
- Herberts, C.A., Kwa, M.S.G. & Hermsen, H.P.H., 2011. Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. *Journal of translational medicine*, 9, p.29.
- Hjelle, K., Solheim, E., Strand, T., Muri, R. & Brittberg, M., 2002. Articular cartilage defects in 1,000 knee arthroscopies. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 18(7), pp.730–734.
- Horas, U., Pelinkovic, D., Herr, G., Aigner, T. & Schnettler, R., 2003. Autologous chondrocyte implantation and osteochondral cylinder transplantation in cartilage repair of the knee joint. A prospective, comparative trial. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 85-A(2), pp.185–92.
- Horwitz, E.M., Le Blanc, K., Dominici, M., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F.C., Deans, R.J., Krause, D.S. & Keating, a, 2005. Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*, 7(5), pp.393–395.
- Horwitz, E.M. & Keating, A., 2000. Nonhematopoietic mesenchymal stem cells: What are they? *Cytotherapy*, 2(5), pp.387–388.

- Huang, F.S., Simonian, P.T., Norman, A.G. & Clark, J.M., 2004. Effects of small incongruities in a sheep model of osteochondral autografting. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 32(8), pp.1842–8.
- Huang, W., Chung, U.I., Kronenberg, H.M. & de Crombrugghe, B., 2001. The chondrogenic transcription factor Sox9 is a target of signaling by the parathyroid hormone-related peptide in the growth plate of endochondral bones. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 98(1), pp.160–5.
- Huang, X., Zauscher, S., Klitzman, B., Truskey, G.A., Reichert, W.M., Kenan, D.J. & Grinstaff, M.W., 2010. Peptide interfacial biomaterials improve endothelial cell adhesion and spreading on synthetic polyglycolic acid materials. *Annals of biomedical engineering*, 38(6), pp.1965–76.
- Hunter, C.J., Imler, S.M., Malaviya, P., Nerem, R.M. & Levenston, M.E., 2002. Mechanical compression alters gene expression and extracellular matrix synthesis by chondrocytes cultured in collagen I gels. *Biomaterials*, 23(4), pp.1249–1259.
- Hunter, W., 1743. Of the Structure and Diseases of Articulating Cartilages, by William Hunter, Surgeon. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 42(462-471), pp.514–521.
- Hunziker, E.B., Lippuner, K., Keel, M.J.B. & Shintani, N., 2015. An educational review of cartilage repair: precepts & practice – myths & misconceptions – progress & prospects. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(3), pp.334–350.
- Hunziker, E.B. & Rosenberg, L.C., 1996. Repair of partial-thickness defects in articular cartilage: cell recruitment from the synovial membrane. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 78(5), pp.721–33.
- Hutmacher, D.W., 2001. Scaffold design and fabrication technologies for engineering tissues-state of the art and future perspectives. *Journal of biomaterials science. Polymer edition*, 12(1), pp.107–24.
- Hyde, G., Dover, S., Aszodi, A., Wallis, G.A. & Boot-Handford, R.P., 2007. Lineage tracing using matrilin-1 gene expression reveals that articular chondrocytes exist as the joint interzone forms. *Developmental biology*, 304(2), pp.825–33.
- Iannone, F., De Bari, C., Dell'Accio, F., Covelli, M., Patella, V., Lo Bianco, G. & Lapadula, G., 2002. Increased expression of nerve growth factor (NGF) and high affinity NGF receptor (p140 TrkA) in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*, 41(12), pp.1413–8.
- Ilic, M.Z., Haynes, S.R., Winter, G.M. & Handley, C.J., 1995. Kinetics of release of aggrecan from explant cultures of bovine cartilage from different sources and from animals of different ages. *Acta orthopaedica Scandinavica. Supplementum*, 266, pp.33–37.
- Illouz, Y.G., 1983. Body contouring by lipolysis: a 5-year experience with over 3000 cases. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, 72(5), pp.591–7.
- Im, G.I., Kim, D.Y., Shin, J.H., Hyun, C.W. & Cho, W.H., 2001. Repair of cartilage defect in the rabbit with cultured mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow. *The Journal of bone*

and joint surgery. British volume, 83(2), pp.289-94.

- Im, G.-I. & Lee, J.H., 2010. Repair of osteochondral defects with adipose stem cells and a dual growth factor-releasing scaffold in rabbits. *Journal of biomedical materials research*. *Part B, Applied biomaterials*, 92(2), pp.552–60.
- Im, G.-I., Shin, Y.-W. & Lee, K.-B., 2005. Do adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have the same osteogenic and chondrogenic potential as bone marrow-derived cells? *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 13(10), pp.845– 53.
- Iwamoto, M., Ohta, Y., Larmour, C. & Enomoto-Iwamoto, M., 2013. Toward regeneration of articular cartilage. *Birth defects research. Part C, Embryo today : reviews*, 99(3), pp.192–202.
- Iwasa, J., Engebretsen, L., Shima, Y. & Ochi, M., 2009. Clinical application of scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 17(6), pp.561–577.
- Iyer, S.S. & Rojas, M., 2008. Anti-inflammatory effects of mesenchymal stem cells: novel concept for future therapies. *Expert opinion on biological therapy*, 8(5), pp.569–81.
- Jaiswal, N., Haynesworth, S.E., Caplan, A.I. & Bruder, S.P., 1997. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 64(2), pp.295–312.
- Jakobsen, R.B., Shahdadfar, A., Reinholt, F.P. & Brinchmann, J.E., 2010. Chondrogenesis in a hyaluronic acid scaffold: comparison between chondrocytes and MSC from bone marrow and adipose tissue. *Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA*, 18(10), pp.1407–16.
- Jiang, T., Liu, W., Lv, X., Sun, H., Zhang, L., Liu, Y., Zhang, W.J., Cao, Y. & Zhou, G., 2010. Potent in vitro chondrogenesis of CD105 enriched human adipose-derived stem cells. *Biomaterials*, 31(13), pp.3564–71.
- Jo, C.H., Lee, Y.G., Shin, W.H., Kim, H., Chai, J.W., Jeong, E.C., Kim, J.E., Shim, H., Shin, J.S., Shin, I.S., Ra, J.C., Oh, S. & Yoon, K.S., 2014. Intra-articular injection of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: a proof-ofconcept clinical trial. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, 32(5), pp.1254–66.
- Johnstone, B., Hering, T.M., Caplan, A.I., Goldberg, V.M. & Yoo, J.U., 1998. In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Experimental cell research*, 238(1), pp.265–72.
- Jokinen, J., Dadu, E., Nykvist, P., Käpylä, J., White, D.J., Ivaska, J., Vehviläinen, P., Reunanen, H., Larjava, H., Häkkinen, L. & Heino, J., 2004. Integrin-mediated cell adhesion to type I collagen fibrils. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 279(30), pp.31956–63.
- Jones, E. & McGonagle, D., 2008. Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in vivo. *Rheumatology*, 47(2), pp.126–131.
- Jones, E.A., English, A., Kinsey, S.E., Straszynski, L., Emery, P., Ponchel, F. & McGonagle,

D., 2006. Optimization of a flow cytometry-based protocol for detection and phenotypic characterization of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells from human bone marrow. *Cytometry. Part B, Clinical cytometry*, 70(6), pp.391–9.

- Jones, E.A., Kinsey, S.E., English, A., Jones, R.A., Straszynski, L., Meredith, D.M., Markham, A.F., Jack, A., Emery, P. & McGonagle, D., 2002. Isolation and characterization of bone marrow multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 46(12), pp.3349–60.
- Jurgens, W.J., Kroeze, R.J., Bank, R.A., Ritt, M.J.P.F. & Helder, M.N., 2011. Rapid attachment of adipose stromal cells on resorbable polymeric scaffolds facilitates the onestep surgical procedure for cartilage and bone tissue engineering purposes. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 29(6), pp.853–60.
- Jurgens, W.J.F.M., van Dijk, A., Doulabi, B.Z., Niessen, F.B., Ritt, M.J.P.F., van Milligen, F.J. & Helder, M.N., 2009. Freshly isolated stromal cells from the infrapatellar fat pad are suitable for a one-step surgical procedure to regenerate cartilage tissue. *Cytotherapy*, 11(8), pp.1052–64.
- Jurgens, W.J.F.M., Kroeze, R.J., Zandieh-Doulabi, B., van Dijk, A., Renders, G.A.P., Smit, T.H., van Milligen, F.J., Ritt, M.J.P.F. & Helder, M.N., 2013. One-step surgical procedure for the treatment of osteochondral defects with adipose-derived stem cells in a caprine knee defect: a pilot study. *BioResearch open access*, 2(4), pp.315–25.
- Kasemkijwattana, C., Hongeng, S., Kesprayura, S., Rungsinaporn, V., Chaipinyo, K. & Chansiri, K., 2011. Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells implantation for cartilage defects: two cases report. *Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand* = *Chotmaihet thangphaet*, 94(3), pp.395–400.
- Kasten, P., Beyen, I., Egermann, M., Suda, a J., Moghaddam, a a, Zimmermann, G. & Luginbühl, R., 2008. Instant stem cell therapy: characterization and concentration of human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *European cells & materials*, 16, pp.47–55.
- Kay, A., Richardson, J. & Forsyth, N.R., 2011. Physiological normoxia and chondrogenic potential of chondrocytes. *Frontiers in bioscience (elite edition)*, 3(September 2015), pp.1365–1374.
- Kern, S., Eichler, H., Stoeve, J., Klüter, H. & Bieback, K., 2006. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, 24(5), pp.1294–301.
- Khan, I.M., Redman, S.N., Williams, R., Dowthwaite, G.P., Oldfield, S.F. & Archer, C.W., 2007. The development of synovial joints. *Current topics in developmental biology*, 79, pp.1–36.
- Khan, W.S., Tew, S.R., Adesida, A.B. & Hardingham, T.E., 2008. Human infrapatellar fat pad-derived stem cells express the pericyte marker 3G5 and show enhanced chondrogenesis after expansion in fibroblast growth factor-2. *Arthritis research & therapy*, 10(4), p.R74.
- Kim, H.-J., Lee, J.-H. & Im, G.-I., 2010. Chondrogenesis using mesenchymal stem cells and

PCL scaffolds. Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A, 92(2), pp.659-66.

- Kim, T.G. & Park, T.G., 2006. Biomimicking extracellular matrix: cell adhesive RGD peptide modified electrospun poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanofiber mesh. *Tissue* engineering, 12(2), pp.221–33.
- Kim, T.-K., Sharma, B., Williams, C.G., Ruffner, M.A., Malik, A., McFarland, E.G. & Elisseeff, J.H., 2003. Experimental model for cartilage tissue engineering to regenerate the zonal organization of articular cartilage. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS*, *Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 11(9), pp.653–64.
- Kingsley, D.M., 1994. The TGF-beta superfamily: new members, new receptors, and new genetic tests of function in different organisms. *Genes & development*, 8(2), pp.133–46.
- Knudson, C.B. & Knudson, W., 2001. Cartilage proteoglycans. Seminars in cell & developmental biology, 12(2), pp.69–78.
- Koga, H., Muneta, T., Nagase, T., Nimura, A., Ju, Y.-J., Mochizuki, T. & Sekiya, I., 2008. Comparison of mesenchymal tissues-derived stem cells for in vivo chondrogenesis: suitable conditions for cell therapy of cartilage defects in rabbit. *Cell and tissue research*, 333(2), pp.207–15.
- Koh, Y.-G. & Choi, Y.-J., 2012. Infrapatellar fat pad-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy for knee osteoarthritis. *The Knee*, 19(6), pp.902–7.
- Koh, Y.G., Choi, Y.J., Kwon, O.R. & Kim, Y.S., 2014. Second-Look Arthroscopic Evaluation of Cartilage Lesions After Mesenchymal Stem Cell Implantation in Osteoarthritic Knees. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 42(7), pp.1628–1637.
- Koh, Y.-G., Jo, S.-B., Kwon, O.-R., Suh, D.-S., Lee, S.-W., Park, S.-H. & Choi, Y.-J., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cell injections improve symptoms of knee osteoarthritis. *Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association*, 29(4), pp.748–55.
- Koyama, E., Shibukawa, Y., Nagayama, M., Sugito, H., Young, B., Yuasa, T., Okabe, T., Ochiai, T., Kamiya, N., Rountree, R.B., Kingsley, D.M., Iwamoto, M., Enomoto-Iwamoto, M. & Pacifici, M., 2008. A distinct cohort of progenitor cells participates in synovial joint and articular cartilage formation during mouse limb skeletogenesis. *Developmental biology*, 316(1), pp.62–73.
- Kramer, W.C., Hendricks, K.J. & Wang, J., 2011. Pathogenetic mechanisms of posttraumatic osteoarthritis: Opportunities for early intervention. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 4(4), pp.285–298.
- Kreuz, P.C., Gentili, C., Samans, B., Martinelli, D., Krüger, J.P., Mittelmeier, W., Endres, M., Cancedda, R. & Kaps, C., 2013. Scaffold-assisted cartilage tissue engineering using infant chondrocytes from human hip cartilage. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS*, *Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 21(12), pp.1997–2005.
- Ksander, G.A. & Gray, L., 1985. Reduced capsule formation around soft silicone rubber prostheses coated with solid collagen. *Annals of plastic surgery*, 14(4), pp.351–60.

- Kuçi, S., Kuçi, Z., Kreyenberg, H., Deak, E., Pütsch, K., Huenecke, S., Amara, C., Koller, S., Rettinger, E., Grez, M., Koehl, U., Latifi-Pupovci, H., Henschler, R., Tonn, T., von Laer, D., Klingebiel, T. & Bader, P., 2010. CD271 antigen defines a subset of multipotent stromal cells with immunosuppressive and lymphohematopoietic engraftment-promoting properties. *Haematologica*, 95(4), pp.651–9.
- Kuçi, Z., Seiberth, J., Latifi-Pupovci, H., Wehner, S., Stein, S., Grez, M., Bönig, H., Köhl, U., Klingebiel, T., Bader, P. & Kuçi, S., 2013. Clonal analysis of multipotent stromal cells derived from CD271+ bone marrow mononuclear cells: functional heterogeneity and different mechanisms of allosuppression. *Haematologica*, 98(10), pp.1609–16.
- Kuroda, R., Ishida, K., Matsumoto, T., Akisue, T., Fujioka, H., Mizuno, K., Ohgushi, H., Wakitani, S. & Kurosaka, M., 2007. Treatment of a full-thickness articular cartilage defect in the femoral condyle of an athlete with autologous bone-marrow stromal cells. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 15(2), pp.226–31.
- Lamba, N.M.K., Baumgartner, J.A. & Cooper, S.L., 1998. Frontiers in Tissue Engineering, Elsevier.
- Langer, R. & Vacanti, J.P., 1993. Tissue engineering. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 260(5110), pp.920–6.
- Lawrence, B.J. & Madihally, S. V, 2008. Cell colonization in degradable 3D porous matrices. *Cell adhesion & migration*, 2(1), pp.9–16.
- Lee, C.R., Breinan, H.A., Nehrer, S. & Spector, M., 2004. Articular Cartilage Chondrocytes in Type I and Type II Collagen-GAG Matrices Exhibit Contractile Behavior in Vitro.
- Lee, C.R., Grodzinsky, A.J., Hsu, H.P., Martin, S.D. & Spector, M., 2000. Effects of harvest and selected cartilage repair procedures on the physical and biochemical properties of articular cartilage in the canine knee. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 18(5), pp.790–9.
- Lee, C.S., Burnsed, O. a, Raghuram, V., Kalisvaart, J., Boyan, B.D. & Schwartz, Z., 2012. Adipose stem cells can secrete angiogenic factors that inhibit hyaline cartilage regeneration. *Stem cell research & therapy*, 3(4), p.35.
- Lee, C.-T. & Lee, Y.-D., 2006. Preparation of porous biodegradable poly(lactide-coglycolide)/ hyaluronic acid blend scaffolds: characterization, in vitro cells culture and degradation behaviors. *Journal of materials science. Materials in medicine*, 17(12), pp.1411–20.
- Lee, H.-H., Chang, C.-C., Shieh, M.-J., Wang, J.-P., Chen, Y.-T., Young, T.-H. & Hung, S.-C., 2013. Hypoxia enhances chondrogenesis and prevents terminal differentiation through PI3K/Akt/FoxO dependent anti-apoptotic effect. *Scientific reports*, 3, p.2683.
- Lefebvre, V., Li, P. & de Crombrugghe, B., 1998. A new long form of Sox5 (L-Sox5), Sox6 and Sox9 are coexpressed in chondrogenesis and cooperatively activate the type II collagen gene. *The EMBO journal*, 17(19), pp.5718–33.
- Lefebvre, V. & Smits, P., 2005. Transcriptional control of chondrocyte fate and differentiation. *Birth defects research. Part C, Embryo today : reviews*, 75(3), pp.200–

12.

- Leijten, J.C.H., Georgi, N., Wu, L., van Blitterswijk, C.A. & Karperien, M., 2013. Cell sources for articular cartilage repair strategies: shifting from monocultures to cocultures. *Tissue engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 19(1), pp.31–40.
- Li, J. & Mak, A.F.T., 2005. Hydraulic permeability of polyglycolic acid scaffolds as a function of biomaterial degradation. *Journal of biomaterials applications*, 19(3), pp.253–66.
- Li, Q., Tang, J., Wang, R., Bei, C., Xin, L., Zeng, Y. & Tang, X., 2011. Comparing the chondrogenic potential in vivo of autogeneic mesenchymal stem cells derived from different tissues. *Artificial cells, blood substitutes, and immobilization biotechnology*, 39(1), pp.31–8.
- Li, T.-F., Chen, D., Wu, Q., Chen, M., Sheu, T.-J., Schwarz, E.M., Drissi, H., Zuscik, M. & O'Keefe, R.J., 2006. Transforming growth factor-beta stimulates cyclin D1 expression through activation of beta-catenin signaling in chondrocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 281(30), pp.21296–304.
- Linn, F.C. & Sokoloff, L., 1965. Movement and composition of interstitial fluid of cartilage. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 8(4), pp.481–494.
- Liu, Y., Chen, F., Liu, W., Cui, L., Shang, Q., Xia, W., Wang, J., Cui, Y., Yang, G., Liu, D., Wu, J., Xu, R., Buonocore, S.D. & Cao, Y., 2002. Repairing large porcine full-thickness defects of articular cartilage using autologous chondrocyte-engineered cartilage. *Tissue engineering*, 8(4), pp.709–21.
- Lopa, S., Colombini, a., Stanco, D., de Girolamo, L., Sansone, V. & Moretti, M., 2014. Donor-matched mesenchymal stem cells from knee infrapatellar and subcutaneous adipose tissue of osteoarthritic donors display differential chondrogenic and osteogenic commitment. *European Cells and Materials*, 27, pp.298–311.
- Ma, P.X. & Langer, R., 2011. Degradation, Structure and Properties of Fibrous Nonwoven Poly(Glycolic Acid) Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering. *MRS Proceedings*, 394, p.99.
- Makris, E. a., Gomoll, A.H., Malizos, K.N., Hu, J.C. & Athanasiou, K. a., 2014. Repair and tissue engineering techniques for articular cartilage. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 11(1), pp.21–34.
- Marcacci, M., Berruto, M., Brocchetta, D., Delcogliano, A., Ghinelli, D., Gobbi, A., Kon, E., Pederzini, L., Rosa, D., Sacchetti, G.L., Stefani, G. & Zanasi, S., 2005. Articular cartilage engineering with Hyalograft C: 3-year clinical results. *Clinical orthopaedics* and related research, (435), pp.96–105.
- von der Mark, K., Gauss, V., von der Mark, H. & Müller, P., 1977. Relationship between cell shape and type of collagen synthesised as chondrocytes lose their cartilage phenotype in culture. *Nature*, 267(5611), pp.531–2.
- Maroudas, A., Wachtel, E., Grushko, G., Katz, E.P. & Weinberg, P., 1991. The effect of osmotic and mechanical pressures on water partitioning in articular cartilage. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects*, 1073(2), pp.285–294.

- Masuoka, K., Asazuma, T., Hattori, H., Yoshihara, Y., Sato, M., Matsumura, K., Matsui, T., Takase, B., Nemoto, K. & Ishihara, M., 2006. Tissue engineering of articular cartilage with autologous cultured adipose tissue-derived stromal cells using atelocollagen honeycomb-shaped scaffold with a membrane sealing in rabbits. *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part B, Applied biomaterials*, 79(1), pp.25–34.
- Matricali, G.A., Dereymaeker, G.P.E. & Luyten, F.P., 2010. Donor site morbidity after articular cartilage repair procedures: a review. *Acta orthopaedica Belgica*, 76(5), pp.669– 74.
- Matsiko, A., Levingstone, T.J. & O'Brien, F.J., 2013. Advanced strategies for articular cartilage defect repair. *Materials*, 6(2), pp.637–668.
- McGlashan, S.R., Cluett, E.C., Jensen, C.G. & Poole, C. a., 2008. Primary Cilia in osteoarthritic chondrocytes: From chondrons to clusters. *Developmental Dynamics*, 237(8), pp.2013–2020.
- McGowan, K.B. & Stiegman, G., 2012. Regulatory Challenges for Cartilage Repair Technologies. *Cartilage*, 4(1), pp.4–11.
- Memon, A.R. & Quinlan, J.F., 2012. Surgical treatment of articular cartilage defects in the knee: are we winning? *Advances in orthopedics*, 2012, p.528423.
- Middleton, J.C. & Tipton, A.J., 2000. Synthetic biodegradable polymers as orthopedic devices. *Biomaterials*, 21(23), pp.2335–46.
- Mifune, Y., Matsumoto, T., Murasawa, S. & Kawamoto, A., 2012. Therapeutic Superiority for Cartilage Repair by CD271 Positive Marrow Stromal Cell Transplantation.
- Minas, T., Von Keudell, A., Bryant, T. & Gomoll, A.H., 2014. The John Insall Award: A minimum 10-year outcome study of autologous chondrocyte implantation. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, 472(1), pp.41–51.
- Mitchell, N. & Shepard, N., 1976. The resurfacing of adult rabbit articular cartilage by multiple perforations through the subchondral bone. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 58(2), pp.230–3.
- Mithoefer, K., McAdams, T., Williams, R.J., Kreuz, P.C. & Mandelbaum, B.R., 2009. Clinical efficacy of the microfracture technique for articular cartilage repair in the knee: an evidence-based systematic analysis. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 37(10), pp.2053–63.
- Mobasheri, A., Kalamegam, G., Musumeci, G. & Batt, M.E., 2014. Chondrocyte and mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies for cartilage repair in osteoarthritis and related orthopaedic conditions. *Maturitas*, 78(3), pp.188–98.
- Moseley, J.B., O'Malley, K., Petersen, N.J., Menke, T.J., Brody, B.A., Kuykendall, D.H., Hollingsworth, J.C., Ashton, C.M. & Wray, N.P., 2003. Arthroscopic Lavage or Débridement Did Not Reduce Pain More Than Placebo Did in Patients with Osteoarthritis. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, 85(2), p.387.
- Mosher, D.F., Fogerty, F.J., Chernousov, M.A. & Barry, E.L., 1991. Assembly of fibronectin into extracellular matrix. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 614, pp.167–80.

- Mouw, J.K., Case, N.D., Guldberg, R.E., Plaas, a. H.K. & Levenston, M.E., 2005. Variations in matrix composition and GAG fine structure among scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 13, pp.828–836.
- Mow, V.C., Gu, W.. & Chen, F.., 2004. Structure and function of articular cartilage and meniscus. In *Basic Orthopaedic Biomechanics and Mechano-Biology*. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Wolters Kluwer, pp. 183–237.
- Mow, V.C. & Huiskes, R., 2004. *Basic Orthopaedic Biomechanics and Mechano-Biology (3rd Edition)*,
- Mow, V.C., Ratcliffe, A. & Robin Poole, A., 1992. Cartilage and diarthrodial joints as paradigms for hierarchical materials and structures. *Biomaterials*, 13(2), pp.67–97.
- Mueller, S.M., Shortkroff, S., Schneider, T.O., Breinan, H.A., Yannas, I. V & Spector, M., 1999. Meniscus cells seeded in type I and type II collagen-GAG matrices in vitro. *Biomaterials*, 20(8), pp.701–9.
- Muraglia, A., Cancedda, R. & Quarto, R., 2000. Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate in vitro according to a hierarchical model. *Journal of cell science*, 113 (Pt 7, pp.1161–6.
- Murphy, C.M., Matsiko, A., Haugh, M.G., Gleeson, J.P. & O'Brien, F.J., 2012. Mesenchymal stem cell fate is regulated by the composition and mechanical properties of collagenglycosaminoglycan scaffolds. *Journal of the mechanical behavior of biomedical materials*, 11, pp.53–62.
- Murphy, J.M., Dixon, K., Beck, S., Fabian, D., Feldman, A. & Barry, F., 2002. Reduced chondrogenic and adipogenic activity of mesenchymal stem cells from patients with advanced osteoarthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 46(3), pp.704–13.
- Murphy, M.B., Moncivais, K. & Caplan, A.I., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. *Experimental & molecular medicine*, 45, p.e54.
- Nathan, S., Das De, S., Thambyah, A., Fen, C., Goh, J. & Lee, E.H., 2003. Cell-based therapy in the repair of osteochondral defects: a novel use for adipose tissue. *Tissue engineering*, 9(4), pp.733–44.
- Nejadnik, H., Hui, J.H., Feng Choong, E.P., Tai, B.-C. & Lee, E.H., 2010. Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells versus autologous chondrocyte implantation: an observational cohort study. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 38(6), pp.1110–6.
- Neri, S., Bourin, P., Peyrafitte, J.-A., Cattini, L., Facchini, A. & Mariani, E., 2013. Human adipose stromal cells (ASC) for the regeneration of injured cartilage display genetic stability after in vitro culture expansion. R. Dettman, ed. *PloS one*, 8(10), p.e77895.
- Niemeyer, P., Pestka, J.M., Kreuz, P.C., Erggelet, C., Schmal, H., Suedkamp, N.P. & Steinwachs, M., 2008. Characteristic complications after autologous chondrocyte implantation for cartilage defects of the knee joint. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 36(11), pp.2091–9.
- Niemietz, T., Zass, G., Hagmann, S., Diederichs, S., Gotterbarm, T. & Richter, W., 2014.

Xenogeneic transplantation of articular chondrocytes into full-thickness articular cartilage defects in minipigs: fate of cells and the role of macrophages. *Cell and tissue research*, 358(3), pp.749–61.

- Nuernberger, S., Cyran, N., Albrecht, C., Redl, H., Vécsei, V. & Marlovits, S., 2011. The influence of scaffold architecture on chondrocyte distribution and behavior in matrix-associated chondrocyte transplantation grafts. *Biomaterials*, 32(4), pp.1032–40.
- O'Hara, B.P., Urban, J.P. & Maroudas, a, 1990. Influence of cyclic loading on the nutrition of articular cartilage. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 49(7), pp.536–539.
- Ochi, M., Uchio, Y., Kawasaki, K., Wakitani, S. & Iwasa, J., 2002. Transplantation of cartilage-like tissue made by tissue engineering in the treatment of cartilage defects of the knee. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 84(4), pp.571–8.
- Oedayrajsingh-Varma, M.J., van Ham, S.M., Knippenberg, M., Helder, M.N., Klein-Nulend, J., Schouten, T.E., Ritt, M.J.P.F. & van Milligen, F.J., 2006. Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell yield and growth characteristics are affected by the tissueharvesting procedure. *Cytotherapy*, 8(2), pp.166–77.
- Okamoto, T., Aoyama, T., Nakayama, T., Nakamata, T., Hosaka, T., Nishijo, K., Nakamura, T., Kiyono, T. & Toguchida, J., 2002. Clonal heterogeneity in differentiation potential of immortalized human mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 295(2), pp.354–361.
- Outerbridge, R.E., 1964. Further Studies on the Etiology of Chondromalacia Patellae. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 46, pp.179–190.
- Pak, J., 2011. Regeneration of human bones in hip osteonecrosis and human cartilage in knee osteoarthritis with autologous adipose-tissue-derived stem cells: a case series. *Journal of medical case reports*, 5(1), p.296.
- Pak, J., Chang, J.-J., Lee, J.H. & Lee, S.H., 2013. Safety reporting on implantation of autologous adipose tissue-derived stem cells with platelet-rich plasma into human articular joints. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 14(1), p.337.
- Parker, W.L., Goldring, M.B. & Philip, A., 2003. Endoglin is expressed on human chondrocytes and forms a heteromeric complex with betaglycan in a ligand and type II TGFbeta receptor independent manner. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the* official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, 18(2), pp.289– 302.
- Peach, R.J., Hollenbaugh, D., Stamenkovic, I. & Aruffo, A., 1993. Identification of hyaluronic acid binding sites in the extracellular domain of CD44. *The Journal of cell biology*, 122(1), pp.257–64.
- Pearle, A.D., Warren, R.F. & Rodeo, S.A., 2005. Basic science of articular cartilage and osteoarthritis. *Clinics in sports medicine*, 24(1), pp.1–12.
- Perdisa, F., N, N.G., Roffi, A., Filardo, G., Marcacci, M. & Kon, E., 2015. Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for the Treatment of Articular Cartilage : A Systematic Review on Preclinical and Clinical Evidence.

- Peterson, L., Vasiliadis, H.S., Brittberg, M. & Lindahl, A., 2010. Autologous chondrocyte implantation: a long-term follow-up. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 38(6), pp.1117–24.
- Phinney, D.G., 2012. Functional heterogeneity of mesenchymal stem cells: Implications for cell therapy. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 113(9), pp.2806–2812.
- Pittenger, M.F., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells from adult bone marrow. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 449, pp.27–44.
- Pittenger, M.F., 1999. Multilineage Potential of Adult Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Science*, 284(5411), pp.143–147.
- Poole, A.R., Kojima, T., Yasuda, T., Mwale, F., Kobayashi, M. & Laverty, S., 2001. Composition and structure of articular cartilage: a template for tissue repair. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, (391 Suppl), pp.S26–33.
- Psaltis, P.J., Paton, S., See, F., Arthur, A., Martin, S., Itescu, S., Worthley, S.G., Gronthos, S. & Zannettino, A.C.W., 2010. Enrichment for STRO-1 expression enhances the cardiovascular paracrine activity of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cell populations. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 223(2), pp.530–40.
- Quirici, N., Scavullo, C., de Girolamo, L., Lopa, S., Arrigoni, E., Deliliers, G.L. & Brini, A.T., 2010a. Anti-L-NGFR and -CD34 monoclonal antibodies identify multipotent mesenchymal stem cells in human adipose tissue. *Stem cells and development*, 19(6), pp.915–925.
- Quirici, N., Scavullo, C., de Girolamo, L., Lopa, S., Arrigoni, E., Deliliers, G.L. & Brini, A.T., 2010b. Anti-L-NGFR and -CD34 monoclonal antibodies identify multipotent mesenchymal stem cells in human adipose tissue. *Stem cells and development*, 19(6), pp.915–25.
- Quirici, N., Soligo, D., Bossolasco, P., Servida, F., Lumini, C. & Deliliers, G.L., 2002. Isolation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by anti-nerve growth factor receptor antibodies. *Experimental Hematology*, 30(7), pp.783–791.
- Rada, T., Reis, R.L. & Gomes, M.E., 2011. Distinct Stem Cells Subpopulations Isolated from Human Adipose Tissue Exhibit Different Chondrogenic and Osteogenic Differentiation Potential. *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports*, 7(1), pp.64–76.
- Radisic, M., Euloth, M., Yang, L., Langer, R., Freed, L.E. & Vunjak-Novakovic, G., 2003.
 High-density seeding of myocyte cells for cardiac tissue engineering. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 82(4), pp.403–14.
- Ramachandran, G.N. & Kartha, G., 1954. Structure of collagen. *Nature*, 174(4423), pp.269–70.
- Ramírez-Zacarías, J.L., Castro-Muñozledo, F. & Kuri-Harcuch, W., 1992. Quantitation of adipose conversion and triglycerides by staining intracytoplasmic lipids with Oil red O. *Histochemistry*, 97(6), pp.493–7.
- Rampichová, M., Kostáková, E., Filová, E., Prosecká, E., Plencner, M., Ocheretná, L., Lytvynets, a., Lukás, D. & Amler, E., 2010. Non-woven PGA/PVA fibrous mesh as an

appropriate scaffold for chondrocyte proliferation. *Physiological Research*, 59, pp.773–781.

- Redman, S.N., Oldfield, S.F. & Archer, C.W., 2005. Current strategies for articular cartilage repair. *European cells & materials*, 9(0), pp.23–32; discussion 23–32.
- Ricard-Blum, S., 2011. The collagen family. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 3(1), p.a004978.
- Riikonen, T., Westermarck, J., Koivisto, L., Broberg, A., Kahari, V.-M. & Heino, J., 1995. Integrin 2 1 Is a Positive Regulator of Collagenase (MMP-1) and Collagen 1(I) Gene Expression. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(22), pp.13548–13552.
- Risbud, M. V & Sittinger, M., 2002. Tissue engineering: advances in in vitro cartilage generation. *Trends in biotechnology*, 20(8), pp.351–6.
- Roberts, S., McCall, I., Darby, A., Menage, J., Evans, H., Harrison, P. & Richardson, J., 2003. Autologous chondrocyte implantation for cartilage repair: monitoring its success by magnetic resonance imaging and histology. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 5(1), pp.R60–R73.
- Rodbell, M., 1966. Metabolism of Isolated Fat Cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 241(10), pp.130–139.
- Rodriguez, A., Macewan, S.R., Meyerson, H., Kirk, J.T. & Anderson, J.M., 2009. The foreign body reaction in T-cell-deficient mice. *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A*, 90(1), pp.106–13.
- Rolstad, B., 2001. The athymic nude rat: an animal experimental model to reveal novel aspects of innate immune responses? *Immunological reviews*, 184(1), pp.136–144.
- Roughley, P.J., 2006. The structure and function of cartilage proteoglycans. *European Cells and Materials*, 12, pp.92–101.
- Saris, D.B.F., Vanlauwe, J., Victor, J., Almqvist, K.F., Verdonk, R., Bellemans, J. & Luyten, F.P., 2009. Treatment of symptomatic cartilage defects of the knee: characterized chondrocyte implantation results in better clinical outcome at 36 months in a randomized trial compared to microfracture. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 37 Suppl 1, p.10S–19S.
- Sato, M., Uchida, K., Nakajima, H., Miyazaki, T., Guerrero, A.R., Watanabe, S., Roberts, S. & Baba, H., 2012. Direct transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells into the knee joints of Hartley strain guinea pigs with spontaneous osteoarthritis. *Arthritis research & therapy*, 14(1), p.R31.
- Schaefer, L. & Iozzo, R. V, 2008. Biological functions of the small leucine-rich proteoglycans: from genetics to signal transduction. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 283(31), pp.21305–9.
- Schlegel, W., Nürnberger, S., Hombauer, M., Albrecht, C., Vécsei, V. & Marlovits, S., 2008. Scaffold-dependent differentiation of human articular chondrocytes. , pp.691–699.
- Schnabel, M., Marlovits, S., Eckhoff, G., Fichtel, I., Gotzen, L., Vécsei, V. & Schlegel, J., 2002. Dedifferentiation-associated changes in morphology and gene expression in

primary human articular chondrocytes in cell culture. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 10(1), pp.62–70.

- Schreml, S., Babilas, P., Fruth, S., Orsó, E., Schmitz, G., Mueller, M.B., Nerlich, M. & Prantl, L., 2009. Harvesting human adipose tissue-derived adult stem cells: resection versus liposuction. *Cytotherapy*, 11(7), pp.947–57.
- Sekiya, I., Vuoristo, J.T., Larson, B.L. & Prockop, D.J., 2002. In vitro cartilage formation by human adult stem cells from bone marrow stroma defines the sequence of cellular and molecular events during chondrogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(7), pp.4397–4402.
- Shi, Y., Hu, G., Su, J., Li, W., Chen, Q., Shou, P., Xu, C., Chen, X., Huang, Y., Zhu, Z., Huang, X., Han, X., Xie, N. & Ren, G., 2010. Mesenchymal stem cells: a new strategy for immunosuppression and tissue repair. *Cell research*, 20(5), pp.510–8.
- Siddappa, R., Licht, R., van Blitterswijk, C. & de Boer, J., 2007. Donor variation and loss of multipotency during in vitro expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells for bone tissue engineering. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 25(8), pp.1029–41.
- Skowroński, J., Skowroński, R. & Rutka, M., 2013. Large cartilage lesions of the knee treated with bone marrow concentrate and collagen membrane--results. *Ortopedia, traumatologia, rehabilitacja*, 15(1), pp.69–76.
- Solchaga, L.A., Dennis, J.E., Goldberg, V.M. & Caplan, A.I., 1999. Hyaluronic acid-based polymers as cell carriers for tissue-engineered repair of bone and cartilage. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 17(2), pp.205–13.
- Somoza, R.A., Welter, J.F., Correa, D. & Caplan, A.I., 2014. Chondrogenic differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells: challenges and unfulfilled expectations. *Tissue engineering*. *Part B, Reviews*, 00(216), pp.1–50.
- Song, L. & Tuan, R.S., 2004. Transdifferentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 18(9), pp.980–2.
- Sridharan, G. & Shankar, A.A., 2012. Toluidine blue: A review of its chemistry and clinical utility. *Journal of oral and maxillofacial pathology : JOMFP*, 16(2), pp.251–5.
- Steadman, J.R., Briggs, K.K., Rodrigo, J.J., Kocher, M.S., Gill, T.J. & Rodkey, W.G., 2003. Outcomes of microfracture for traumatic chondral defects of the knee: average 11-year follow-up. Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association, 19(5), pp.477–84.
- Steadman, J.R., Rodkey, W.G., Singleton, S.B. & Briggs, K.K., 1997. Microfracture technique forfull-thickness chondral defects: Technique and clinical results. *Operative Techniques in Orthopaedics*, 7(4), pp.300–304.
- Steinwachs, M. & Kreuz, P.C., 2007. Autologous chondrocyte implantation in chondral

defects of the knee with a type I/III collagen membrane: a prospective study with a 3-year follow-up. *Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association*, 23(4), pp.381–7.

- Steinwachs, M., Peterson, L., Bobic, V., Verdonk, P. & Niemeyer, P., 2012. Cell-Seeded Collagen Matrix-Supported Autologous Chondrocyte Transplantation (ACT-CS): A Consensus Statement on Surgical Technique. *Cartilage*, 3(1), pp.5–12.
- Stolzing, A., Jones, E., McGonagle, D. & Scutt, A., 2008. Age-related changes in human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: consequences for cell therapies. *Mechanisms* of ageing and development, 129(3), pp.163–73.
- Stone, L.S., 1929. Experiments showing the role of migrating neural crest (mesectoderm) in the formation of head skeleton and loose connective tissue in Rana palustris. *Wilhelm Roux' Archiv für Entwicklungsmechanik der Organismen*, 118(1), pp.40–77.
- Strem, B.M., Hicok, K.C., Zhu, M., Wulur, I., Alfonso, Z., Schreiber, R.E., Fraser, J.K. & Hedrick, M.H., 2005. Multipotential differentiation of adipose tissue-derived stem cells. *The Keio journal of medicine*, 54(3), pp.132–41.
- Strioga, M., Viswanathan, S., Darinskas, A., Slaby, O. & Michalek, J., 2012. Same or not the same? Comparison of adipose tissue-derived versus bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem and stromal cells. *Stem cells and development*, 21(14), pp.2724–52.
- Van Susante, J., Pieper, J., Buma, P., van Kuppevelt, T.H., van Beuningen, H., van Der Kraan, P.M., Veerkamp, J.H., van den Berg, W.B. & Veth RPH, 2001. Linkage of chondroitinsulfate to type I collagen scaffolds stimulates the bioactivity of seeded chondrocytes in vitro. *Biomaterials*, 22(17), pp.2359–69.
- Swisher, J.W. & Rannels, D.E., 1997. Assembly of exogenous fibronectin into type II cell extracellular matrix. *The American journal of physiology*, 272(5 Pt 1), pp.L908–15.
- Takada, Y., Elices, M.J., Crouse, C. & Hemler, M.E., 1989. The primary structure of the alpha 4 subunit of VLA-4: homology to other integrins and a possible cell-cell adhesion function. *The EMBO journal*, 8(5), pp.1361–8.
- Tanaka, H., Murphy, C.L., Murphy, C., Kimura, M., Kawai, S. & Polak, J.M., 2004. Chondrogenic differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells: effects of culture conditions and dexamethasone. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 93(3), pp.454–62.
- Thomas, J.T., Ayad, S. & Grant, M.E., 1994. Cartilage collagens: strategies for the study of their organisation and expression in the extracellular matrix. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 53(8), pp.488–96.
- Thomas, L., Byers, H.R., Vink, J. & Stamenkovic, I., 1992. CD44H regulates tumor cell migration on hyaluronate-coated substrate. *The Journal of cell biology*, 118(4), pp.971– 7.
- Thomson, T.M., Rettig, W.J., Chesa, P.G., Green, S.H., Mena, A.C. & Old, L.J., 1988. Expression of human nerve growth factor receptor on cells derived from all three germ layers. *Experimental cell research*, 174(2), pp.533–9.

- Ugarte, D. a de., Morizono, K., Elbarbary, A., Alfonso, Z., Zuk, P. a., Zhu, M., Dragoo, J.L., Ashjian, P., Thomas, B., Benhaim, P., Chen, I., Fraser, J. & Hedrick, M.H., 2003. Comparison of multi-lineage cells from human adipose tissue and bone marrow. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 174(3), pp.101–109.
- Verfaillie, B.C.M. & Benis, A., 2015. Adhesion of Committed Human Hematopoietic Progenitors to Synthetic Peptides From the C-Terminal Heparin-Binding Domain of Fibronectin: Cooperation Between the Integrin a 4 P l and the CD44 Adhesion Receptor. , 84(6), pp.1802–1811.
- Vincent, T.L., 2013. Targeting mechanotransduction pathways in osteoarthritis: a focus on the pericellular matrix. *Current opinion in pharmacology*, 13(3), pp.449–54.
- Vincourt, J.-B., Etienne, S., Grossin, L., Cottet, J., Bantsimba-Malanda, C., Netter, P., Mainard, D., Libante, V., Gillet, P. & Magdalou, J., 2012. Matrilin-3 switches from antito pro-anabolic upon integration to the extracellular matrix. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, 31(5), pp.290–8.
- Vunjak-Novakovic, G., Obradovic, B., Martin, I., Bursac, P.M., Langer, R. & Freed, L.E., 1998. Dynamic cell seeding of polymer scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. *Biotechnology progress*, 14(2), pp.193–202.
- Wagener, R., Ehlen, H.W.A., Ko, Y.-P., Kobbe, B., Mann, H.H., Sengle, G. & Paulsson, M., 2005. The matrilins--adaptor proteins in the extracellular matrix. *FEBS letters*, 579(15), pp.3323–9.
- Wakitani, S., Goto, T., Pineda, S.J., Young, R.G., Mansour, J.M., Caplan, A.I. & Goldberg, V.M., 1994. Mesenchymal cell-based repair of large, full-thickness defects of articular cartilage. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 76(4), pp.579–92.
- Wakitani, S., Imoto, K., Yamamoto, T., Saito, M., Murata, N. & Yoneda, M., 2002. Human autologous culture expanded bone marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation for repair of cartilage defects in osteoarthritic knees. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS*, *Osteoarthritis Research Society*, 10(3), pp.199–206.
- Wayner, E.A., Garcia-Pardo, A., Humphries, M.J., McDonald, J.A. & Carter, W.G., 1989. Identification and characterization of the T lymphocyte adhesion receptor for an alternative cell attachment domain (CS-1) in plasma fibronectin. *The Journal of cell biology*, 109(3), pp.1321–30.
- Williams, R.J., Peterson, L. & Cole, B.J., 2007. *Cartilage repair strategies*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Wilusz, R.E., Sanchez-Adams, J. & Guilak, F., 2014. The structure and function of the pericellular matrix of articular cartilage. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, 39, pp.25–32.
- Wylie, J.D., Hartley, M.K., Kapron, A.L., Aoki, S.K. & Maak, T.G., 2015. What Is the Effect of Matrices on Cartilage Repair? A Systematic Review. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*®, 473(5), pp.1673–1682.
- Yamamoto, N., Akamatsu, H., Hasegawa, S., Yamada, T., Nakata, S., Ohkuma, M., Miyachi,

E.-I., Marunouchi, T. & Matsunaga, K., 2007. Isolation of multipotent stem cells from mouse adipose tissue. *Journal of dermatological science*, 48(1), pp.43–52.

- Yoshimura, H., Muneta, T., Nimura, A., Yokoyama, A., Koga, H. & Sekiya, I., 2007. Comparison of rat mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, synovium, periosteum, adipose tissue, and muscle. *Cell and tissue research*, 327(3), pp.449–62.
- Zeltinger, J., Sherwood, J.K., Graham, D.A., Müeller, R. & Griffith, L.G., 2001. Effect of pore size and void fraction on cellular adhesion, proliferation, and matrix deposition. *Tissue engineering*, 7(5), pp.557–72.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, F., Chen, J., Ning, Z. & Yang, L., 2011. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells versus bone marrow nucleated cells in the treatment of chondral defects. *International orthopaedics*, pp.1–8.
- Zheng, M.-H., Willers, C., Kirilak, L., Yates, P., Xu, J., Wood, D. & Shimmin, A., 2007a. Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI): biological and histological assessment. *Tissue engineering*, 13(4), pp.737–46.
- Zheng, M.-H., Willers, C., Kirilak, L., Yates, P., Xu, J., Wood, D. & Shimmin, A., 2007b. Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation (MACI): biological and histological assessment. *Tissue engineering*, 13(4), pp.737–46.
- Zheng, X., Yang, F., Wang, S., Lu, S., Zhang, W., Liu, S., Huang, J., Wang, A., Yin, B., Ma, N., Zhang, L., Xu, W. & Guo, Q., 2011. Fabrication and cell affinity of biomimetic structured PLGA/articular cartilage ECM composite scaffold. *Journal of materials science. Materials in medicine*, 22(3), pp.693–704.
- Zhu, Y., Liu, T., Song, K., Fan, X., Ma, X. & Cui, Z., 2008. Adipose-derived stem cell: a better stem cell than BMSC. *Cell biochemistry and function*, 26(6), pp.664–75.
- Zuk, P.A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D.A., Huang, J.I., Mizuno, H., Alfonso, Z.C., Fraser, J.K., Benhaim, P. & Hedrick, M.H., 2002. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Molecular biology of the cell*, 13(12), pp.4279–95.
- Zuk, P.A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J.W., Katz, A.J., Benhaim, P., Lorenz, H.P. & Hedrick, M.H., 2001. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue engineering*, 7(2), pp.211–28.
- 1. OpenStax College, Concepts of Biology. OpenStax CNX. Jun 29, 2015 http://cnx.org/contents/b3c1e1d2-839c-42b0-a314-e119a8aafbdd@8.55
- OpenStax College, Anatomy of Selected Synovial Joints. OpenStax CNX. Jun 28, 2013 <u>http://cnx.org/contents/4770f844-6eb0-40bf-96c1-888459ce5219@4</u>

Appendix I

List of publications

Kohli, N., Wright, K.T., Sammons, R.L., Jeys, L., Snow, M. & Johnson, W.E.B., 2015. An In Vitro Comparison of the Incorporation, Growth, and Chondrogenic Potential of Human Bone Marrow versus Adipose Tissue Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Clinically Relevant Cell Scaffolds Used for Cartilage Repair. Cartilage.

An *In Vitro* Comparison of the Incorporation, Growth, and Chondrogenic Potential of Human Bone Marrow versus Adipose Tissue Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Clinically Relevant Cell Scaffolds Used for Cartilage Repair

Cartilage 2015, Vol. 6(4) 252–263 © The Author(s) 2015 Reprints and permissions: sagepub.com/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/1947603515589650 cart.sagepub.com

Nupur Kohli¹, Karina T. Wright², Rachel L. Sammons³, Lee Jeys⁴, Martyn Snow⁴, and William E. B. Johnson¹

Abstract

Aim. To compare the incorporation, growth, and chondrogenic potential of bone marrow (BM) and adipose tissue (AT) mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in scaffolds used for cartilage repair. *Methods*. Human BM and AT MSCs were isolated, culture expanded, and characterised using standard protocols, then seeded into 2 different scaffolds, Chondro-Gide or Alpha Chondro Shield. Cell adhesion, incorporation, and viable cell growth were assessed microscopically and following calcein AM/ethidium homodimer (Live/Dead) staining. Cell-seeded scaffolds were treated with chondrogenic inducers for 28 days. Extracellular matrix deposition and soluble glycosaminoglycan (GAG) release into the culture medium was measured at day 28 by histology/immunohistochemistry and dimethylmethylene blue assay, respectively. *Results*. A greater number of viable MSCs from either source adhered and incorporated into Chondro-Gide than into Alpha Chondro Shield. In both cell scaffolds, this incorporation represented less than 2% of the cells that were seeded. There was a marked proliferation of BM MSCs, but not AT MSCs, in Chondro-Gide. MSCs from both sources underwent chondrogenic differentiation following induction. However, cartilaginous extracellular matrix deposition was most marked in Chondro-Gide seeded with BM MSCs. Soluble GAG secretion increased in chondrogenic versus control conditions. There was no marked difference in GAG secretion by MSCs from either cell source. *Conclusion*. Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield were permissive to the incorporation and chondrogenic differentiation of human BM and AT MSCs. Chondro-Gide seeded with BM MSCs demonstrated the greatest increase in MSC number and deposition of a cartilaginous tissue.

Keywords

bone marrow, adipose tissue, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), cell scaffolds, chondrogenesis

Introduction

The regeneration of hyaline cartilage still poses a significant clinical challenge, with current available treatments resulting in a reparative tissue with inferior mechanical properties.¹ Cell therapy using autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) has been used to treat cartilage defects since 1987,² but has some disadvantages, such as the production of fibrous cartilage and donor site morbidity.³ *In vitro* and preclinical animal studies suggest that multipotent mesenchymal stem or stromal cells (MSCs) can provide an alternative to autologous chondrocytes for the regeneration of cartilage, as they possess chondrogenic differentiation potential, are obtainable from a number of tissue sources and can be culture expanded *in vitro* to provide increased cell numbers for transplant therapies.^{4,5} Bone marrow (BM) is currently the most extensively studied source of MSCs. However, harvesting an adequate number of MSCs from

Corresponding Author:

William E. B. Johnson, MB551, School of Life and Health Sciences, Aston University, Birmingham, B4 7ET, UK. Email: w.e.johnson@aston.ac.uk

 ¹School of Life and Health Sciences, Aston University, Birmingham, UK
 ²Robert Jones & Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital, Oswestry, UK
 ³The School of Dentistry, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
 ⁴Royal Orthopaedic Hospital, Birmingham, UK

BM is problematic because of the finite volume available at any one site. Hence, adipose tissue (AT) has recently been shown as an attractive alternative,^{6,7} wherein 200 mL of lipoaspirate can readily be removed from patients, yielding 4×10^8 nucleated cells of which more than 2% constitutes the MSC population.^{8,9} The ready availability of AT MSCs is advantageous in autologous cell therapies as the time needed for costly culture expansion to generate a sufficient cell number for transplantation is considerably reduced when compared with BM. Moreover, harvesting AT through lipoaspiration makes AT MSCs an attractive cell source compared to more invasive and potentially painful iliac crest biopsies.

Whether or not AT MSCs are equivalent to BM MSCs in terms of their chondrogenic differential potential is a matter of considerable debate. Some studies have suggested that AT MSCs have inferior potential for chondrogenesis and hence use in cell therapies for cartilage repair,^{10,11} while others have reported on successful multilineage differentiation of AT MSCs, including toward chondrogenesis.^{12,13}

The aim of this in vitro study was to compare the incorporation, growth, and chondrogenic potential of BM versus AT MSCs in 2 commercially available cell scaffolds currently used for cartilage repair in humans, namely Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield. In vitro studies have tested these scaffolds with BM MSCs and chondrocytes, but very little data are available on their use with AT MSCs in comparison.^{14,15} Chondro-Gide (Geistlich Pharma AG, Wolhusen, Switzerland) is a bilayered scaffold, composed of type I and type III collagen, with one porous side for cell attachment and a compact side to prevent cell leakage, which has been extensively used in the clinic for autologous matrix induced chondrogenesis (AMIC) procedures and ACI.^{16,17} Alpha Chondro Shield (Swiss Biomed Orthopaedics AG, Zurich, Switzerland) is intended to be used mainly as a cell-free cartilage implant to aid the migration and differentiation of mesenchymal progenitor cells from subchondral bone after a microfracture procedure. Alpha Chondro Shield is composed of fibers of polyglycolic acid (PGA) arranged in a homogenous non-woven pattern; currently there is no clinical data available on its use with chondrocytes or MSCs, whether from BM or AT.

Methods

Before commencement of the study ethical approval was obtained from the national review body (12/EE/0136 and 06/Q2601/9) and the study was conducted with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Association).

Isolation, Expansion, and Characterisation of MSCs

In total, MSCs were cultured from 3 BM donors (age range 19-80 years) and 4 AT donors (age range 27-75 years). BM was aspirated from the posterior superior iliac spine or harvested from excised femoral head during total hip replacement surgery. AT was harvested from the infrapatellar fat pad of the patients undergoing knee-reparative surgery. Mononuclear cells were isolated from BM aspirates by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Buckinghamshire, UK). AT samples were minced and treated with 0.1% collagenase type IA (Sigma; Poole, Dorset, UK) for up to 2 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After this enzymatic digestion, Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 20% (v/v) fetal calf serum (FCS) (PAA, Yeovil, Somerset, UK) was added to neutralize collagenase activity and the digest was centrifuged into a cell pellet, which was then subsequently washed in DMEM/F-12, supplemented with 10% (v/v) FCS, 1% (v/v) penicillin (50 U/mL), and streptomycin (50 µg/mL) (standard medium; all from PAA), and filtered through 70-um cell strainers to remove undigested tissue. The BM mononuclear cells and adipose stromal vascular fraction (SVF) cells¹⁸ were then plated out at a density of 2 \times 10⁷ cells per 75 cm² flask in 20 mL of standard medium and incubated at 37°C in humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. After 24 to 48 hours, the nonadherent cells were washed off gently with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; PAA) and the adherent cells were subsequently cultured until they reached approximately 70% confluence. Cells were routinely passaged at 70% confluence using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK) and reseeded at 10⁴ cells/cm² into fresh 75-cm² flasks to culture expand the adherent cell population. At passage II-III, culture expanded cells were characterised by their adherence to tissue culture plastic, by immunoprofiling for CD markers and by examining their differentiation potential to form osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes. These criteria meet the MSC phenotype defined by the International Society for Cellular Therapy.¹⁹

Cell Seeding Into Scaffolds and Chondrogenesis

Bone marrow MSCs and AT MSCs were seeded at a density of 5×10^4 cells in 50 µL of standard culture medium per 9mm² piece of Chondro-Gide or Alpha Chondro Shield (n =4 scaffolds per MSC donor) in non–tissue culture coated plates. After 2 hours incubation at 37°C to permit cell adhesion to the cell scaffolds, an additional 1 mL of standard culture medium was added to each well. For initial assay of cell incorporation and growth, the cell-seeded scaffolds were maintained in standard culture media for a period of 28 days. A further analysis to examine the comparative adhesion of MSCs to Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield was performed using scanning electron microscopy, as follows: (1) the scaffolds were fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) for 2 hours; (2) the scaffolds were then dehydrated through a series of alcohols (20% to 100%) for 10 minutes in each solution; and (3) the scaffolds were dried overnight in hexamethyldisilizane (HMDS) and then gold sputtered and imaged using a Zeiss EVO10 scanning electron microscope (Carl Zeiss, Cambridge, UK).

In separate assays of chondrogenesis, the cell-seeded scaffolds were maintained in induction medium, consisting of DMEM (high glucose) supplemented with 2% FCS (Life Technologies Ltd), 100 nM dexamethasone (Sigma), 37.5 µg/ mL ascorbate 2-phosphate (Sigma), insulin, transferrin and selenium (1% ITS-X; Sigma) and 10 ng/mL transforming growth factor-B1 (PeproTech Ltd., London, UK) (duplicate scaffolds for each MSC donor), or with control medium that contained carriers alone (duplicate scaffolds for each MSC donor) for the same period. Culture medium was replaced 2 to 3 times per week. The incorporation and viability of cells following these chondrogenesis experiments was assessed by DAPI counterstaining of sections of induced cultures harvested at day 28 and by Live/Dead staining, respectively. MSCs from 2 separate donors from both BM and AT were analyzed for the initial incorporation of cells into the cell scaffolds and MSCs from a further 2 separate donors of BM and AT were analyzed for the inductions of chondrogenesis.

Live/Dead Staining and Confocal Microscopy for Cell Viability/Growth

Cell-seeded scaffolds were assessed for cell incorporation, viability and growth using Live/Dead cell staining according to the manufacturer's guidelines (Sigma), wherein live cells fluoresce green and dead cells fluoresce red. The staining procedure was performed in the dark for 30 minutes at 37° C and 5% CO₂. Live and dead cells were visualized and scored by fluorescence imaging and confocal microscopy (Leica Microsystems DM6000B–SP57CS). This was performed by scoring the number of viable (green) and the number of dead (red) cells present in each of 4 fields of view taken through the depth of the scaffold over 2 separate regions for each MSC donor and each scaffold at each time point.

Dimethylmethylene Blue Assay for Glycosaminoglycans

The dimethylmethylene blue (DMMB) assay protocol was adapted from previously published methods²⁰ as follows: (1) the DMMB dye solution was prepared by adding 3.04 g of glycine, 2.37 g of NaCl, and 16 mg of 1,9 dimethymethylene

blue to 1 L of deionized water; (2) the pH was adjusted to 3.0 with hydrochloric acid and the reagent was stored in a brown bottle; (3) 50-µL aliquots of culture medium harvested from the cell-seeded scaffolds at day 28 were added in triplicate to a 96-well plate; (4) 200 µL of the DMMB dye was added and absorbance was assessed at 540 nm immediately. Chondroitin sulfate from shark cartilage (Sigma) was used to provide a standard curve (0-40 μ g/ mL) from which the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) content in the samples of medium was calculated. The levels of absorbance for GAG content in the samples of medium were normalized to account for the background absorbance resultant from the presence of phenol red within the medium. Replicate values from 2 independent donors of BM MSC versus 2 independent donors of AT MSCs for each experimental condition were pooled and GAG content has been presented as means \pm standard deviations from these pooled data.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Cell-seeded scaffolds were harvested at day 28 by fixation in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 hours, then processed and paraffin embedded. Toluidine blue staining was performed to reveal GAG content, whilst the presence of collagen type II was detected by immunolocalization as follows: (1) Antigen retrieval was performed by incubating sections in 0.1% hyaluronidase; (2) slides were incubated in a solution containing antibodies for collagen type II (6.5 μ g/ mL; CIIC1: Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, IA) for 60 minutes at room temperature (RT); (3) the omission of a primary antibody was used for control purposes; (4) slides were then incubated with a biotinylated secondary antibody for 30 minutes at RT; and (5) immunopositivity was revealed with a streptavidin-based tertiary step and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) chromogen using a commercial labelling kit (Vector ABC Elite, Vector Laboratories Ltd, Peterborough, UK). Some sections of the harvested cultures were mounted in Vectamount containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories Ltd) to counterstain for cell nuclei.

Statistical Analysis

Quantitative data for CD profiling have been presented as means \pm standard error of the mean from 3 independent donors for BM MSCs and 3 independent donors for AT MSCs. Quantitative data for MSC incorporation, cell viability, and GAG content have been presented as means \pm standard deviations, which derived from replicate values pooled from 2 independent donors for each MSC type, that is, n = 2 BM MSC versus n = 2 AT MSC donors for each experimental condition and time point.



Figure 1. Characterisation of bone marrow (BM) mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and adipose tissue (AT) MSCs. (**A**). Culture expanded and plastic adherent cells from BM and AT differentiated along mesenchymal lineages, as indicated by the presence of alkaline phosphatase positive osteoblasts or Oil Red O positive adipocytes in monolayer cultures and metachromatic staining for glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) in pellet cultures (scale bars represent 100 μ m). (**B**). Representative histograms are shown for positivity for CD markers in BM MSCs (left panels) and AT MSCs (right panels). The white histogram shows immunopositivity for each indicated marker, which is only clearly apparent when the extent of immunofluorescence is greater than that detected following immunolabeling with an isotype-matched control antibody, indicated by the black histogram.

Results

Mesenchymal Stem Cell Characterisation

Plastic-adherent stromal cells isolated and culture expanded from BM and AT differentiated down the three mesodermal lineages, as indicated by alkaline phosphatase staining for osteogenesis, Oil Red O staining of lipid vacuoles for adipogenesis and toluidine blue metachromatic staining of paraffin sections of cell pellets for chondrogenesis (Fig. 1A). Using flow cytometry, these cells were immunoreactive for MSCspecific cell surface antigens, that is, CD73, CD90, and CD105 and were not immunoreactive for non-MSC markers, that is, CD34 and CD45 (Fig. 1B). For BM MSCs, $2.2\% \pm$ 0.3% cells were CD34 positive, $2.7\% \pm 0.7\%$ cells were CD45 positive, $90.4\% \pm 5.1\%$ cells were CD73 positive, $84.8\% \pm$ 4% cells were CD90 positive, and 97.8% \pm 0.6% cells were CD105 positive. For AT MSCs, $3\% \pm 1.1\%$ cells were CD34 positive, $3\% \pm 1.2\%$ cells were CD45 positive, $92.4\% \pm 4\%$ were CD73 positive, $90.4\% \pm 3\%$ cells were CD90 positive, and $93.8\% \pm 2.8\%$ cells were CD105 positive.

Bone Marrow MSCs and AT MSCs Incorporated and Remained Viable in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield during Long-Term Cultures

A greater number of MSCs from both tissue sources incorporated into Chondro-Gide than into Alpha Chondro Shield. Scanning electron microscopy at 30 minutes postseeding demonstrated that the cells more readily attached to the surface of the Chondro-Gide than to the surface of Alpha Chondro Shield (**Fig. 2A**). Many cells were lost during the cell seeding process. For the AT MSCs, only $1.2\% \pm 0.1\%$ of cells were retained in Chondro-Gide compared with $0.7\% \pm 0.4\%$ of cells retained in Alpha Chondro Shield at day 1. In comparison, for the BM MSCs only $0.8\% \pm 0.4\%$ of cells were retained in Chondro-Gide and $0.5\% \pm 0.4\%$ retained in Alpha Chondro Shield at day 1. Greater numbers of AT MSCs than BM MSCs appeared to incorporate in both of the scaffolds at day 1.

In longer term cultures, that is, from 7 days postseeding onward, both BM and AT MSCs appeared to become fibroblast-like in Chondro-Gide, whereas they also showed an elongated morphology and attached and spread along the length of the fibers in Alpha Chondro Shield (**Fig. 2B**). The number of viable MSCs from both cell sources increased from day 1 with further time in culture in Chondro-Gide In contrast, the number of viable MSCs from either BM or AT did not increase in Alpha Chondro Shield (**Fig. 2C**). There were increased numbers of viable cells in Chondro-Gide compared with Alpha Chondro Shield from day 14 to day 28 for BM MSCs and from day 7 to day 28 for AT MSCs. Fewer than 5% of cells were scored as nonviable (red) in both scaffolds and at all time points.

Mesenchymal Stem Cell Condensation under Chondrogenic Conditions in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield

Under chondrogenic (+CM) and nonchondrogenic (-CM; control) conditions BM and AT MSCs remained greater than 95% viable over a 28-day culture in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield. Under chondrogenic conditions, there appeared to be a greater increase in the number of viable BM and AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide, where the cells appeared condensed and confluent compared with the less dense network of cells seen under control conditions. Because of this growth of cells, exact cell counts were not possible. In Alpha Chondro Shield, there also appeared to be an increase in the number of viable BM and AT MSCs under chondrogenic versus control conditions, with increased cell condensations apparent (Fig. 3A). The distribution of cells in these experiments was examined using DAPI staining of tissue sections from harvested cultures at day 28. This demonstrated that the MSCs were evenly distributed through the porous side of Chondro-Gide only, without any cells present within the nonporous side. In addition, there was an even distribution of MSCs within Alpha Chondro Shield (Fig. 3B).

Cartilage-Specific Extracellular Matrix Deposition in BM and AT MSCs Seeded Scaffolds Was Seen in Long-Term Cultures Following Chondrogenic Induction

Histology and immunohistochemistry were performed to examine the deposition of cartilage-specific extracellular matrix (ECM) within MSC-seeded scaffolds. Metachromatic toluidine blue staining was seen in chondrogenic (+CM) treated scaffolds, which is indicative of the accumulation of GAGs. A greater amount of metachromatic staining in the ECM was seen in both BM and AT MSCs within Chondro-Gide compared with Alpha Chondro Shield. However, rounded cell morphologies surrounded by ECM, which is indicative of a mature chondrocytic phenotype was seen only in cultures of Chondro-Gide seeded with BM MSCs under chondrogenic conditions. None of the MSC-seeded scaffolds under non-chondrogenic conditions showed any ECM deposition. Collagen type II deposition was most markedly seen in Chondro-Gide cultures seeded with BM MSCs under chondrogenic conditions, with some collagen type II seen to a lesser extent in BM and AT MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield, only under chondrogenic conditions (Fig. 4A and 4B). Staining of human articular cartilage was



Figure 2. The incorporation and growth of bone marrow (BM) mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and adipose tissue (AT) MSCs in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield. (**A**). Representative images are shown of the appearance of AT MSCs following 30 minutes of incubation with Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield. As shown, MSCs had already become firmly attached and spread out (arrowed) on Chondro-Gide, whereas they appeared mostly spherical in morphology and only projected I or 2 cell processes to attach to Alpha Chondro Shield. (**B**). Representative images are shown of BM MSCs (left panels) and AT MSCs (right panels) after Live/Dead staining. Scale bars represent 100 μ m. (**C**). The number of viable BM and AT MSCs in each cell scaffold over time. BM MSCs proliferated in Chondro-Gide over time. There were more BM MSCs in Chondro-Gide than Alpha Chondro Shield at 14 and 28 days in culture, whereas for AT MSCs this difference was noticeable after 7 days in culture. Data are presented as means ± standard deviations. Black bars = Chondro-Gide, white bars = Alpha Chondro Shield.



Figure 3. The viability of bone marrow (BM) mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and adipose tissue (AT) MSCs in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield under chondrogenic and nonchondrogenic conditions. (**A**). Representative images are shown of BM and AT MSCs at day 28 of culture in the presence (+CM) or absence (-CM, control) of chondrogenic inducers. More than 95% of MSCs were viable in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield under both conditions. Scale bar represents 100 µm, digitized images of projected z stacks following confocal microscopy. (**B**). Representative images showing the distribution of BM MSCs and AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield after 28 days in culture under chondrogenic (+CM) versus control (-CM) conditions. Scale bars = 100 µm for the main images and 50 µm for the inset images. There was an even distribution of cells throughout the porous elements of both scaffolds. MSCs have been arrowed and the autofluorescence of the scaffold fibers in the Alpha Chondro Shield indicated by arrowheads.

used to demonstrate the specificity of the histological and immunohistochemical procedures (Fig. 4C).

Higher Levels of Soluble GAGs Were Detected in Culture Medium under Chondrogenic versus Nonchondrogenic Conditions

The presence of GAGs was analyzed in cell culture supernatants harvested at day 28, that is, from medium that was harvested from the last feed only (a period of 3 days). This biochemical analysis of GAG content showed that both BM and AT MSCs secreted markedly more GAGs in Chondro-Gide than in Alpha Chondro Shield. Under chondrogenic conditions, a greater amount of GAGs was released into the medium by BM and AT MSCs in Chondro-Gide and by AT MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield compared with control conditions. For BM MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield, an increase in soluble GAGs was also detected under chondrogenic conditions (**Fig. 4D**).



Figure 4. Histology and immunohistochemistry of mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)–seeded Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield. (**A** and **B**). There was greater matrix deposition in Chondro-Gide cultures with bone marrow (BM) MSCs (**A**) and adipose tissue (AT) MSCs (**B**) than Alpha Chondro Shield, as shown by increased toluidine blue staining and collagen type II immunolocalization under chondrogenic conditions (+CM) compared with control conditions (-CM). Alpha Chondro Shield seeded with BM and AT MSCs only showed some localized positivity of collagen type II, which was not seen in control conditions. (**C**) A section of human knee cartilage was used as a control for both toluidine blue and collagen type II immunostaining. Scale bars represent 25 μ m. (**D**). A greater level of soluble glycosaminoglycan (GAG) was detected in the culture supernatants of Chondro-Gide cultures seeded with BM MSCs and AT MSCs at day 28 under chondrogenic conditions (+CM) compared with control conditions (-CM). Data are presented as means ± standard deviations.

Discussion

To date, there are limited clinical data available for the use of MSCs in cell-based cartilage repair therapies. One potential reason is the lack of robust *in vitro* data demonstrating their chondrogenic differentiation potential in clinically available scaffolds. This study has suggested that Chondro-Gide provides a more suitable environment than Alpha Chondro Shield for the culture and chondrogenesis of MSCs and the formation of a cartilaginous tissue. MSCs isolated and culture expanded from BM and AT underwent chondrogenic differentiation in response to chondrogenic inducers. This was evident in both scaffolds but was most marked in Chondro-Gide cultured with BM MSCs.

Bone marrow MSCs and AT MSCs were initially more readily incorporated into Chondro-Gide than Alpha Chondro Shield. One reason for this greater incorporation of cells within Chondro-Gide, which is composed of natural type I and type III porcine collagen, could be the ability of MSCs to bind to the scaffold through integrin receptors, specifically $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrins, which is the major receptor for type I collagen and other fibril-forming collagens.²¹ In contrast, Alpha Chondro Shield is a synthetic scaffold of pure PGA that lacks specific cellular adhesion sites, which may explain how the adhesion of cells to the scaffold was minimal. The morphologies of MSCs attached to Chondro-Gide and Alpha Chondro Shield revealed by scanning electron microscopy at an early time point postseeding would support such an interpretation. The synthetic nature of Alpha Chondro Shield may facilitate its adaptation to increase MSC incorporation, for example, other researchers have used the integrin-binding peptide Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) into polymer-based scaffolds to facilitate cell adhesion.^{22,23} Within Chondro-Gide, the increased retention and growth of cells is also possibly because of the decreased porosity of the scaffold caused by the presence of a compact surface that functions to prevent cell leakage. In contrast, Alpha Chondro Shield consists of large interconnected pores that aim to encourage cell growth and attachment in vivo, where blood clot formation from associated microfractures likely helps retain cells. Previous studies have shown that with time such porous scaffolds in fill with cartilaginous ECM deposition in synchrony with the degradation rate of the scaffold.^{24,25} However, in the current in vitro study the increased porosity of Alpha Chondro Shield may have allowed cells to have escaped the scaffold.

The differences in MSC proliferation that were observed between the 2 scaffolds may be attributed to their differing degradation rates. BM MSCs proliferated in Chondro-Gide throughout the time course. Conversely, there was no increase in BM MSC numbers in Alpha Chondro Shield with time in culture. The collagens in Chondro-Gide are slow to degrade compared with PGA fibers in Alpha Chondro Shield, which begins to lose mechanical integrity over a 12-day period²⁶ and degrades to about 50% of its initial mass by 28 days.²⁵ In the absence of matrix production or a blood clot (generated *in vivo*), it is likely that the fast degrading Alpha Chondro Shield does not provide a suitable environment for cells to grow and proliferate and, therefore, this results in cell loss. In addition, while PGA-based scaffolds provide a good substrate for chondrocyte adhesion, cell proliferation during long-term cultures may be significantly affected by acidic products during scaffold degradation.²⁷

Overall, cell retention in both scaffolds was poor, with only approximately 0.1% to 1.5% of the MSCs attaching to the scaffolds following a 2-hour incubation period. The effectiveness of the cell-seeding process is a crucial step, which could have a significant effect on the number of cells delivered to a cartilage lesion and thus the clinical outcome of any cell therapy. For MACI procedures, chondrocytes preseeded onto Chondro-Gide have been grown for 3 days prior to implantation,²⁸ whereas ACI procedures have been adapted to preseed Chondro-Gide with chondrocytes for a recommended time of only 10 to 15 minutes prior to transplant.²⁹ Studies have previously examined the use of spinner flasks to encourage more efficient cell seeding in porous scaffolds²⁶ or of using polymerizing gels as a delivery vehicle for rapid cell seeding within collagen sponges.³⁰ However, in this study, a simple cell-seeding strategy was used to replicate the clinical setting, with the results probably representing the best case scenario given an incubation period that is in excess (2 hours) of what would be clinically acceptable. The small size of the scaffolds used in this study may have contributed to low incorporated cell numbers as they could have been of insufficient size to initially retain the total volume of medium used for cell seeding. Hence, cells may have initially leaked out of the scaffolds into the wells. Although a potential weakness of the study, this scenario commonly reflects the clinical situation. Of the two cell sources, there was better incorporation of AT MSCs into both scaffolds compared with BM MSCs. If AT MSCs are shown to incorporate into cell scaffolds more readily than BM MSCs, following analysis of increased numbers of MSC donors, there may be reasons for such differential incorporation. A recent review suggested that AT MSCs express greater levels of integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$ (CD49d) compared with BM MSCs.³¹ The $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrins have long been known to play a role in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions³² and one of the ligands for CD49d is fibronectin,³³ which is present in serum-containing medium.³⁴ Hence, increased retention of AT MSCs compared with BM MSCs within Chondro-Gide may be due, in part, to the adsorption of serum proteins especially fibronectin³⁵ to the scaffolds via interaction with $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrins. Further research is required to examine more MSCs donors from both tissue sources to ensure the reproducibility of our observations and to examine mechanisms of increasing the efficiency of cell seeding into these scaffolds and their optimal application in cell transplantations for cartilage repair.

It is known from previous studies that scaffold structure and properties like porosity, pore size, fiber thickness, topography, and scaffold stiffness directly influence cell behavior and colonization (reviewed by Lawrence and Madihally³⁶). The cells in the Chondro-Gide scaffold attained a fibroblast-like morphology and showed progressive penetration throughout the collagen network. This has also been shown by Nuernberger et al.³⁷, where the dense network of collagen fibers supported a flattened cell shape of chondrocytes. In the more fibrous Alpha Chondro Shield, the cells showed a mixed morphology of both round and elongated cells. These differences in cell morphology in similar types of cell scaffolds have been observed by Schlegel et al.³⁸ in 2008 using chondrocytes. The chondrocytes developed a fibroblast like morphology when seeded onto a type I/type III collagen scaffold, whereas the chondrocytes showed a mix of round and elongated morphologies on a scaffold composed of hyaluronic acid.³⁸ Adoption of a spherical morphology by MSCs and chondrocytes in 3-dimensional culture can influence their synthesis of cartilage-specific ECM components,³⁹⁻⁴¹ although it is unclear if cell shape is a critical factor in influencing chondrocyte differentiation.⁴² In this study, the presence of round-shaped MSCs in Alpha Chondro Shield was not associated with increased chondrogenic differentiation compared with less rounded cell morphologies seen in Chondro-Gide, which proved to be a superior scaffold for chondrogenic differentiation.

We observed increased collagen type II and GAG deposition in the ECM of BM MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide cultures compared with AT MSC-seeded Chondro-Gide cultures. This indicates that BM may be a better source of MSCs for cartilage repair than AT. However, a potential weakness of this study was that the AT MSCs were derived from infrapatellar fat pad, which, although of use as an intraoperative cell source in the treatment of cartilage defects may be an inferior donor tissue, because cells from the damaged or diseased articular environment can possess pro-inflammatory characteristics.⁴³ Ideally, AT MSCs from peripheral fat sources and BM obtained from the same donor should have been compared to better establish the potential of these cells for chondrogenesis in autologous cell therapy for cartilage repair. In addition, TGF-B1 was used as an inducer for chondrogenic differentiation of MSCs from both cell sources, which may not be ideal for inducing chondrogenic differentiation in AT MSCs. For example, some studies have previously reported that TGFβ1 is not as efficient at inducing chondrogenic differentiation of AT MSCs as bone morphogenetic protein 6.44,45 Moreover, the faster degradation rate of Alpha Chondro Shield makes it difficult to undertake long-term cultures in order to compare chondrogenic differentiation of BM MSCs and AT MSCs. Future *in vitro* studies to examine chondrogenesis with this scaffold should focus on improving culture conditions for longer term analysis, as well as using advanced and effective cell-seeding procedures.

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated that BM MSCs and AT MSCs undergo chondrogenic differentiation *in vitro* in cell scaffolds that have been used clinically for cartilage repair. On the basis of cell growth and ECM deposition, the use of BM MSCs with Chondro-Gide is favored. However, further study is required to test the potential of these different cell types and scaffolds for cartilage repair *in vivo*.

Acknowledgments and Funding

The authors thank the patients who consented for their tissue to be used for research purposes and the biomedical scientists at the Department of Musculoskeletal Pathology of the Royal Orthopaedic Hospital, Birmingham, for their assistance in preparing samples for histology. We are grateful to the British Council and the Indian Government for funding (UKIERI award).

Authors' Note

All the work presented was conducted at the School of Life and Health Sciences at Aston University and the Department of Musculoskeletal Pathology, Royal Orthopaedic Hospital, Birmingham, UK.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the national review body (12/EE/0136 and 06/Q2601/9).

References

- Kon E, Filardo G, Roffi A, Andriolo L, Marcacci M. New trends for knee cartilage regeneration: from cell-free scaffolds to mesenchymal stem cells. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med. 2012;5(3):236-43.
- Brittberg M, Lindahl A, Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson O, Peterson L. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med. 1994;331(14):889-95.
- Matricali GA, Dereymaeker GP, Luyten FP. Donor site morbidity after articular cartilage repair procedures: a review. Acta Orthop Belg. 2010;76(5):669-74.
- 4. Mitchell N, Shepard N. The resurfacing of adult rabbit articular cartilage by multiple perforations through the subchondral bone. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1976;58(2):230-3.
- Pittenger MF. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science. 1999;284(5411):143-7.
- Qu C, Zhang G, Zhang L, Yang G. Osteogenic and adipogenic potential of porcine adipose mesenchymal stem cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2007;43(2):95-100.

- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, et al. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng. 2001;7(2):211-28.
- Aust L, Devlin B, Foster SJ, Halvorsen YDC, Hicok K, du Laney T, *et al.* Yield of human adipose-derived adult stem cells from liposuction aspirates. Cytotherapy. 2004;6(1):7-14.
- Strem BM, Hicok KC, Zhu M, Wulur I, Alfonso Z, Schreiber RE, *et al.* Multipotential differentiation of adipose tissuederived stem cells. Keio J Med. 2005;54(3):132-41.
- Im G-I, Shin Y-W, Lee K-B. Do adipose tissue–derived mesenchymal stem cells have the same osteogenic and chondrogenic potential as bone marrow–derived cells? Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2005;13(10):845-53.
- Lee CS, Burnsed OA, Raghuram V, Kalisvaart J, Boyan BD, Schwartz Z. Adipose stem cells can secrete angiogenic factors that inhibit hyaline cartilage regeneration. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012;3(4):35.
- Danišovič Ľ, Lesný P, Havlas V, Teyssler P, Syrová Z, Kopáni M, *et al.* Chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Appl Biomed. 2007;5:139-50.
- Erickson GR, Gimble JM, Franklin DM, Rice HE, Awad H, Guilak F. Chondrogenic potential of adipose tissue-derived stromal cells in vitro and in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002;290(2):763-9.
- Jakobsen RB, Shahdadfar A, Reinholt FP, Brinchmann JE. Chondrogenesis in a hyaluronic acid scaffold: comparison between chondrocytes and MSC from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2010;18(10):1407-16.
- Gigante A, Bevilacqua C, Ricevuto A, Mattioli-Belmonte M, Greco F. Membrane-seeded autologous chondrocytes: cell viability and characterization at surgery. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2007;15(1):88-92.
- 16. Haddo O, Mahroof S, Higgs D, David L, Pringle J, Bayliss M, *et al*. The use of chondrogide membrane in autologous chondrocyte implantation. Knee. 2004;11(1):51-5.
- Anders S, Volz M, Frick H, Gellissen J. A randomized, controlled trial comparing autologous matrix-induced chondrogenesis (AMIC®) to microfracture: analysis of 1- and 2-year follow-up data of 2 centers. Open Orthop J. 2013;7:133-43.
- Rodbell M. Metabolism of isolated fat cells: I. Effects of hormones on glucose metabolism and lipolysis. J Biol Chem. 1964;239:375-80.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, *et al.* Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(4):315-7.
- Farndale RW, Buttle DJ, Barrett AJ. Improved quantitation and discrimination of sulphated glycosaminoglycans by use of dimethylmethylene blue. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1986;883(2):173-7.
- Jokinen J, Dadu E, Nykvist P, Käpylä J, White DJ, Ivaska J, *et al*. Integrin-mediated cell adhesion to type I collagen fibrils. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(30):31956-63.
- 22. Kim TG, Park TG. Biomimicking extracellular matrix: cell adhesive RGD peptide modified electrospun poly(D,I-lactic-

co-glycolic acid) nanofiber mesh. Tissue Eng. 2006;12(2):221-33.

- Huang X, Zauscher S, Klitzman B, Truskey GA, Reichert WM, Kenan DJ, *et al.* Peptide interfacial biomaterials improve endothelial cell adhesion and spreading on synthetic polyglycolic acid materials. Ann Biomed Eng. 2010;38(6):1965-76.
- Freed LE, Marquis JC, Nohria A, Emmanual J, Mikos AG, Langer R. Neocartilage formation in vitro and in vivo using cells cultured on synthetic biodegradable polymers. J Biomed Mater Res. 1993;27(1):11-23.
- Freed LE, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Biron RJ, Eagles DB, Lesnoy DC, Barlow SK, *et al.* Biodegradable polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biotechnology (N Y). 1994;12(7):689-93.
- Vunjak-Novakovic G, Obradovic B, Martin I, Bursac PM, Langer R, Freed LE. Dynamic cell seeding of polymer scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. Biotechnol Prog. 1998;14(2):193-202.
- Rampichová M, Kostáková E, Filová E, Prosecká E, Plencner M, Ocheretná L, *et al.* Non-woven PGA/PVA fibrous mesh as an appropriate scaffold for chondrocyte proliferation. Physiol Res. 2010;59:773-81.
- Behrens P, Bitter T, Kurz B, Russlies M. Matrix-associated autologous chondrocyte transplantation/implantation (MACT/MACI)—5-year follow-up. Knee. 2006;13(3):194-202.
- Steinwachs M, Peterson L, Bobic V, Verdonk P, Niemeyer P. Cell-seeded collagen matrix-supported autologous chondrocyte transplantation (ACT-CS): a consensus statement on surgical technique. Cartilage. 2012;3(1):5-12.
- Radisic M, Euloth M, Yang L, Langer R, Freed LE, Vunjak-Novakovic G. High-density seeding of myocyte cells for cardiac tissue engineering. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2003;82(4):403-14.
- Strioga M, Viswanathan S, Darinskas A, Slaby O, Michalek J. Same or not the same? Comparison of adipose tissue-derived versus bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem and stromal cells. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21(14):2724-52.
- 32. Takada Y, Elices MJ, Crouse C, Hemler ME. The primary structure of the α^4 subunit of VLA-4: homology to other integrins and a possible cell-cell adhesion function. EMBO J. 1989;8(5):1361-8.
- Wayner EA, Garcia-Pardo A, Humphries MJ, McDonald JA, Carter WG. Identification and characterization of the T lymphocyte adhesion receptor for an alternative cell attachment domain (CS-1) in plasma fibronectin. J Cell Biol. 1989;109(3):1321-30.
- Swisher JW, Rannels DE. Assembly of exogenous fibronectin into type II cell extracellular matrix. Am J Physiol. 1997;272(5 Pt 1):L908-15.
- Mosher DF, Fogerty FJ, Chernousov MA, Barry EL. Assembly of fibronectin into extracellular matrix. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1991;614:167-80.
- Lawrence BJ, Madihally SV. Cell colonization in degradable 3D porous matrices. Cell Adh Migr. 2008;2(1):9-16.
- Nuernberger S, Cyran N, Albrecht C, Redl H, Vécsei V, Marlovits S. The influence of scaffold architecture on chondrocyte distribution and behavior in matrix-associated chondrocyte transplantation grafts. Biomaterials. 2011;32(4):1032-40.

263

- Schlegel W, Nürnberger S, Hombauer M, Albrecht C, Vécsei V, Marlovits S. Scaffold-dependent differentiation of human articular chondrocytes. Int J Mol Med. 2008;22(5):691-9.
- Von der Mark K, Gauss V, von der Mark H, Müller P. Relationship between cell shape and type of collagen synthesised as chondrocytes lose their cartilage phenotype in culture. Nature. 1977;267(5611):531-2.
- Williams CG, Kim TK, Taboas A, Malik A, Manson P, Elisseeff J. In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a photopolymerizing hydrogel. Tissue Eng. 2003;9:679-88.
- 41. Benya PD, Shaffer JD. Dedifferentiated chondrocytes reexpress the differentiated collagen phenotype when cultured in agarose gels. Cell. 1982;30(1):215-24.
- 42. Mallein-Gerin F, Ruggiero F, Garrone R. Proteoglycan core protein and type II collagen gene expressions are not corre-

lated with cell shape changes during low density chondrocyte cultures. Differentiation. 1990;43:204-11.

- 43. Klein-Wieringa IR, Kloppenburg M, Bastiaansen-Jenniskens YM, Yusuf E, Kwekkeboom JC, El-Bannoudi H, *et al.* The infrapatellar fat pad of patients with osteoarthritis has an inflammatory phenotype. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(5): 851-7.
- 44. Hennig T, Lorenz H, Thiel A, Goetzke K, Dickhut A, Geiger F, *et al.* Reduced chondrogenic potential of adipose tissue derived stromal cells correlates with an altered TGFβ receptor and BMP profile and is overcome by BMP-6. J Cell Physiol. 2007;211:682-91.
- 45. Estes BT, Wu AW, Guilak F. Potent induction of chondrocytic differentiation of human adipose-derived adult stem cells by bone morphogenetic protein 6. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(4):1222-32.